
SANParks
Annual Report

2015/16





South African National Parks Annual Report 2015/162 2

Table of Contents

List of Acronyms 3

1. PART A: GENERAL INFORMATION 5

1.1 About SANParks 6

1.2 Minister’s Foreword 8

1.3 Chairperson’s Report 10

1.4 Chief Executive Officers Report 12

1.5 Statement of responsibility and confirmation of the accuracy of the annual report 14

1.6 Organisational Structure 17

1.7  SANParks Board Members and Executive Management 18

2. PART B:  PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 20

2.1 Auditor General’s Report on premeditated objective 20

2.2 Situation analysis 23

2.3 Strategic outcome oriented goals 24

2.4 Performance against Predetermined Objectives 25

2.5 Conservation Services Report 52

2.6 Tourism Development and Marketing Report 56

2.7 Corporate Services Report 76

2.8 Socio-Economic Development Report 83

2.9 Operations Report 94

3.  PART C: CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 114

3.1 Corporate Governance Report 114

3.2 Audit and Risk Committee Report 117

4. PART D: HUMAN CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 120

5. PART E: ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 133



South African National Parks Annual Report 2015/16 3

List of Acronyms 
AGSA  – Auditor-General of South Africa

AVE  – Advertising Value Equivalent

BBBEE – Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment 

CAPS – Curriculum and Assessment Policy Statement

CCMA – Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration

CEO – Chief Executive Officer

CITES – Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species

CSI – Corporate Social Investment

DEA – Department of Environmental Affairs

EE – Employment Equity

ENSO – El Niño-Southern Oscillation

EPWP – Expanded Public Works Programmes

  ExCo – Executive Committee

FMPPI – Framework for Managing Programme Performance Information

FTE – Full Time Equivalent

GRAP – Generally Recognised Accounting Practise

GRNP – Garden Route National Park

ICT – Information and Communications Technology

IDP – Infrastructure Development Programme

IPZ – Intensive Protection Zone

KiP – Kids in Parks

KNP – Kruger National Park



South African National Parks Annual Report 2015/164

PA
RT A: GENERAL INFORMATION

LEDET – Limpopo Economic Development, Environment and Tourism

METT – Management Effectiveness Tracking Tool

MPA – Marine Protected Area

MTEF – Medium Term Expenditure Framework

MTPA  – Mpumalanga Tourism and Parks Agency

NDP – National Development Plan

NDT  – National Department of Tourism

OSV – Open Safari Vehicle

PFMA – Public Finance Management Act

PPP  – Public Private Partnership

RPL  – Recognition of Prior Learning

SADC  – Southern African Development Community

SAHRA – South African Heritage Resources Agency

SANBI – South African National Biodiversity Institute

SANParks  – South African National Parks

SANPW – South African National Parks Week

SAPS – South African Police Services

SHR  – SANParks Honorary Rangers

SMME – Small, Medium and Micro Enterprise

SOE – State Owned Entity

SPfC – Strategic Plan for Commercialisation

TMNP – Table Mountain National Park

UNESCO  – United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation



 Golden Gate Highlands National Park

PA
RT A: GENERAL INFORMATION



South African National Parks Annual Report 2015/166

Part A: General Information

1.1 About SANParks

South African National Parks (SANParks) manages a system of 21 national 
parks in seven of the nine provinces of South Africa with a total area of just 
over 4 million hectares comprising 67% of the protected areas under state 
management.  In the 22 years since the advent of democracy on 27 April, 
1994 SANParks has gone from strength to strength to the point today where 
SANParks is recognised as a world leader in conservation and protected area 
management. This is evident within the national conservation discourse, 
and at international conferences where SANParks is often used as a point of 
reference in relation to best practice in the management and development 
of protected areas.

The last 22 years have seen a massive expansion and development of the 
national park system. During this period seven new national parks have been 
established viz: Agulhas National Park, Camdeboo National Park, Garden Route 
National Park, Mapungubwe National Park, Mokala National Park, Namaqua 
National Park and Table Mountain National Park. The land under protection in 
the national park system has been expanded by over 700 000 hectares, with 
much of this being in the under conserved areas such as the Succulent Karoo 
and Fynbos biomes.

Much of this expansion programme has been geared towards the anticipation 
of the impacts of climate change where an altitudinal and biome range 
has been built into the expansion of individual parks in order to allow for 
species migration across the landscape. Parks such as the Addo Elephant and 
Namaqua National Parks have seen unprecedented growth from the coast to 
the mountain ranges with the Addo Elephant National Park now covering five 
different biomes and over 162 000 hectares.  The Garden Route National Park 
comprises the originally proclaimed Tsitsikamma and Wilderness National 
Parks, the Knysna Lake Area with the addition of the indigenous forests and 
mountain catchment areas in a mosaic of protected areas with linkages in the 
landscape through a variety of stewardship arrangements.  The Garden Route 
National Park among others is a prime example of a 21st Century National 
Park managed by a 21st Century organisation.

SANParks is also the biggest tourism product owner in the country with a 
total of 6 787 formal beds and 8 643 camping beds throughout the national 
parks. In addition there are 472 beds in the concession lodges in the Kruger 
National Park and in other parks which have been a part of the SANParks 
commercialisation programme. The national park system thus offers a wide 
diversity of accommodation facilities and eco-tourism experiences and is one 
of the cornerstones of the South African tourism economy.

In the period since the year 2000 government has invested R2,36 billion in the 
upgrade and development of both tourism and conservation infrastructure 
in the national parks. It needs to be recognised that SANParks is managing an 
infrastructure plant of close to R10 billion including roads, fences, buildings 
and bulk services. 

The SANParks infrastructure programme was initially funded through 
labour intensive methods through the then Poverty Relief Programme and 
subsequently through an annual Treasury allocation for the upgrading of 
old infrastructure and the development of new infrastructure, known as 
the Infrastructure Development Programme (IDP). Government has made a 
significant capital injection into the upgrading of this infrastructure, at the 
same time as making an investment in the development of new infrastructure 
in order to facilitate the successful implementation of the park expansion and 
product development programme. Since 2000 these programmes have seen 
the construction of 24 new small rest camps, adding 724 new beds to the 
SANParks inventory. There has also been a major upgrade of existing tourism 
accommodation, comprising 1 404 beds, mainly in the Kruger National Park. 
There has, in addition, been considerable investment in new and upgraded 
bulk infrastructure, fences, roads and staff accommodation over the same 
period. With respect to the latter, there have been 1 043 new or upgraded 
staff units developed in order to address backlogs in this regard.

The past 22 years therefore represent the Golden Years in terms of the 
expansion and development of the country’s national park system. There has 
not been another period in the conservation history of South Africa to parallel 
this growth of and investment in the national park system.

It should be noted that the past 22 years has seen not only this expansion 
in the number and size of our national parks, but has also seen a significant 
turnaround in the relationship of national parks to external stakeholders, and 
to the communities that surround the national parks in particular. It should be 
recognised that in the previous dispensation the national parks were islands 
of exclusion, and there was no sense of ownership on the part of adjacent 
communities. Major progress has been made in altering this state of affairs.

One of the major interventions in supporting livelihoods in communities 
adjacent to the national parks has been through the implementation of 
Government’s Expanded Public Works Programmes (EPWP). A total of R2,92 
billion has been spent since the year 2000, inclusive of the early years of the 
Poverty Relief Programmes. Since inception in the national parks the EPWP 
programmes have employed 99 524 people, comprising 42 476 Full Time 
Equivalents (FTEs) of employment. Significant support has been given to the 
development of local enterprises with 4 853 SMMEs supported through these 
programmes and having been paid R1,1 billion in the period since 2000.
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Through the Working for Water and other related environmental programmes 
there has been a significant contribution to biodiversity rehabilitation and 
restoration with initial clearing of 395 399 hectares and 2 157 266 follow 
up hectares achieved in the period since 2000. SANParks thus remains one 
of the lead agencies of government for the implementation of the EPWP 
programmes.

Apart from the EPWP programmes there have been a range of interventions 
in order to make a greater contribution to the socio-economic development 
of neighbouring communities. Given the history of colonial and apartheid 
dispossession and exclusion, it is recognised that the relationship between 
national parks and neighbouring communities in a democratic dispensation 
requires a quantum shift in order to ensure that there is a developing sense 
of ownership and buy in on the part of neighbouring communities. SANParks 
manages the biggest environmental education programme in the country 
with over 200 000 learners per year going through a range of programmes, 
with most of these being from previously excluded communities. During 
SA National Parks Week over 50 000 people from previously excluded 
communities enter the parks in order to obtain an exposure to the parks in 
their vicinity. 

In order to set up a structured relationship with all stakeholders around national 
parks, Park Forums have been established, giving communities and other 
stakeholders a consultative platform in the management and development 
of national parks. SANParks is also in a co-management relationship in 
respect of three community contractual parks viz Richtersveld and Kgalagadi 
Transfrontier Parks and the Makuleke section of the Kruger National Park. 

What further characterises SANParks in the new dispensation is that the 
institution has been stable and has experienced the highest levels of 
governance in the 22 years since the democratic transition. This is reflected 
in the fact that SANParks has achieved unqualified audits in every year since 
1994, thus ensuring that this institution is one in which all sectors of the South 
African public can have confidence. 

Legal and Constitutional Mandate

SANParks was initially established in terms of the now repealed National 
Parks Act, 57 of 1976 and continues to exist in terms of the National 
Environmental Management: Protected Areas Act, 57 of 2003; with the 
mandate to conserve, protect, control, and manage national parks and 
other defined protected areas and their biological diversity (Biodiversity). 
As a public entity, SANParks is also governed by the Public Finance 
Management Act, Act 1 of 1999 (as amended by Act 29 of 1999), and it 

is listed as a Schedule 3 Part A: 25, public entity. 

Mandate

Delivery of the conservation mandate by excelling in the management 
of a national park system.

Vision

A sustainable National Park System connecting society.

Mission

To develop, expand, manage and promote a system of sustainable 
national parks that represents biodiversity and heritage assets, through 
innovation and best practise for the just and equitable benefit of current 

and future generation.
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Mrs B E E Molewa
I am pleased to present the 2015/16 Annual Report of the South African 
National Parks (SANParks), a venerable national institution responsible for 4 

million hectares of protected land in 21 national parks.

SANParks is the leading conservation authority in all national parks around 
the country. Since democracy in 1994, SANParks has promoted conservation 
as a contributor to the social and economic development of South Africa, 
and rural areas in particular, where most national parks are located.

During the 2015/16 financial year SANParks has managed to maintain its 
reputation as one of the world’s leading conservation agencies whilst at the 
same time driving government’s developmental agenda.

Our national parks continues to unleash its potential to play a significant 
role in promoting social cohesion and nation building, and it is particularly 
pleasing that the number of  visitors to our national parks is on the rise, 
attracted through initiatives such as the annual National Parks Week.

In the year under review, the number of foreign visitors and citizens to our 
national parks stood at 5,9 million, with the rate of unit occupancy reaching 
an average rate of 73,4 for 2015/16.

Conservation can only be meaningful if our communities have an interest 
and stake in our national parks – and that their unique culture and history is 
adequately captured in the narrative that emanates from our parks.

It is encouraging to note, therefore, that in the year under review, the 
Thulamela site in the northern Kruger National Park was restored and 
upgraded, and it’s linkages to Mapungubwe strengthened.

In May 2016, at a function held in Skukuza, six claimant communities signed 
off phase one of the resolution of the Kruger National Parks land claim. The 
phase one settlement process provides for payments to households for loss 
of improvements and a base fund set per claimant community in lieu of the 
historical value of the land. Phase two will include a beneficiation package 
for the communities that will be developed within 18 months and agreed to 
by all concerned stakeholders.

SANParks continues to implement socio-economic programmes that uplift 
and improve the living conditions of communities adjacent to national parks, 
primarily through government’s Expanded Public Works Programme (EPWP).

The total number of Full Time Equivalents (FTEs) has increased from 5 686 
during the 2014/15 financial year to a total of 6 364 during 2015/16 financial 

1.2 Minister’s Foreword
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year. These FTEs were created through a range of programmes, thus 
ensuring support for livelihoods in communities around the national parks 
and further afield.

The Department of Environmental Affairs has taken a number of bold 
steps to promote the growth and transformation of the Wildlife Economy 
in South Africa.

SANParks has initiated a Wildlife Economy Transformation Programme, 
and counts among its early successes a donation in September 2015 of 
15 eland, 5 giraffe and 15 ostriches to the Khomani San community south 
of the Kgalagadi Transfrontier Park. More animals will be donated to the 
Khomani San community during the course of the next two years.

At the National Biodiversity Economy Indaba held in Durban in October 
2015, SANParks pledged to donate at least 500 animals, worth more than 
R10m, to communities over a three-year period.

During 2015/2016 planning processes were initiated with a number of 
communities.

Among the beneficiaries are the Nkambeni and Bevhula/Gidjana 
communities who are being supported to implement Wildlife Economy 
projects through 2016 and 2017. This is being made possible through 
funding of R10m from the Department’s Environmental Protection and 
Infrastructure Programme (EPIP).

Wildlife crime, and rhino poaching in particular, remains a challenge, 
especially in the Kruger National Park (KNP).

It is encouraging to note that the rate of rhino poaching is now reducing in 
the Park. During the 2015/16 financial year the number of rhino poached in 
the Kruger National Park declined by 14% in comparison with the number 
for 2014/15. This was despite an increase in the number of incursions and 
other poaching related activities.

This is testimony to the commitment and dedication of the women and 
men of the SANParks Ranger Corps, working with our partners in the private 
sector,  NGO community and international donor community, who are 
working tirelessly to safeguard our rhino for current and future generations.

The decline in the rate of rhino poaching in the Kruger National Park, and 
the fact that no rhino were poached in any of our other national parks 
during the year under review is cause for great optimism.

SANParks continues to make impressive progress in meeting its mandate, 

and driving the national and global sustainable development agenda. I am 
pleased to present this Annual Report, confident that SANParks remains an 
organisation in which all South Africans can take great pride.

This 2015/16 Annual Report complies with all statutory reporting 
requirements of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) as well as 
National Treasury Regulations

Mrs B E E Molewa, MP

Minister of Environmental Affairs
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Ms Joanne Yawitch
During the 2015/16 financial year, the SANParks Board has focused on 
establishing the structures and processes that ensure good governance is 
promoted and maintained. We have also focused on ensuring the organisation 

delivers on the targets set in the Annual Performance Plan. We are pleased 
to report that SANParks has performed well in its key functional areas of 
conservation, tourism and socio-economic development while providing an 
enabling environment for this performance through enhancing capacity and 
support systems in the financial and human capital management functions.

SANParks performs its functions within Government’s planning framework, 
with reference in particular to the objectives of the National Development 
Plan and the Nine Point Plan for Growing the Economy. While SANParks’ 
legislative framework defines its functions largely within the environmental 
sector it is a major role player in the national tourism economy. In addition, 
national parks have a key role to play in supporting local economies in the 
largely rural areas where the parks are located. 

In recognition of the national parks’ potential for supporting job creation 
and local economic development, the Board has decided that inclusive 
socio-economic development should be one of the three core pillars of the 
organisation along with conservation and tourism. This strategic decision 
represents a paradigm shift within SANParks in that socio-economic benefits 
to communities adjacent to the national parks had hitherto been viewed 
as a by-product of the conservation and tourism functions rather than as 
an end in itself. Within the new strategic approach SANParks is re-gearing 
itself to be a key role player in the rural development space. We are pleased 
that SANParks management and staff have embraced this approach and 
are approaching the planning and implementation of the socio-economic 
development programme with energy and vigour. 

While working to support socio-economic development there is no 
compromise in performing the core conservation and tourism functions. 
For the first time since the escalation of rhino poaching began several years 
ago, the poaching rate in Kruger National Park for the 2015/16 financial year 
has declined in comparison with the prior financial year. This is extremely 
encouraging given an increase in the number of incursions, arrests and 
other poaching related activities. On behalf of the Board I would like to thank 
the rangers and others who have been fighting this relentless battle for a 
number of years and to encourage them to continue with the objective of 
achieving further successes in this regard.

In respect of the tourism function, in the earlier part of the financial year 
statistics indicated a downturn in visitors to parks, and specifically international 

1.3 Chairperson’s Report
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visitors. There was, however, a significant recovery in the second half of 
the year and we ended the year with a year on year increase in all tourism 
performance indicators, and with a 14,7% increase in operating tourism 
revenue. This was achieved despite the difficulties faced in terms of both 
the international and domestic economic outlook.

The audit for the 2015/16 financial year has once again produced an 
unqualified audit, with the auditors expressing the view that the quality 
and accuracy of the financial statements produced by SANParks are 
such as to be able to provide a model for other public entities. We wish 
to extend our thanks to all those involved and to make a commitment 
to the public at large that the Board of SANParks will continue to strive 
for the highest levels of governance and accountability.

I would like to thank my fellow Board members for the time and dedication 
that has been shown in ensuring that the Board performs its oversight 
functions with excellence. I would like to thank the Board Committees 
in particular for the care and diligence with which they have dealt with 
the substantial workload. The three committees of the Board (Audit and 
Risk; Conservation, Tourism and Socio-Economic Development; Human 
Capital Development) have functioned effectively against an agreed 
Work Plan in a structured and effective way in the exercise of their duties.

Finally, on behalf of the Board I would like to express my gratitude to 
the management and staff of SANParks for the commitment with which 
they have worked to maintain the standing of SANParks as one of the 
world’s leading institutions for protected area management.

Ms Joanne Yawitch

Chairperson of the Board

SANParks
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Mr Fundisile Mketeni
The conservation of biodiversity through the development and 
management of national parks is SANParks’ primary mandate as defined 
in the National Environmental Management: Protected Areas Act, No 57 

of 2003, and is executed through the management of 21 national parks in 
seven provinces of South Africa. 

This conservation mandate is funded through a combination of government 
grants and self-generated funds, with the latter comprising 80% of our 
operating budget and being largely derived from the various tourism 
businesses located in the parks. 

Over the years, SANParks has evolved to play a significant role in the South 
African tourism sector, with tourism activity in turn becoming a major revenue 
stream for the organisation. To this end, the performance of this business side 
of the organisation is crucial both to the sustainability of SANParks and its 
ability to fulfil its corporate citizenship obligations.

The financial year started within a sluggish tourism performance nationally 
with overall declines in international and domestic tourism activity. SANParks 
as with other operators in the public and private tourism sectors felt the 
brunt of this diminished activity, which was marked by a decline in visitor 
numbers and revenue in the first three quarters of the year. However, some 
positive macroeconomic and socio-political shifts that evolved as the year 
progressed provided a much needed reprieve to our tourism business and 
enabled full recovery in the fourth quarter allowing us to not only achieve, 
but surpass our planned tourism and revenue targets for the year. 

We welcomed close to 6 million guests to our parks, which is a 6% increase 
compared to the 2014/15 financial year. Concomitantly we witnessed an 
impressive increase in our operating tourism revenue which grew by 14,7% 
in 2015/16 in comparison to the prior financial year. Overall this financial 
year SANParks’ performance has been exceptional and I am proud to report 
that operating tourism revenue reached a figure of R1,29 billion, which was 
R93,8 million greater than budget. All components of our operating tourism 
revenue saw good growth in the year under review with concession fee 
income growing by 14%, accommodation income by 12% and concession 
fees by 21%.

Maximising revenue continues to be a major thrust in SANParks’ operations, 
and as such, the construction, refurbishment and opening of revenue 
generating tourism products is central to our success. In this year, a 
combined 32 additional beds were added to our inventory in two parks, 
namely, the Kruger National Park and Kgalagadi Transfrontier Park. In addition 
we reopened the Afsaal Picnic Spot in the Kruger National Park as a public-
private partnership.

1.4 Chief Executive Officer’s Report
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The SANParks vision of ‘connecting society’ is the cornerstone of our 
engagements with our neighbouring communities and South African 
society at large. In this regard the popularity and impact of the SA National 
Parks Week and various Environmental Education initiatives continues to 
grow. In this financial year 267 935 people were granted free access to our 
national parks.  

SANParks fundamentally has an obligation to positively impact on the 
standards of living of the mainly rural communities adjacent to the national 
parks by providing business and employment opportunities. Historically 
our efforts in this regard have lain within diverse portfolios and at times 
this approach has inadvertently hidden the significance of the initiatives 
embarked on. In 2015 a strategic decision was taken by the Board of 
SANParks to make socio-economic development one of the three core 
pillars of the organisation along with conservation and tourism. In line 
with the decision of the Board to make socio-economic development one 
of the three core pillars of SANParks, the Socio-Economic Development 
Division was established in the third quarter to drive and integrate the 
implementation of a number of socio-economic development functions 
including the implementation of EPWP programmes, social legacy projects, 
resolution of land claims, and the implementation of Green and Blue 
Economy projects incorporating the Wildlife Economy programme. 

The implementation by SANParks of government’s EPWP continues to 
make a major contribution towards employment creation in the rural 
areas around the national parks. In 2015/16 a total of 23 298 people from 
359 communities adjacent to the national parks were employed in one 
or other of a range of EPWP programmes. This equates to a total of 6 364 
Full Time Equivalents (FTEs) of employment, which is greater than the 
total number of full time employees in SANParks. In addition 980 SMMEs 
were supported through being contracted to implement a number of the 
programmes, with a total of R213 million having been paid to these SMMEs 
in the course of the financial year. In addition legacy projects consisting 
of science laboratories were built and handed over to communities; two 
in the communities bordering the Kruger National Park, as well as one in 
Golden Gate and Mountain Zebra communities respectively. 

As the El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO) cycle swathed the southern 
hemisphere, it brought in its wake an epic drought that threatened to 
wreak havoc to the survival of game in our parks. This required the urgent 
execution of emergency plans to mitigate the severity of this natural 
phenomenon. Part of the strategy entailed the expediting of game sales 
allowing SANParks to achieve its sales targets whist in parallel alleviating 
the pressures on the environment.

Wildlife crime continues to be SANParks’ millstone and will most likely 
continue to be for the foreseeable future. In this regard we are seeing a 

disconcerting trend in the growth of elephant poaching, although the 
numbers remain relatively low. Rhino poaching on the other hand seems 
to be waning as the intensification and refinement of our law enforcement 
strategy begins to yield significant results. We can proudly state that rhino 
poaching in the Kruger National Park is stabilising for the first time in a 
decade. The financial year 2015/16 saw a 14% reduction in the number 
of rhino mortalities from 891 in the previous 2014/15 year to 767 in this 
reporting year, with a corollary of a significant increase in poacher arrests 
and firearm recovery. It is also with a great measure of relief that I report 
that there were no recorded rhino mortalities in the other six rhino parks.

The sustainability of our national parks system is contingent on sound, 
credible and peer reviewed scientific research. A total of 266 active research 
projects were registered across the three research nodes of SANParks; 
76% of these are rated essential or important to address key SANParks 
knowledge needs.  In addition an accumulative total of 53 peer-reviewed 
research publications authored and co-authored by SANParks researchers 
were published in various national and international journals.

SANParks expansion programme of acquiring underrepresented vegetation 
types showed a measure of success as an additional 3 791 ha of the Upper 
Karoo and Kimberly Thornveld was added to the national parks system in 
the Mokala National Park. It is also pleasing to announce that our average 
score for the Management Effectiveness Tracking Tool (METT) was 71% 
against a target of 70% for all the parks which were assessed during this 
reporting period. 

Reputation management is a strategic imperative in SANParks. We regard 
reputation as an asset and therefore it is heartening to note that on the 
media front our presence not only continues to grow each year but 
remains positive. Our rating remains at 99% positive/neutral as rated by 
Newsclip Media Monitoring Service, indicating that our standing in the 
greater society and communities remains at acceptably high levels.

In conclusion it should be stated that SANParks functions as a learning 
organisation and that we will continue to evaluate and assess our 
performance in an endeavour to be able to maintain a culture of service 
excellence in the management of our national parks for the benefit of 
current and future generations.

Mr Fundisile Mketeni

CEO SANParks
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1.5	 Statement	of	responsibility	and	confirmation	of	the	accuracy	of	the	annual	report

The  Board is responsible and accountable for the integrity of the Financial Statements of the organisation and the objectivity of other information presented 
in the Annual Report. 

To the best of the Boards’ knowledge and belief, we confirm the following:

•	 All information and amounts disclosed in this Annual Report are consistent with the Annual Financial Statements audited by the AGSA. The report is 
complete, accurate and free of omissions. 

•	 The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines as issued by National Treasury and the Annual Financial Statements were 
prepared in accordance with the PFMA, and Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP).

•	 The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the Financial Statements. The Board, after having reviewed management’s assessment of 
SANParks ability to operate as a going concern, has a reasonable expectation that the organisation will have adequate resources to continue its operations 
as a going concern for the foreseeable future.

•	 Management and employees operated within a framework requiring compliance with all applicable laws and maintenance of the highest integrity in 
the conduct of all aspects of the business, except where indicated otherwise in the Annual Report.

The AGSA is responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the Annual Financial Statements of SANParks.

The Board is well versed of its responsibilities as stipulated in the PFMA. Those responsibilities include, but are not limited to the following:

•	 Establishing and maintaining an effective, efficient and transparent system of financial, risk management and internal controls. 

•	 Managing, including the safe-guarding of assets and for the management of the revenue, expenditure and liabilities of SANParks. 

•	 Taking effective and appropriate steps to prevent irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure, losses resulting from criminal conduct, and expenditure 
not complying with the operational policies of SANParks.

•	 Taking effective and appropriate disciplinary steps against any employee(s) of SANParks who contravenes or fails to comply with a provision of the PFMA; 
or commits an act which undermines the financial management and internal control system of SANParks; or makes or permits an irregular expenditure 
or a fruitless and wasteful expenditure to be incurred.

•	 Keeping full and proper records of the financial affairs of SANParks.

•	 Preparation of financial statements for each financial year, in accordance with GRAP.

In the Board’s opinion, the Annual Report and Financial Statements fairly presents in all material respects, the state of affairs of SANParks, its business, its 
financial results, its performance against predetermined objectives for the year ended 31 March 2016 and its financial position as at 31 March 2016.

Mr F Mketeni

Chief Executive Officer

Ms J Yawitch

Chairperson

Pretoria

31 July 2016



South African National Parks Annual Report 2015/16 15

Corporate values

SANParks has adopted 11 corporate values, which serve as guiding principles around which all employee behaviour and actions are governed and shaped. 

These corporate values are listed below: 

Leadership We shall demonstrate leadership in all we do

Environmental Ethics We shall embrace and and be guided by environmental ethics in all we do

Transformation We shall promote transformation within and  outside of the organisation

Scientific and Service Excellence We shall strive for scientific and service excellence at all times

Professionalism We shall act with professionalism at all times

Initiative and Innovation We shall adopt and encourage initiative and innovation by all

Equity and Justice We shall treat all our stakeholders with equity and justice

Discipline We shall exercise discipline at all times

Respect We shall show respect to all

Honesty We shall act with honesty and integrity

Transparency and Open Communication We shall strive for transparency and open communication at all times

Parks Location & Operations

The operational component of SANParks is delivered through the current 21 national parks – these being organised under two divisions namely, KNP and the 
Parks Division (Note: Groenkloof and Graspan/Vaalbos are declared national parks in legislation but are not operationally functional national parks).  
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1. Addo Elephant National Park 2. Agulhas National Park 3. Augrabies Falls National Park 4. Bontebok National 

Park 5. Camdeboo National Park 6. Garden Route National Park (Wilderness; Knysna and Tsitsikamma) 7. Golden 

Gate Highlands National Park 8. Karoo National Park 9. Kalahari Gemsbok National Park 10 Kruger National Park 

11. Mapungubwe National Park 12. Marakele National Park 13. Mokala National Park 14. Mountain Zebra National 

Park 15. Namaqua National Park 16. Richtersveld National Park 17. Table Mountain National Park 18. Tankwa Karoo 

National Park 19. West Coast National Park.

Figure 1: Map of SA National Parks

Kalahari Gemsbok 
National Park
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1.6 Organisational Structure

MINISTRY – DEPARTMENT 
OF ENVIRONMENTAL 

AFFAIRS

SANPARKS BOARD

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Mr Fundisile Mketeni

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Mr Rajesh Mahabeer

CORPORATE SUPORT 
FUNCTIONS

MANAGING EXECUTIVE: 
PARKS

Mr Property Mokoena

PARK OPERATIONS

MANAGING EXECUTIVE: 
CONSERVATION SERVICES

Dr Howard Hendricks (Acting)

CORE FUNCTIONS

HEAD – CEO AND COO 
OFFICES

Mr Lucas Zepe

CE & SUPPORT FUNCTIONS

CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER
Ms Lize McCourt

MANAGING EXECUTIVE: 
KRUGER NATIONAL PARK

Mr Glenn Phillips

MANAGING EXECUTIVE: 
TOURISM DEVELOPMENT 

AND MARKETING
Ms Hapiloe Sello

BOARD SECRETARY
Ms Pauline van der Spuy 

MANAGING EXCUTIVE: 
CORPORATE SERVICES
Ms wanda mkutshulwa

HEAD SOCIO-ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT
Mr Paul Daphne
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1.7 SANParks Board Members and Executive Management

SANParks Board Members

Ms J Yawitch 
Chairperson

Ms K Njobe

Mr E T Khumalo

Dr C G Olver

Ms F Futwa

Ms B Ferguson

Mr M India

Mr L Zita

Dr M Matlou

Mr M T Mokono

Dr N Mzilikazi

Ms T Semane

Ms L McCourt

Mr F Mketeni
(SANParks Chief Executive Officer)

Mr R Mahabeer
(SANParks Chief Financial Officer)

SANParks Executive Members

Mr F Mketeni
Chief Executive Officer

Mr R Mahabeer
Chief Financial Officer

Ms L McCourt
Chief Operating Officer

Dr H Hendricks
Acting Managing Executive:

Conservation Services

Mr G Phillips
Managing Executive:
Kruger National Park

Mr P Mokoena
Managing Executive: Parks

Ms H Sello
Managing Executive: Tourism
Development and Marketing

Ms w mkutshulwa
Managing Executive: Corporate Services

Mr P Daphne
Head: Socio-Economic Development

Ms P Van Der Spuy
Head: Chief Executive Office and

Board Support (By Invitation)
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2. Part B: Performance Information

2.1 Auditor General’s Report on Predetermined Objectives

Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on South African National Parks

Introduction

1. I have audited the financial statements of the South African National Parks set out on pages 134 to 213, which comprise the statement 
of financial position as at 31 March 2016, the statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net assets, cash flow 
statement and statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts for the year then ended, as well as the notes, comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the financial statements

2. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practise (SA Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the Public 
Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), and for such internal control as the accounting authority 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

Auditor-general’s responsibility

3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. I conducted my audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements, and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessment, the auditor considers internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion 

6. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the South African National Parks 
as at 31 March 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with SA Standard of GRAP 
and the requirements of the PFMA.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

7. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) and the general notice issued in terms thereof, 
I have a responsibility to report findings on the reported performance information against predetermined objectives of selected 
objectives presented in the annual performance report, compliance with legislation and internal control. The objective of my tests was 
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to identify reportable findings as described under each subheading but not to gather evidence to express assurance on these matters. 
Accordingly, I do not express an opinion or conclusion on these matters.

Predetermined objectives

8. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information of the 
following selected objectives presented in the annual performance report of the public entity for the year ended 31 March 2016:

• Objective 1: Optimised economic contribution through tourism and associated activities on pages 25 to 31.

• Objective 2: Enhanced conservation and ecological integrity of National Parks system on pages 32 to 37.

• Objective 3: Optimised socio-economic beneficiation on pages 38 to 43.

9. I evaluated the usefulness of the reported performance information to determine whether it was presented in accordance with the 
National Treasury’s annual reporting principles and whether the reported performance was consistent with the planned objectives. I 
further performed tests to determine whether indicators and targets were well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable, time bound 
and relevant, as required by the National Treasury’s Framework for managing programme performance information (FMPPI).

10. I assessed the reliability of the reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete.

11. I did not identify any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information for any of the 
objectives selected as indicated in paragraph 8 above.

Additional matters

12. Although I identified no material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information for the selected 
objectives, I draw attention to the following matters:

Achievement of planned targets

13. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 26 to 50 for information on the achievement of the planned targets for the year.

Adjustment of material misstatements

14. I identified material misstatements in the annual performance report submitted for auditing. These material misstatements were on 
the reported performance information of Optimised Economic Contribution through Tourism and Associated Activities, Enhanced 
Conservation and Ecological Integrity of National Park System and Optimised Socio-Economic Beneficiation. As management 
subsequently corrected the misstatements, I did not identify any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported 
performance information.

Unaudited supplementary information

15. The supplementary information set out on page 52 to 131 does not form part of the annual performance report and is presented as 
additional information. I have not audited these schedules and, accordingly, I do not report thereon.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LEGISLATION

16. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the public entity had compiled with applicable legislation regarding financial matters, 
financial management and other related matters. I did not identify any instances of material non-compliance with specific matters in 
key legislation, as set out in the general notice issued in terms of the PAA.

Internal control

17. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, the annual performance report and compliance with 
legislation. I did not identify any significant deficiencies in internal control.

Pretoria

29 July 2016
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2.2 Situation Analysis

Performance delivery environment

The cost curtailment measures initiated during the last four years, focusing on financial discipline and strong internal controls, continue to yield satisfactory 
financial performances. Furthermore, interim financial analyses and forecasts have been undertaken to control the financial risks that the organisation may 
have been exposed to due to the current slow economic recovery. 

For the period under review, SANParks realised a preliminary bottom line surplus of R278.998 million, which is 21% (equivalent to R48.419 million) better than 
the planned surplus of R230.578 million.

The preliminary income to cost ratio for the period under review is 1.11:1, which is better than the target of 1:1. This ratio is an indication that SANParks is 
generating enough operational revenue to cover its operational expenditure. Going forward however, this might not be the case, as is evident from the 
economic downturn and a rise in interest rates. 

When compared to the same period last year the income to cost ratio has improved slightly. 

SANParks total revenue to date is 42% (equivalent of R857.593 million) better than the budget of R2.046 billion. 

SANParks total expenditure to date totals R2.621 billion, which indicates over expenditure of R805.970 million when compared to the budgeted R1.815 billion. 
Included in this actual expenditure figure is an amount of R786.643 million for special projects operational expenditure, which is not budgeted for as it falls 
outside SANParks normal operations. When this special projects operational expenditure amount is deducted from the total, it results in a loss of R19.327 
million. The reason budgeted expenditure was exceeded is attributable to increased operating activities, which resulted in additional revenue of R43.751 
million.

SANParks’ business operations are founded on three important core pillars:

•	 Conservation – the primary mandate of the organisation is the conservation of South Africa’s biodiversity, landscapes 
and associated heritage assets through a system of national parks.

•	 Responsible Tourism – the organisation has a significant role in the promotion of South Africa’s nature-based tourism, 
or ecotourism business targeted at both international and domestic tourism markets. The eco-tourism pillar of the 
business architecture provides for the organisation’s self-generated revenues from commercial operations that are 
necessary to supplement government funding of conservation management. A significant element of the ecotourism 
pillar is the Commercialisation Strategy, which (through the implementation of Public Private Partnerships) SANParks has 
adopted to expand tourism products and the generation of additional revenue for funding of conservation and socio-
economic development.

•	 Socio-Economic Development – SANParks has taken a strategic decision to expand it’s role in the developmental 
support provided to neighbouring communities as an entity of the developmental state.  In addition, SANParks is required 
to build constituencies at international, national and local levels, in support of conservation of the natural and cultural 
heritage of South Africa through its corporate social investment. It has to ensure that a broad base of South Africans 
participate and get involved in biodiversity initiatives, and further that all its operations have a synergistic existence with 
neighbouring or surrounding communities for their educational and socio-economic benefit, hence enabling the broader 
society to be connected to national parks.

Organisational Environment
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The mandate of the organisation is derived from its biodiversity conservation role, thus the conservation pillar, is regarded as the basis upon which the other 
two core pillars’ programmes and activities are directed. 

In addition to the core functions (Conservation, Tourism and Socio-Economic Development), which provide SANParks with a level of uniqueness, the 
organisation has generic support functions of the Chief Operating Officer (which includes Human Capital Management; Risk Management and Strategy & 
Performance Management) and the Chief Financial Officer (which includes Finance and Supply Chain Management) and Corporate Services (which includes 
Information Technology, Enterprise Applications, Corporate Communications and Legal Services). 

2.3 Strategic outcome oriented goals

SANParks has adopted the following outcome oriented goals to guide its Medium Term Strategic Framework (MTSF) Strategic Plan: 

Strategic Outcome Oriented Goal 1 Sustainable Conservation Asset

Goal Statement
To ensure that environmental assets and natural resources are well protected and continually enhanced 
through an adaptive and effective National Parks System.

Strategic Outcome Oriented Goal 2 Diverse and Responsible Tourism

Goal Statement
To enhance the tourism plant in order to maximise economic returns, social and environmental benefits, by 
creating diversified and better tourism products for people to enjoy, visit and appreciate.

Strategic Outcome Oriented Goal 3 Progressive, Equitable and  Fair Socio-Economic Transformation

Goal Statement
To foster an efficient, effective and development oriented public service and an empowered, fair and inclusive 
citizenship that will enable the creation of decent employment through inclusive economic growth, vibrant, 
equitable and sustainable rural communities.

Strategic Outcome Oriented Goal 4 Effective Resource Utilisation and Good Governance

Goal Statement
To create and maintain a conducive workplace for skilled and capable workforce that will form a responsive, 
accountable, effective and efficient National Parks System.
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2.4 Performance against Predetermined Objectives

SANParks’ Performance Against Predetermined Objectives – 2015/16 Financial Year

SO1: Optimised Economic Contribution through Tourism and Associated Activities

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

1.1   Income to Cost Ratio1 1:1 1.11:1

Performance Analysis

The income to cost ratio for the period under review is 1.11:1, which is better than the target of 1:1. This ratio is an 

indication that SANParks is generating enough operational revenue to cover its operational expenditure. Going 

forward however, this might not be the case, as is evident from the economic downturn, and a rise in interest 

rates. For the period under review, SANParks realised a surplus of R278.998 million, which is 21% (equivalent to 

R48.419 million) better than the budgeted surplus of R230.579 million.

SANParks total revenue to date is 49,91% (equivalent of R857.593 million) better than the budget of R2.046 billion. 

SANParks total expenditure to date totals R2.621 billion, which indicates over expenditure of R805.970 million when 

compared to the budgeted R1.815 billion. Included in this actual expenditure figure is an amount of R786.643 

million for special projects operational expenditure, which is not budgeted for, as it falls outside SANParks normal 

operations. When this special projects operational expenditure amount is deducted from the total, it results in 

a loss of R19.327 million. The reason budgeted expenditure was exceeded is attributable to increased operating 

activities, which resulted in additional revenue of R43.751 million.

Reason for variance

The better than expected income is attributable to the improved tourism income as a result of the two Easter 

weekends that fell into the 2015/16 financial year.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  

In addition to continuous budget variance monitoring, regular financial forecast will be undertaken to mitigate 

any possible financial risks the organisation might have been exposed to due to the current slow economic 

recovery. Furthermore, a special focus will be given to improve financial controls and management of assets, 

particularly as the organisation seeks to enhance its security measures against poaching and growing its revenue-

generating streams.

1 The targets was amended in line with the outcomes of the 2015 Mid-Term Review. Amendments were approved by the Minister of Environmental Affairs 
in October 2015.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

1.2   Operating Tourism Revenue
(Year-on-Year)

11,0% 14,7%

Performance Analysis

For the period under review, SANParks Operating Tourism Revenue when compared to the same period last year 

has increased by 14,7%. This is above SANParks’ planned target of 11%. The financial figures for the current year 

are 7,8% (equivalent to R93.774 million) higher than the budget of R1.196 billion.    

For the period under review, total Guests to Parks increased by 6,0% from 5 578 532 to 5 913 912 persons through 

SANParks gates. For Kruger the number increased by 6,5% from 1 659 793 to 1 767 218 and for Parks the number 

increased by 5,8% from 3 918 739 to 4 146 694 persons. When compared to the same period last year, there were 

no long weekends in the month of March and school holidays were not until the end of March. 

The effect on the operating tourism revenue streams is as follows:

•	 There is a year-on-year improvement in conservation levy and entrance fees of 14% (R50.535 
million).

•	  Tourism income is up by 12% (R82.279 million). 

•	 The year-on-year increase in concession fees is 21% (R17.745 million).

•	 Retail gross profit increased by 10% (R3.590 million). 

Reason for variance

The reason for the positive variances result from tariff hikes and an increase in visitor numbers to national parks. 

These year-on-year increases are mainly attributable to two long weekends in March 2016, and school holidays 

falling in the same month.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  
Continuous financial analysis and forecasts will be undertaken to improve the tourism products yielding, and 

consider necessary interventions where required. Furthermore, the SANParks Strategic Plan for Commercialisation 

(SPfC) will be rolled out with particular focus on the Skukuza Conference Lodge in the Kruger National Park.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

1.3   Total Number of Revenue Generating 
Products Implemented

7 8

Performance Analysis

During the second quarter, one revenue generating product i.e. Bontle Tented Camp (28 beds) was implemented 

as planned. 

During the third quarter, a further four products were implemented as follows: Russell House (four beds), 

Pafuri Border Camp (16 beds) and Tshokwane Picnic Spot in the Kruger National Park and the Mata Mata 

Family Cottages (eight beds) in the Kgalagadi Transfrontier Park. During the final quarter, three products were 

implemented as follows: Urikaruus and Kieliekrankie in the Kgalagadi Transfrontier Park were completed (two 

beds each) and Afsaal Picnic Spot in the Kruger National Park.

Reason for variance

Russell House had been anticipated to be completed during previous financial year (2014/15). However, due to 

various reasons its practical completion was delayed and it was then completed in third quarter of 2015/16. 

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  No corrective action is required.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

1.4   Fundraising Policy & Strategy 
Developed and Implemented

100% 0%

Performance Analysis

Reasons for variance

The development of Fundraising Strategy and Policy documents process was initiated with one workshop held 

during the course of the year. A draft was presented to ExCo and ExCo requested that the document be enhanced 

to ensure that it covers all aspects related to fundraising within SANParks. The documents will be finalised in the 

2016/17 financial year and implemented on completion.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  
The SANParks’ fundraising policy and strategy will be implemented and continual performance assessment 

against the targets will be conducted. 
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

1.5   Accommodation Occupancy 72,5% 73%

Performance Analysis

For the period under review, SANParks Accommodation Unit Occupancy exceeded the annual target of 72,5% by 

0,9% points. This is 1,3% points (from 72,1% to 73%) improvement compared to the same period last year.

For the same reporting period, the Accommodation Units Nights sold improved by 3,3% (equivalent to 18 324), 

an increase of 4,2% (from 703 802 to 733 251) was registered in the number of Camping Person Nights Sold, and 

4,9% increase (from 247 313 to 259 521) in total number of tourism activities, when compared to the same period 

last year. 

Reasons for variance

Better performance in both unit nights sold and ultimately better performance in tourism accommodation 

occupancies can mainly be attributed to favourable holiday and long weekend arrangement in 2015/16 financial 

year and the loyalty of domestic customers, which constituted 73,6% of the total visitors to national parks (where 

it is recorded), and have increased by 8,4% year-on-year.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  

Other than SANParks cost-curtailment strategies, future bookings are being analysed for better forecasts, while 

sales, marketing and promotional initiatives, particularly at regional levels, will be undertaken to enhance 

performance in this regard.

Sales and marketing resources have been restructured to improve sales efficiency within existing capacity. Several 

sales and marketing strategic reviews will be undertaken to improve tourism activities at park levels.   
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

1.6   Customer Satisfaction Index 82,0% 82,1%

Performance Analysis

For the 2015/16 financial year, the overall SANParks Customer Satisfaction Index score was 82,1%, 0,1 % points 

above the planned target of 82,0%. This represents 1,6% (from 80,5% to 82,1%) improvement when compared to 

the same period last year. 

Reasons for variance

This performance can be attributed to improvement made by the introduction of the franchise restaurants 

in various national parks, and implementation of the recent tourism standards and audit recommendations 

intended to improve tourism customer service levels. 

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  

The following improvement interventions are planned for undertaking: 

• Continuous use of the satisfaction ratings, customers’ comments and suggestions to identify areas of 

improvement.

• Conducting continuous tourism standards quality assessments to encourage both maintenance and 

hospitality management and act on findings (and recommendations) to improve products and services. 

• Regular engagements with customers to understand their needs on products and services offerings.

• Implement Contact Centre Quality Assurance Assessment to monitor and evaluate customer service.

• Improved tracking of complaints and acting on all received complaints.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

1.7   Total Number of Visitors to National 
Parks

5 600 000 5 913 912

Performance Analysis

For the period under review, there were 5 913 912 visitors to national parks, which is 6,0% (335 380) better than 

the 5 578 532 recorded during the previous year and 5,6% (313 912) better than the target set for 2015/16. 

Visitor numbers to the Kruger National Park have improved by 6,5% (from 1 659 793 to 1 767 218) when compared 

to the same period last year, while visitor numbers to other national parks have increased by 5,8% from the 

previous year (from 3 918 739 to 4 146 694). 

For the same reporting period, the Total Number of Overnight Visitors to national parks has improved by 2,7% 

(from 687 694 to 706 561), when compared to the same period last year, while Day Visitors improved by 10,5% 

(from 1 971 234 to 2 178 935) at those Parks where these measures are recorded. Please note that both day and 

overnight visitor numbers exclude figures for Table Mountain and West Coast National Parks as a compatible 

entrance system at those parks is still being implemented. 

Overall, it is worth noting that the majority (73,6%) of visitors to national parks (where it is recorded) remain South 

African residents, which have grown in number by 8,4% year-on-year. Visitors from SADC countries declined by 

14,6% and make up only 1,9% of the total visitor numbers, while other international guests make up 24,6% of the 

total, and have increased by 1,7% for the period under review as compared to last year.  

Reasons for variance

The increase in visitor numbers can mainly be attributed to favourable holiday and long weekend arrangement 

in 2015/16 financial year and the loyalty of domestic customers.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  
Continued marketing and sales efforts will be undertaken to increase visitor numbers to national parks, with 

particular focus on domestic visitors.
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SANParks’ Performance Against Predetermined Objectives – 2015/16 Financial Year 

SO2: Enhanced Conservation and Ecological Integrity of National Park System

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

2.1   METT Score 70,0% 71%

Performance Analysis

The METT-SA is designed as an assessment tool to measure trends that determine how effectively protected areas 

are managed. The SANParks bi-annual METT-SA assessment was completed for all 19 parks in February and March 

2016. SANParks submitted the METT report to DEA in early May 2016. The assessment showed that SANParks has 

achieved an average score of 71%.

Reasons for variance

The difference between the annual target and actual performance is not material enough to make any meaningful 

conclusion other than just to indicate that park management attended to the implementation of the corrective 

measures identified through the METT assessment and audit for their specific parks respectively. It should be 

noted that the score achieved; however, falls within the same classification of effectiveness. In terms of the METT-

SA methodology, a score of 67% and above constitute sound management effectiveness.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions No corrective measures are required at this stage.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

2.2   Total Hectors of Land Rehabilitated/ 
Restored

Initial/New Area = 33 368 ha2

Follow-Up Area = 202 694 ha

Wetlands = 6 508 m³ (26 sites)

Initial/New Area = 46 902 ha

Follow-Up Area = 241 936 ha

Wetlands = 14 962 m³ (18 sites)

Performance Analysis

The initial area rehabilitated was 13 534 ha more (41%) than the target, while the annual follow-up rehabilitation 

target of 202 694 ha was exceeded with 39 242 ha or 19%.  

For the full year, of the planned 6 508m³ wetlands, rehabilitation was exceeded by 229% with 14 962m³ 

rehabilitated. This programme only started in October as opposed to April 2015 after delays in transferring of the 

implementation responsibilities from the South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) to the Department 

of Environmental Affairs (DEA), and then to SANParks. Work was done on 18 wetlands in the participating parks. 

The increase in cubic meters is related to environmental factors in that structures had to be re-designed following 

floods after the original designs were made, and alternative activities had to be done in other areas, since no work 

could be done in the Stolsnek area of Kruger National Park due to the rhino-poaching situation.  

Reasons for variance

The deployment of an experienced programme manager to assist with the rehabilitation projects was key over 

achievement of the planned targets. All the rehabilitation programmes, i.e. alien invasive vegetation clearing, land 

restoration and bush clearing performed and achieved and/or exceeded planned targets. 

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions
No further intervention needed. All rehabilitation projects performed excellently during the past year, taking into 

consideration the capacity challenges and the late start of the Wetlands programme. Appointments of critical 

staff are in process.
2 The targets was amended in line with the outcomes of the 2015 Mid-Term Review. Amendments were approved by the Minister of Environmental Affairs 
in October 2015.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

2.3   Total Area Added to National Parks 
(Terrestrial ha) and (Marine ha) 

Terrestrial = 3 715 ha

Marine = 0 km2

Terrestrial = 3 762 ha

Marine = 0 km2

Performance Analysis

The acquisition of the Scholtzfontein North (Mokala National Park) properties was successfully completed. No 

Marine Protected Area was added to the national park system. 

Reasons for variance
The property purchased was larger than the target. It is not possible to be 100% accurate in target setting as 

property purchases are subject to availability in the market of land falling within the desired areas of expansion.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions None required.

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

2.4   Total Number of Park Management 
Plans Reviewed and Submitted

2 2

Performance Analysis

SANParks completed the desired state and higher-level objectives in consultation with stakeholders for both 

Kalahari Gemsbok National Park in the Northern Cape, and Mountain Zebra National Park in the Eastern Cape. All 

required lower level plans for both parks were developed. Draft Park Management Plans were completed for both 

parks and submitted to DEA for technical review. 

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions No corrective action is required.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

2.5   Total Number of Species Protection 
Interventions Implemented

6 6

Performance Analysis

For the period under review, the following was achieved:

a.  Rhino compulsory interventions: Programme that provides rhino security continued in all national parks 

that have rhinos. The number of rhino poached per day remained stable even though poaching activities 

per day increased.

b.  Rhino biological management interventions:  Internal translocations of rhino in Kruger National Park 

out of poaching hot-spots, to the Intensive Protection Zone (IPZ) continued and five individuals are 

constantly being monitored.

c.  Rhino long-term sustainability interventions: SANParks’ participation in the DEA’ Commission of Inquiry 

tasked with assessing the feasibility of trade in rhino horn, as part of the strategic responses of South 

Africa to curb rhino poaching was completed in January/February.

d.  Rhino game-changing interventions: A pledge made by SANParks in support of the country’s wildlife 

economy resulted in a document to guide SANParks’ contribution towards a community-based wildlife 

economy. The document outlines the desired outcome, the key factors for consideration to achieve this 

outcome and various organisational risks for consideration. 

e.  Rhino population census: Census and analyses for Kruger and Marakele National Parks were completed. 

Ground-based monitoring of individual rhino and registration records for Mapungubwe, Mokala, Addo 

Elephant, Mountain and Karoo National Parks have been completed.

f.  Elephant impact interventions: Management protocol completed. Experimental testing continued in 

Addo Elephant and Kruger National Parks.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions No corrective measures are required at this stage.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

2.6   Total Number of Cultural Heritage 
Interventions Implemented

5 5

Performance Analysis

Progress for the year under review includes:  

a.  The State of Conservation Report for Mapungubwe and the nomination dossier for the Khomani Cultural 

Landscape were both submitted to UNESCO before 1 February 2016 deadline. UNESCO acknowledged 

receipt of both documents.

b.  The restoring, rehabilitating and stabilising of the Thulamela Cultural Heritage site was completed 

including the reconstruction of 24 sections of wall with a total length of 43 m and an average height of 

1, 6 m.

c.  The Vele Offset Program: the Site Specific Management Plans and the Report on the Restoration at 

Bambandhlanalo were presented to the Project Steering Committee meeting in January 2016 where 

they were adopted.

d.  A survey of heritage resources and the accompanying database for Mokala National Park has been 

completed while, a preliminary survey was carried out in Addo Elephant National Park and the database 

is in process of being completed. 

e. The Guidelines for Burials and Scattering of Ashes was approved by ExCo in January 2016.

f.  Thulamela Cultural Site in Kruger National Park has been nominated for National Heritage Status. The 

documents have been submitted to SAHRA in preparation for the adjudication.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions Engage with the African Heritage Council towards available funding or find alternative funding.

Thulamela Historic Site in Kruger National Park SANPW
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

2.7   % of research projects relevant to 
SANParks Key Issues

73% 76%

Performance Analysis

By the end of the fourth  quarter, 266 active research projects were registered across the three Research Nodes 

of SANParks. Of the current registered, active projects, 76% are rated as essential or important to addressing 

SANParks key knowledge needs, with a further six projects, considered of national importance. This equates 

to 3,4% above the projected target for 2015/16. The outputs from the research provide valuable inputs into 

management policies and decisions in applying Strategic Adaptive Management of complex systems and 

informing management decisions based on science. Final research reports and/or scientific publications are a key 

output of these registered projects.

Reasons for variance

The research output is mainly dependent on the research submissions submitted and accepted by SANParks. The 

organisation does not have a direct control over this target and in the 2015/16 financial year the organisation 

received a greater than anticipated number of research submissions for acceptance.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions No corrective measures are required at this stage.

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

2.8   Total Number of Peer Reviewed 
Research Publications

20 53

Performance Analysis

At the end of the fourth quarter, a cumulative total of 53 peer reviewed research publications had been published 

in various national and international journals. SANParks’ presence and credibility in the scientific domain has been 

boosted with a highly productive research publication output. This illustrates the wide collaboration that SANParks 

has with colleagues from various academic institutions and conservation agencies across various disciplines. The 

level of performance currently exceeds the target by 33 papers.

Reasons for variance

The organisation published more than the anticipated number of research papers during the year. Production 

of research papers follows annual cycles and they depend upon the completion of research and acceptance of 

publications.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions No corrective measures are required at this stage.
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SANParks’ Performance Against Predetermined Objectives – 2015/16 Financial Year

SO3: Optimised Socio-Economic Beneficiation

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

3.1   Total Number of Free Access Entrants 18 200 52 547

Performance Analysis

At the end of the 2015/16 financial year, 52 547 free access to national parks had been recorded. These include the 

hosting of the SA National Parks week project, which is implemented across all national parks.

Reasons for Variance

The implementation of several community based initiatives at various parks during this 2015/16 year attributed 

the increased number of free entrance. The achievement can be attributed to events which were not part of the 

plan such as President Zuma’s visit to the Kruger National Park, which alone brought in 6 000 people. The level of 

publicity which was created prior the SA National Parks Week events also contributed to the over-achievement 

of the target. 

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions No corrective measures are required at this stage.

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

3.2   Total Number of Environmental 
Education Impact Assessment Tools 
Developed3

2 2

Performance Analysis

A research programme was conducted by University of South Africa on the impact of kids in Parks (KIP) programme 

in Kruger National Park. Continued feedback from participating learners and educators as indicated from a post 

KIP questionnaire, confirms that KIP Programme is having an impact on their environmental literacy. Learners 

continue to place the highest value on aspects of the programme such as the opportunity to learn about the 

environment offered to the schools and their communities, to take part in outdoor activities, animal sightings 

during the game drives and being able to mark these on their checklist. The educators confirmed that the KIP 

integrated well with Curriculum and Assessment Policy Statement (CAPS) and that this was key component of 

the programme. Educators felt at the end of the camp that learners are more environmentally conscious. A draft 

report for Golden Gate is completed.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions No corrective measures are required at this stage.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

3.3   Total Number of Participants in 
Environmental Education Programme

185 600 215 388

Performance Analysis

For the period under review, the total number of learners participating in SANParks’ Environmental Education 

Programme was 16,0% (equivalent of 29 788) higher than the planned annual target of 185 600. This is an increase 

of 0,8% (equivalent of 1 644) when compared to the same period last year. 

The following is a list of initiatives that are contributing to the SANParks’ Environmental Education Programme: 

a.  Kudu Green School Initiative: This project aims to enhance environmental literacy to learners and 

educators while providing free access to national parks. In support of formal and informal learning on the 

key environmental issues, learning materials have been developed.

b.  Kids in Parks (Including “Take Kruger to Kasie Project”): This project aims to enhance environmental 

literacy and provide access to learners and educators to the national parks. Learning materials have been 

developed and aligned in support of the primary school curriculum.

c.  Park Based Environmental Education Programme: This is an informal learning project, targeting 

scholars and the public, supported by an interactive booklet dealing with general environmental issues. 

This programme is mainly active during school holidays where there is a higher influx of learners to the 

national parks.

d.  Junior Ranger Programme: The programme has been piloted in three parks (Table Mountain, Karoo 

and Agulhas National Parks) and aims to introduce participants to the management and conservation of 

both natural and cultural resources practically carried out in the field under the guidance of experts in 

the field of conservation. 

e.  Imbewu Youth Project: This project aims to promote indigenous cultural knowledge and takes the 

form of wilderness camps led by “wise elders” from local communities. Traditional knowledge is passed 

on from the elders to youth leaders invited to participate in the project. The project has been rolled out 

in three national parks (Marakele, Golden Gate and Namaqua). The Lottery Funding that was used to 

support the programme has expired.  

Reasons for Variance

The variance between planned target and actual performance is directly related to the enhanced curriculum 

support to schools, providing value for money to schools, following an intensified outreach programme 

approach and improved cooperation with Department of Basic Education and their districts respectively. The 

implementation of the said initiatives resulted in an increase in the number of participants on the Environmental 

Education Programmes.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions
Interventions will be undertaken to adhere to established school tour policies and to engage continuously with 

various educational departments.

Imbewu Camp
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

3.4   Total Number of Full-time Equivalent 
Jobs Created (EPWP/Others) 

EPWP (FTE equivalent) = 7 9424

Other: 196

EPWP (FTE equivalent) = 6 364

Other: 144

Performance Analysis

For 2015/16, 6 364 full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs were created through the SANParks Expanded Public Works 

Programme (EPWP). The achievement of the FTE target for the year faced many challenges in that approved 

projects either started late or not at all due to reasons including funding constraints (Working for the Coast, 

People and Parks), and change of management (Wetlands). Capturing of person days for the DEA Natural Resource 

Management Programme and Eco-Furniture Programme had to be suspended during mid-March 2016 due to 

the cash flow challenges of the Department, and person days from this period will be allocated to the new year.

FTE jobs created (Other) refer to the number of interns who are employed on a one-year basis through the Groen 

Sebenza and other programmes. The number achieved was 144 against a target of 150 as at the end of December 

2015. The Groen Sebenza programme has now ended at the end of December 2015. An additional 46 interns are 

being recruited for 2016/17 but are not included in the totals for 2015/16.

Reasons for variance

The 196 target for the other jobs created was not achieved due to the termination of the Groen Sebenza project 

in December 2015, and a number of interns left the programme because they got permanent employment. The 

FTE targets could not be achieved because projects started late and others could not be implemented due to 

funding constraints.

Planned Improvement / Corrective 
Actions  

Catch-up plans were put in place to mitigate the effects of the delays in implementing certain components of 

the EPWP programmes.

4  The annual target was amended in line with the outcomes of the 2015 Mid-Term Review. Amendments were approved by the Minister of Environmental Affairs in October 

2015.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

3.5   Total Number of Temporal Jobs 
Created through Socio-Economic Initiatives

50 79

Performance Analysis

For the period under review, 79 temporary jobs were created through SANParks socio-economic initiatives.

Jobs were created through the rollout of five socio-economic initiatives, referred to as “Legacy Projects”, in areas 

around the Kruger, Mountain Zebra and Golden Gate Highlands National Parks. 

Reasons for variance

Additional jobs were created during the plumbing and fitting of the workstations inside the laboratories and 

official hand over events of the labs in Mpumalanga (Busisiwe High school), Tlakulani and Groenvlei high schools 

in Limpopo, and the kitchen facility at Takheleni primary school in Mpumalanga.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  
Collaboration with various stakeholders and government departments is required to create sustainable jobs in 

the areas around the national parks.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

3.6   Total Number of SMMEs/Enterprises 
Supported

501

(R249 million paid to SMMEs)5
980

Performance Analysis

The number of SMMEs supported during 2015/16 amounted to 980. 

The late start of some programmes such as Wetlands required the double up of teams to ensure work is completed 

within the remaining timeframe, while teams were also considerably increased in especially the Working for 

Water and Working for Ecosystems projects as part of remedial plans. The project management capacity of the 

Biodiversity Social Projects Unit was hugely impacted by resignations on cluster and project management level, 

and catch-up plans were implemented to ensure that all biodiversity and social deliverables are achieved.  

Reasons for variance

Teams were doubled up or considerably increased in some programmes such as Working for Water and Working 

for Ecosystems. Therefore, additional capacity is a major reason for variances under this programme. 

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  
No corrective action needed. The timeous approval of budgets and business plans by the Department will assist 

to maintain planned figures throughout the year.
5 The Annual Target was amended in line with the outcomes of the 2015 Mid-Term Review. Amendments were approved by the Minister of Environmental Affairs in October 

2015.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

3.7   Number of Community Contractual 
Agreements in Place

5 3

Performance Analysis

During the year under review, three Interim Cooperation Agreements were signed between SANParks and the 

local communities. The following is a list of interim cooperation agreements signed with communities:

a.  Bevhula: An Interim Cooperation Agreement was signed with Bevhula Traditional Council mapping out 

the process and responsibilities of parties towards the finalisation and signing of the final cooperation 

agreement on the implementation of the wildlife economy project. The implementation of the land 

rehabilitation project, which was funded by DEA has been completed.

b.  Gidjani: A similar Interim Agreement was signed with Gidjani Tribal Council. Gidjani and Bevhula 

communities agreed to jointly allocate land totalling 1 800 ha for the establishment of the wildlife 

economy project. Community Development Trusts will be established in the two communities for the 

management of the project. The DEA allocated R10m to support the development. The land rehabilitation 

project at Gidjani, which was funded by DEA has been completed. 

c.  Richtersveld Contractual Agreement: The contractual agreement with the Richtersveld Community 

has reached a stage where there has been agreement on a re-negotiated contract. The original contract 

has run for 25 years of the 30-year agreement. It has been agreed at the Richtersveld Joint Management 

Committee (RGBK) meeting that SANParks will continue as the management authority and that the land 

rental will be increased.

The following agreements are in the process of being concluded:

a.  Mjejane: A contract between SANParks and Mjejane Interim Board of Trustees has been suspended 

with effect from 1 March due to the Board’s non-compliance to requirements stipulated in the Interim 

Agreement. A process facilitated by SANParks is being put in place to assist the Interim Board to meet the 

requirements, including the finalisation of the beneficiary list and the beneficiation scheme.

b.  Nkambeni: The Interim Agreement between SANParks and Nkambeni Traditional Council has been 

drafted towards the implementation of the wildlife economy project. The consultation process between 

the Traditional Council and the different community structures is being finalised.

c.   Mdluli: All outstanding litigations against Mdluli land have been resolved. A site visit was undertaken 

by SANParks management in February 2016 to assess the viability of the proposed projects on the land.

Reasons for variance
The failure to achieve the targets is due to complexities in finalisation of the community agreements. SANParks 

did not anticipate the difficulties associated with finalising these agreements.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  
Formalisation of all planned community agreements will be expedited to ensure proper governance of communal 

relations with SANParks.
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SANParks’ Performance Against Predetermined Objectives – 2015/16 Financial Year
SO4: Enhanced Stakeholder Engagement

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

4.1   Total Number of Proactive Media 
Engagements

Media releases = 25

Media Events = 10

Media releases = 42

Media Events = 21

Performance Analysis

For the year under review, SANParks issued 42 proactive media releases. The majority of articles related to the 

on-going poaching incidents in national parks, particularly in the Kruger National Park. Articles were published in 

various newspapers including, Beeld, The Star, The New Age, Rapport, Pretoria News, IOL and The Times. 

Reasons for variance

The variance is attributable to the increase in the number of incidents within the organisation, which required 

many more media releases, such as visits by prominent individuals to the Kruger National Park, notably the 

President, Prince Harry and Secretary Sally Jewel of the USA.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  No corrective actions are required at this stage.

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

4.2   Media Reputation Rating Positive/ Neutral > 95% Positive/ Neutral > 99%

Performance Analysis

For the period under review, SANParks’ media reputation rating (positive/neutral) was 99%. 

This is better performance considering the situation in regular media reports about the on-going rhino poaching 

incidents in the Kruger National Park and an escaped lion in the Karoo National Park at the end of March 2016. For 

the reporting period, SANParks had 6 914 media clips with an Advertising Value Equivalent (AVE) of R213 387 568.

• 3% Positive 440 (AVE: R6 472 164)

• 1% Negative 91 (AVE: R1 474 384)

• 96% Neutral 6 383 (AVE: R205 441 020)

Reasons for variance

This variance is attributable to the proactive and transparent manner in which SANParks dealt with the media 

throughout the year.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  No corrective actions are required at this stage.
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SANParks’ Performance Against Predetermined Objectives – 2015/16 Financial Year

SO5: Effective and Efficient Corporate Governance

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

5.1   Auditor General Audit Report Unqualified with no other matters Unqualified with no other matters

Performance Analysis

The findings raised by the AGSA in the final management letter issued on completion of their audit of the 2014/15 

financial year was duly addressed by management, specifically with regard to performance information and 

fixed asset management. In addition, findings raised by internal audit to improve internal controls and business 

processes, have also been addressed by appropriate levels of management.

These management interventions are expected to result in significantly reduced findings raised by AGSA during 

their audit of the 2015/16 financial year.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  
The strategic objectives affected by the audit opinion are key to supporting SANParks in confirming that it is 

delivering on its mandate as expected from its main stakeholders, and the country at large.

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

5.2   % Progress Against Risk Response Plan 
90% Milestone on the progress against implementation 

of the Risk Response Plan

90% Corporate risks matrix re-assessed; Risk 

management framework reviewed and submitted to 

ARC; Implementation of risk mitigation initiatives

Performance Analysis

The performance achieved confirmed by the fact that measures implemented to improve actual revenue against 

budget has improved to the extent that the deficit recorded in the beginning of the financial year has almost 

been cleared. Furthermore, initiatives in terms of the rhino management plan and IPZ programme are being 

rolled out successfully. Progress is also achieved through the programme to improve corporate governance by a 

revision of existing policy documents or the development of new documents where gaps have been identified. 

Planned Improvement / Corrective Actions  
The organisational risk management framework was reviewed, to ensure that corporate risks are evaluated 

appropriately and timeously, and the rollout of related mitigation plans is effectively monitored.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

5.3   % Compliance with Governance 
Requirements 

80% 100%

Performance Analysis

Based on the PFMA and National Treasury regulations compliance report checklist, as published by the DEA, 

SANParks has complied fully with all governance requirements as a State Owned Entity (SOE) under the jurisdiction 

of DEA. 

The Minister (DEA) is the executive authority of SANParks while the Board, as appointed by the Minister is the 

accounting authority. As a result, 12 of the listed 84 requirements are not applicable. 

Reason for Variance 

SANParks has complied fully with all governance requirements as a State Owned Entity (SOE) under the jurisdiction 

of DEA.

Planned Improvement / Corrective Actions  No corrective actions are required at this stage.

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

5.4   Total Number of ICT Strategy Initiatives 
Implemented Per Schedule

1 1

Performance Analysis

The Corporate Governance of ICT Policy Framework has been completed, approved by the Board and 

implemented.

The IT Steering Committee has been constituted and has met thrice in six months. Furthermore, the committee 

has provided input into finalising the charter for the meeting.

The following Policies and Standard Operating Procedures in support of the ICT Governance Policy Framework 

have been approved by ExCo:

 - SOP: IT Strategy Management

 - Plan: ICT Service Continuity 

 - SOP: Manage Continuity

 - Policy: Information Security

 - Plan: Implement Information Security Policy

 - SOP: Development, Procurement, Modification and Decommissioning of IT Systems

In addition, the new IT Strategy for the next five years has been approved by the Board.

An independent opinion by KPMG on the Tourism Systems Strategy has also been received and accepted by 

SANParks. The Tourism Systems Strategy is being implemented. 

Planned Improvement / Corrective Actions  
Efforts are being put in place to further refine the assumptions around the implementation of the Tourism System 

Strategy.
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SANParks’ Performance Against Predetermined Objectives – 2015/16 Financial Year

SO6: Strengthened Human Capital and Management

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

6.1   % Employees from6 Designated EE 
Groups 

Black as % of Management  = 57,0%

Women as % of Management = 50,0%

People with Disabilities  = 2,0%

Total Male: Female Ratio  = 1.8:1

Black as % of Management  = 56,6%

Women as % of Management = 36,1%

People with Disabilities  = 1,3%

Total Male: Female Ratio  = 1.78:1

Performance Analysis

The total permanent SANParks staff complement is 4 027; of which 64,0% (2 576) are males and 36,0% (1 451) 

are females. Women representivity in the Managerial Levels (Bands D to F) account for 36,1% when compared to 

63,9% of males.

The number of Black people as a percentage in management (Bands D - F) is at 56,4% (equivalent to 197) out 

of a total of 349 incumbents, which is 0,6% points below the planned target of 57,0%. Women in management 

(Bands D-F) constitute 36,1% (equivalent to 126) out of a total of 349 incumbents, which is 13,9% points below 

the planned target of 50%.

The following were SANParks demographics per occupancy level:

• Top Management (F): out of six incumbents, 50,0% (3) were females; while 50,0% (3) were male. Furthermore, 

67% (4) of the incumbents were Black. 

• Senior management (E) = out of 52 incumbents 23,1% (12) were females, while 76,9% (40) were male, and 

of the total 55,8% (29) were Black. 

• Professionally qualified and experienced specialists (D) = out of 291 incumbents, 38,1% (111) were females, 

while 61,9% (180) were male, and of the total, 56,4% (164) were Black.

• Technical and academically qualified employees, junior management, supervisors, foremen, and 

superintendents (C) = out of 515 incumbents, 45,6% (235) were females, while 54,4% (280) were male, and 

of the total, 82,3% (424) were Black.

• Semi-skilled and discretionary decision-making (B) = out of 1 707 incumbents, there were 25,2% (430) 

females, while 74,8% (1 277) were male, and of the total, 97,1% (1 657) were Black.

• Unskilled and defined decision making (A) = out of 1 456 incumbents, there were 45,3% (662) females, while 

54,7% (796) were male; and of the total, 99,8% (1 453) were Black.

For the same reporting period, people with disabilities represented 1,3% (51) of the organisation’s permanent 

employees. The total male to female ratio is  ( 1.78 :1).
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

Performance Analysis

Reasons for Variance

• The targets for % blacks in management were marginally not achieved due to the resignation of some black 

managers.

• The target for Women as % of Management could not be met as it was set unrealistically high (in comparison 

with the baseline) during the mid-year review on request by Parliament. It was changed to be in line with 

National Government Targets. The initial target of 36% set by SANParks was based on the actuals at the end 

of 2014/15, the vacancies available and projected. This initial target was met with the actual performance 

at the end of fourth quarter at 36,1%. SANParks does not have sufficient vacancies at management level to 

achieve this target in the short term. This is further complicated by certain fields of work and expertise where 

there are limited numbers of females in the market. 

• The target for People with Disabilities could not be met as it was changed during the financial year on 

request of Parliament to be in line with National Government Targets. The initial target of 1% set by SANParks 

was based on the actuals at the end of 2014/15 and cognisant of some universal access limitations, especially 

Groenkloof (Head Office). This initial target was met with the actual performance at the end of fourth quarter 

at 1,3% respectively.

• The Total Male: Female Ratio could not be met because males still remain dominant throughout all 

occupational levels.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  

SANParks Employment Equity (EE) Plan is being implemented across parks and the divisions. Interventions include 

enhancing functionality of the EE committees, and implementing recommendations of the EE analysis reports. 

Redressing Gender and Disability inequalities within occupational categories remains a transformation priority for 

SANParks. Universal access imperatives at facilities are being addressed as priority.
6 The Annual Target was amended in line with the outcomes of the 2015 Mid-Term Review. Amendments were approved by the Minister of Environmental Affairs in October 

2015.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

6.2   % Employees Meeting Minimum 
Educational Requirements (C and Upper)

94,0% 67,0%

Performance Analysis

Skills development programmes, including the rollout of the recognition of prior learning (RPL) process are 

currently being undertaken to ensure that staff members are adequately qualified for their occupancies to 

improve the quality of service being offered by the organisation.

Reasons for Variance

The percentage (70%) relates to the sample that was assessed and reviewed prior to the end of the financial year. 

SANParks is currently conducting a review of the entire population from C band and up.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  

SANParks Learning and Development strategies are being implemented to assist employees to acquire the 

necessary qualifications. Relevant institutions of higher learning and education are being engaged to fast track 

employees’ development with particular focus on field rangers and those employees who are offering services to 

customers. The RPL programme is one of the strategies being pursued by the organisation as experience acquired 

over the year is important to consider in this regard.

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

6.3   % of Performance Appraisals 
Completed (C and Upper) 

100% 98%

Performance Analysis

98% of performance appraisals have been completed. A total of 843 employees have been assessed out of 860 

employees.

Reasons for variance

The variance is attributable to challenges experienced during the implementation of a new performance 

management system.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  No corrective actions are required at this stage.

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

6.4   % Success Rate at CCMA 100% 96,5%

Performance Analysis

There were 28 CCMA cases. Eleven were settled under the auspices of the CCMA, three were closed, one 

condonation was denied and one was partly ruled in favour of applicant. Twelve cases are currently pending. 

Reasons for variance

The higher than projected performance is attributed to the procedural and substantive fairness of the disciplinary 

processes at SANParks.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  No corrective actions are required at this stage.
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CONSERVATION SERVICES REPORT

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR ANNUAL TARGET ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

6.5   % Progress against Implementation of 
Skills Development Programme 

85,0% 88%

Performance Analysis

Out of 85 planned skills programmes, 90 programmes were implemented during the 2015/16 financial year, 

hence the over achievement by 15%.

Reason for Variation

The reason for better performance can be attributed to the fact that other needs came up within the organisation, 

which required further training intervention. Improvement in efficiency of implementing training initiatives, 

including improved procurement processes further contributed to the achievement.

Planned Improvement/ Corrective Actions  No corrective actions are required at this stage.



Boabab tree in Mapungubwe National Park

CONSERVATION SERVICES REPORT
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2.5 Conservation Services Report

Conservation Services has once again made good progress in terms of its responsibility in providing South African National Parks with leadership in biodiversity 
conservation through scientific, technical and policy support services. The focus was on enhanced conservation and ecological integrity of the national parks 
system. 

National park expansion

The successful acquisition of the 3 791 ha Scholtzfontein North for inclusion into Mokala National Park has had a triple function of increasing SANParks 
protection of under-represented vegetation types (Northern Upper Karoo and the Kimberley Thornveld), increasing the ecological viability of the park and 
increasing space for rhinos as part of the stronghold focus. 

Although no Marine Protected Area (MPA) was added to the National Park System, there have been positive moves towards declaring the larger Addo Elephant 
National Park MPA in the gazetting of regulations for the park. 

The Minister of Environmental Affairs signed on 18 March 2016 the intent to declare the 268 428 ha large Mountain Zebra, Camdeboo Protected Environment. 
It forms part of the buffer of the two parks and will be managed by the management authority made up of 66 landowners. In addition, the DBSA-funded 
rural development programme focused on the Camdeboo – Mountain Zebra National Parks corridor and West Coast National Park buffer area, successfully 
presented the closure support on this innovative project.

Park management plans and management effectiveness 

The Minister of Environmental Affairs approved the revised park management plans for Addo Elephant and Table Mountain National Parks. The Management 
Plans for Mountain Zebra and Kalahari Gemsbok National Parks were completed and submitted to the Department of Environmental Affairs for technical 
review.

The Management Effectiveness Tracking Tool (METT-SA) assessment that measures how effectively 19 National Parks are managed was completed in March 
2016. The initial assessment showed that SANParks achieved an average score of 71,0% above the target of 67% set as the minimum standard of effective 
management for protected areas in South Africa.

Rhino poaching

The onslaught on the world’s key rhinoceros populations in South Africa has continued. SANParks embarked on a four-pillared integrated approach to curb 
rhino poaching. Compulsory interventions aim to protect rhinos to allow them to breed using zonal approaches together with technology-led, intelligence-
based and rhino-guardian type options. The IPZ concept remained an important pillar for the protection of the high-density rhino population in the south of 
the Kruger National Park. The utilisation of technology and well-equipped and trained reaction forces with good land and air mobility, as well as a significant 
night capability, has enhanced pro-active anti-poaching operations. With transnational organised crime exploiting the alienation of local communities around 
the parks from accessing full conservation benefits, SANParks has embraced game changing interventions that seek to disrupt organised crime by creating 
opportunities through more equitable benefit sharing initiatives. SANParks participates in the Government-lead long-term sustainability interventions that seek 
to explore the pros and cons of developing a legal rhino horn trade towards meeting a sustainable demand. SANParks is a leader in biological management 
interventions providing scientifically robust assessments of rhino populations that have been a key informant in executing the strategic removals of rhinos 
from areas of high poaching risk to alternative, more secure and diverse types of rhino strongholds. This approach allows the maximisation of rhino breeding 
opportunities while minimising poaching risks - the historical backbone of South Africa’s rhino conservation success. 

This has delivered a number of satisfying results over the last year. Notably, for the first time in a decade, the poaching situation has stabilised. The number of 
rhinos poached in the Kruger National Park was 826 in 2015 in comparison to 827 poached in 2014. This has happened despite a significant increase in the 
number of poaching activities in the Kruger – a positive indication of the effectiveness of current anti-poaching initiatives. Poachers arrested in Kruger National 
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Park amounted to 202, with a further additional 115 in the area adjacent to the park during 2015, making the total arrested in the park and surroundings to 317 
individuals. This is a marked increase on the 258 poachers arrested in and around the park in 2014. Firearms seized inside the park in 2015 amounted to 125 
and 63 outside the park –188 compared to the 148 of the previous year. All rhino poaching crime scenes in the Kruger National Park have been attended to in 
accordance with regulations and prescripts. This is a remarkable achievement if one considers the serious backlog we faced in 2014 and early 2015. 

SANParks biological management interventions focused on shifting rhinos from high poaching risk areas to safer localities within Kruger National Park, 
evaluating and initiating several rhino strongholds, and saving rhino orphans left abandoned when their mothers were poached. SANParks captured 34 white 
rhinos from poaching hotspots and relocated them to safer areas within the park. Eighteen animals were fitted with VHF radio collars provided through funding 
by the Peace Parks Foundation. Towards the end of 2014, SANParks put out a tender request to potential private owners that could assist in achieving white 
rhino conservation objectives. Following the assessment of properties and the rhino allocation process, SANParks initiated the translocation of 111 white rhinos 
during August 2015. SANParks rescued nine rhino orphans during 2015, all of which are being cared for in specialised facilities. None of these orphans has 
been released back into the wild yet. 

SANParks continued to collaborate with regional and international enforcement networks such as the World Customs Organisation (WCO), the CITES Secretariat, 
World Bank, United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) and Interpol (making up the International Consortium on Combating Wildlife Crime (ICCWC). 
SANParks also hosted the bi-annual meeting of the IUCN SSC African Rhino Specialist Group. SANParks was thus able to strengthen its contributing actions at a 
national level and harness the support of international partners for those priorities that involve transnational syndicates. SANParks also continued to participate 
in the national Committee of Inquiry to investigate the feasibility of a possible international trade in rhino horn. 

Research projects and publications

Active research projects registered across the three Research Nodes of SANParks amounted to 266 during 2015. Of the currently active projects, 76% are rated 
essential or important to addressing key SANParks knowledge needs, with a further six projects considered of national importance. Final research reports and/
or scientific publications are a key output of these registered projects. Fifty-three peer reviewed research publications authored and co-authored by SANParks 
researchers were published in various national and international journals – boosting the presence and credibility of the organisation in the scientific domain. 
Selected highlights of research are published in the 2015 Annual Research Report. More than 200 delegates from 18 different countries attended the annual 
Savanna Science Networking meeting in Skukuza. 

Scientists achieved the following key biodiversity monitoring deliverables: 

•	 Impacts on replanted cycads in the zuurberg section.

•	 Post-fire soil erosion; hydrophobicity and moisture measurements in table mountain. 

•	 Sass 5 monitoring for river health in the nuwejaars river.

•	 Long-term intertidal bait monitoring programme to assess catch/effort of subsistence anglers in tsitsikamma mpa. 

•	 Ground-based river and dune game counts in the nossob and auob river beds.

•	 Resurveyed 729 individual plants of the threatened swazi impala lily.

•	 Prawns and other invertebrates associated with prawn beds in maart se plaat and sandbaai in langebaan lagoon. 

•	 Impacts on quiver trees in augrabies. 

•	 Discovering seven new plant species for garden route. 

•	 Biannual water-bird surveys in the wilderness lakes.

•	 Water quality surveys in the swartvlei and wilderness lake system.

•	 River flow and health in kruger resulting in applied water restrictions.

•	 Aerial survey of buffalo and elephant in kruger - with 17 300 elephants recorded. 
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•	 large tree surveys in the gallery forest along the limpopo river in Mapungubwe. 

•	 Plant species of special concern in Namaqua. 

•	 The first rocky shore biodiversity survey in Namaqua as part of the national rocky shore monitoring programme. 

•	 Sedimentation from runoff plots in tokai.

•	 Vegetation condition in Tankwa Karoo.

Cultural heritage management

The State of Conservation Report for Mapungubwe and the nomination dossier for the Khomani Cultural Landscape were both submitted to and received by 
UNESCO. The restoring, rehabilitating and stabilising of the Thulamela Cultural Heritage site was completed. This consisted of the reconstruction of 24 sections 
of wall of 43m and an average height of 1,6m. The site has been nominated for National Heritage Status. The K2 cultural heritage site in Mapungubwe National 
Park was rehabilitated. The restoration of dry stonewalls at the Bambandhlanalo site in Mapungubwe was also completed as part of the Vele Colliery Offset 
Programme. A Cultural Heritage survey and database was completed for Mokala National Park whilst a preliminary survey was completed for Addo Elephant 
National Park. The guidelines for Burials and Scattering of Ashes in National Parks, the Heritage Management Policy as well as the Collections Management 
Policy were reviewed and approved.

.
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2.6 Tourism Development and Marketing Report

Business Development & Public Private Partnerships (PPPs)  

Strategic Plan for Commercialisation Implementation

Since 2000, Public Private Partnerships (PPPs) in South Africa have been regulated by the PFMA providing a clear and transparent framework for government 
and its private sector partners to enter into mutually beneficial commercial transactions for the public good. Over the past 15 years, SANParks has progressively 
increased the number of PPP transactions covering a wide range of projects including accommodation, restaurants, retail, activities, and an airport and the 
Table Mountain Aerial Cableway. By March 2016, there were more than 40 PPP projects actively implemented.

The increasing number of PPP projects attests to the growing body of experience related to PPPs, both within SANParks and across the private sector. There 
have been some key lessons over the years. SANParks accordingly developed the Strategic Plan for Commercialisation (SPfC), which is a significant element 
of SANParks’ Nature-based Responsible Tourism pillar. It has as its objective (through the implementation of Public Private Partnerships) reducing the cost of 
delivery, improving service levels by focusing on core business, leveraging private capital and expertise, the objective of expansion of tourism products and 
the generation of additional revenue for the funding of conservation and constituency building.

Other high-level commercialisation objectives for SANParks include any or all of the following: revenue generation, loss minimisation or savings on existing 
operations, optimal use of under-performing assets, job creation and poverty alleviation, BBBEE, infrastructure upgrades, upgrade/development of historical 
and/or cultural sites, tourism promotion and further biodiversity protection and conservation.

An additional objective of the SPfC is to ensure an institutional understanding of the PPP imperatives and that SANParks has the fundamentals, including 
capacity, in place for managing existing PPPs and for successfully entering into new PPPs.

PPPs in SANParks have proved to be an important service delivery mechanism. In each SANParks’ PPP project, a BBBEE Scorecard sets targets for the private party 
to promote direct ownership of substantial interests. Preference is given to black people, black women and black enterprises to achieve effective participation 
in the management control of the private party and its subcontractors. The partnerships also seek to promote positive local socio-economic impact from the 
project to the benefit of SMMEs, people with disabilities, the youth and non-governmental organisations within a targeted area of the project’ operations. More 
specifically, the implementation of the SPfC has resulted in the creation of 1 946 permanent jobs and local SMME spend of R57 million per annum.

The SPfC is aligned to the National Development Plan (NDP), SANParks Responsible Tourism Strategy 2022, the National Tourism Sector Strategy, the National 
Minimum Standards for Responsible Tourism (SANS1162), the SANParks Responsible Tourism Policy, the SANParks Product Development Protocol, the 
SANParks Management Plans and the SANParks Responsible Tourism Product Framework and their respective objectives. The SPfC also reflects a checklist for 
all commercial opportunities identified, thereby re-introducing PPPs as a Key Strategic Objective of SANParks for the next five years. The initial checklist for 
identified projects also falls within the structure of the SANParks’ Responsible Tourism Product Framework.

A significant development is the incorporation of Tourism Product Development into the successful PPP Portfolio. The requirement for increased revenue 
generation and defined processes for non-PPP products resulted in Tourism Product Development being positioned in the Business Development Unit. Grant 
funded Tourism Product Development will now follow stringent feasibility and prioritisation processes. This inclusion is incorporated into the updated SPfC. In 
the coming years the capability for such non-PPP Tourism Product Development will be increased.

During 2015/2016, there was substantial progress in the implementation of the SPfC and other Business Development Projects with emphasis placed on:

•	 Tender process and award of the Tshokwane and Afsaal picnic sites to Private Operators: Operations are to commence in 2016/2017. The tender 
comprised a model whereby the equity and operations are transferred to identified land claimants over the duration of the project term and is ground-
breaking in this regard.

•	 Tender process conducted for the Skukuza SPA product: Evaluation, award and operation commencement to occur in 2016/2017.
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•	 Significant progress was made with the Malelane Safari Lodge in the Kruger National Park with the Record of Decision issued by the Department of 
Environmental Affairs.

•	 Refurbishment of the Berg en Dal, Pretoriuskop and Skukuza Retail Facilities were concluded and includes various environmental friendly initiatives 
i.e. use of natural light, use of recycled material for shelving, consolidation of the cooling equipment emissions and installation of low energy use air 
conditioners.

•	 Substantial progress was made on the Phalaborwa Activity Hub and Shangoni Gate Projects. The funding was secured and detail planning of both 
projects is in progress and will be followed by construction after all approvals and stakeholder buy-in is received.

•	 Significant progress was made with the finalisation of the Stage 3 Design Report and the Principle Building Contractor tender documentation for the 
Skukuza Conference Lodge in the KNP.

•	 The conclusion of the Tokai Stables lease in the Table Mountain National Park.

•	 Conclusion of the Tsitsikamma Zipline PPP Tender in the Garden Route National Park.

•	 The finalisation of the Dolphin Trail Agreement in the Tsitsikamma Section of the Garden Route National Park. 

•	 Auob Lodge – Agreement with the Khomani San community on the principles of the profit-share agreement with SANParks. 

•	 Post-award management of PPPs – significant progress has been made with the variation management of PPPs. This includes continued negotiations 
with the Roundhouse Restaurant in Table Mountain National Park and the Mugg & Bean restaurant facilities in the Satara, Letaba and Olifants rest camps 
in the Kruger National Park. Variation Management now includes assessment for compliance to the Matrix of Understanding for the Restaurant and Retail 
Public Private Partner facilities and close out report checklists for projects awarded to private operators. 

During the financial year 2016/2017, the following Tourism Products will be developed as per project plan:

Non-PPP Tourism Product Development:

•	 Skukuza Safari Lodge Kruger National Park: conclusionof the tender process for the appointment of the Principle Building Contractor site handover and 
commencement of construction.

•	 Conclusion of the 12 units at Nguni Camp in the Addo Elephant National Park.

•	 Completion of the 10 units and 10 new campsites at Nossob Camp in the Kgalagadi Transfrontier Park.

•	 Completion of 10 new units at Mountain Zebra National Park.

PPP Tourism Product Development:

•	 An accommodation product on the Selati bridge (in train coaches) together with the restaurant precinct to service the guests on the train and camp 
guests.

•	 A tented Wilderness camp at the Nkuhlu Picnic Site.

•	 Development of the Bush Braai product at the Crocodile Bridge Gate, Phabeni Gate and Phalaborwa Gate of the Kruger National Park.

•	 The commencement of construction of the Malelane Safari Lodge.

•	 The appointment of an operator for the Wilderness Segways in the Wilderness Section of the Garden Route National Park.

•	 Appointment of an operator for the Rietfontein Camp in the Agulhas National Park.

•	 Implementation of the Tsitsikamma Big Tree Activity Hub in the Tsitsikamma Section of the Garden Route National Park.

•	 Appointment of an operator for the Ratelrivier Estate in the Agulhas National Park.

•	 The Kranshoek Zipline PPP opportunity in the Knysna Section of the Garden Route National Park.

•	 The development of the Agulhas Lighthouse Precinct Development.

•	 Investigation into Table Mountain National Parks PPP opportunities i.e. Tokai Precinct Development, Groote Schuur Old Zoo Site, Apostle Battery,  
Boulders and Signal Hill.
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Summary Net PPP Income

Since inception up to 31 March 2016  in addition to infrastructural developments worth over R755 million with the assets reverting to SANParks  commercialisation, 
has resulted in a total PPP Income of R 817 million to SANParks as follows:

SUMMARY NET PPP INCOME

LIFE-TO-DATE 

(2002 TO 2016)
 MARCH 2016 MARCH 2015

TMACC- TMNP 207 930 478 31 107 904 22 215 590

The Park Shops - Kruger 211 426 263 24 283 057 21 568 414

Singita Lebombo - Kruger 96 909 075 7 666 744 8 279 475

Cape Point Lease - TMNP 8 565 647 4 175 333 2 345 328

Tinga Private Game Lodge - Kruger 26 236 953 3 503 288 2 723 176

Imbali Safari Lodge - Kruger 19 521 596 2 807 529 2 495 458

Shishangeni Lodge - Kruger 26 149 285 2 665 807 2 537 742

Jock Safari Lodge - Kruger 20 550 776 2 448 388 2 002 321

Cattle Baron Restaurant Skukuza - Kruger 3 361 769 1 975 205 1 386 564

The Park Shop - Addo 25 623 038 1 937 958 1 770 337

Lukimbi Safari Lodge - Kruger 10 072 644 1 899 225 1 672 030

Mugg & Bean Restaurant Lower Sabie - Kruger 3 054 867 1 579 880 1 417 856

Gorah Elephant Camp - Addo 10 819 405 1 357 128 1 234 238

The Park Shop - Tsitsikamma 20 566 152 1 151 368 987 257

Marakele (Pty) Ltd - Marakele 8 105 479 1 138 102 877 163

Cattle Baron Seafood Restaurant - Tsitsikamma 2 038 410 1 108 470 929 940

Mugg and Bean/Debonairs Restaurant Satara - Kruger 1 843 912 994 124 849 788

Cattle Baron Restaurant - Addo 1 879 773 974 038 905 735

Knysna Forestry 1 553 914 815 654 738 260

Rhodes Memorial Tearoom- TMNP 3 275 395 788 527 693 941

River Bend Country Lodge- Addo 3 493 046 782 804 552 430

Skukuza Airport Management Company - Kruger 1 470 089 782 589 687 500

Rhino Walking Safaris - Kruger 4 978 336 669 150 580 166
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SUMMARY NET PPP INCOME

LIFE-TO-DATE 

(2002 TO 2016)
 MARCH 2016 MARCH 2015

Quay 4 Restaurant - Knysna 3 332 390 639 292 663 101

Mugg and Bean Restaurant Letaba - Kruger 997 066 611 477 385 589

Tintswalo Atlantic Lodge - TMNP 2 741 684 583 202 415 591

Tsitsikamma Forest Income (Various Operators) 3 870 947 583 200 1 127 719

Mugg and Bean Restaurant Olifants - Kruger 930 306 566 550 363 756

Select Events Restaurant Berg en Dal - Kruger 917 656 431 923 374 113

Absailing - TMNP 666 202 412 009 137 420

Quivertree Shop & Restaurant- Augrabies 1 308 832 409 286 415 350

Wimpy Restaurant Pretoriuskop - Kruger 681 793 376 893 304 900

Tindlovu Restaurant Mopani - Kruger 1 123 041 338 059 376 629

Untouched Adventures - Tsitsikamma 985 431 331 769 236 501

Salt & Pepper Shop & Restaurant - Karoo 2 404 832 269 446 245 986

!Xaus Lodge - Kgalagadi 601 971 258 459 -2 222

Kraalbaai Houseboats - West Coast 231 815 188 876 42 939

Duinepos Chalets - West Coast 619 244 185 227 78 424

Roundhouse Restaurant - TMNP 2 407 625 185 088 521 482

Geelbek Restaurant - West Coast 834 706 88 188 37 557

Segway Bike Tours - Wilderness 54 314 50 786 3 528

Avis Rentals - Kruger 735 154 45 087 26 229

Lighthouse Tearoom - Agulhas 40 338 40 338  0

Gannaka Lodge - Tankwa 89 331 28 340 10 000

Canoe Trails - Augrabies 85 623 12 500 14 868

Kuzuko Safaris Lodge - Addo 1 618 752 0 59 496
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SUMMARY NET PPP INCOME

LIFE-TO-DATE 

(2002 TO 2016)
 MARCH 2016 MARCH 2015

Brandwag Hotel - Golden Gate 4 317 280 0 0

Nyati Concession - Addo 3 876 789 0 0

Langebaan Houseboats - West Coast 1 926 179 0 32 306

Knysna Oyster Company - Knysna 1 039 767 0 0

Eden Adventure Canoe Trails - Wilderness 561 389 0 28 176

Eden Adventure Canoe Trails - Wilderness 460 890 0 0

Listers Arboretum Tea Room - TMNP 219 908 0 83 374

Darlington Lodge - Addo 175 000 0 0

Intsomi Lodge - Addo 46 285 0 0

Farleigh Tearoom 16 200 0 0

Compass Game Park Services Restaurants - Kruger 46 272 060 0 0

EJ Viljoen Shops & Restaurants - Kgalagadi 5 386 056 0 0

EJ Viljoen Shop & Restaurant - Augrabies 3 093 487 0 0

Stoffels and Pursad Staff Shop - Kruger - 1 353 421 0 0

The Park Shop & Restaurant - Mountain Zebra 1 286 098 0 0

Outpost Picnics Tshokwane & Nkuhlu - Kruger 622 578 0 0

Tindlovu Boskombuis Skukuza - Kruger 46 069 0 46 069

Goudveld Tea Room - Knysna 30 560 0 23 360

TOTAL PPP INCOME 817 435 371 103 248 267 85 502 951

 

PPP Income depicted below are contracts that have 
ended thus reflecting Zero Income as at 31 March 2016
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% OF TOTAL PPP INCOME 2015/16

Concession Lodge 30% Restaurant & Retail  36% Cape Point & TMACC 34%

Concession Lodge Occupancies

The average annual Lodge Concession occupancies have shown an increase of 2% to 61,9% since the previous reporting period. This is an indication that 
despite a slowdown in the domestic economy, the country has become a high quality and value for money travel destination for international tourists when 
compared to other similar destinations due to the attractive exchange rate. The highest average occupancy achieved by an operator was 77% in 2016 as 
opposed to 81% in 2015, 76% in 2014, 66% in 2013, 57% in 2012 and 56% in 2011. 

Restaurant Performance

The outsourced restaurant models, whereby franchised brands were introduced, continue to perform very well. The table below provides an overview of 
performance based on customer satisfaction ratings. It is evident that customer satisfaction has improved in 2015/16 in comparison to 2014/15, On average 
the satisfaction ratings per restaurant improved by 2,58% up to 79,19% from 76,62. Contractually the restaurants need to achieve a score above 70%. The toned 
down branding of the restaurants have been well accepted by the public and feedback is generally very positive.
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Retail Performance

The outsourced retail operations continue to perform well, Variation management is focused on fresh produce and pricing (basket sample) to ensure value for 
money to SANParks customers. A customer satisfaction increase of 2,60% (up to 76,88% from 74,28%) was achieved which is well above the contractual 70% 
set for the retail operations.

Various shops were refurbished over the last financial year with positive feedback from customers. The key focus areas that were addressed, such as freshness 
of vegetables and greater variety in product range with associated pricing options, contributed to the increased customer satisfaction.

Performance of Restaurant & Retail operations under Management Agreement

There has been an  improvement in customer satisfaction for the restaurant & retail operations under management agreement is depicted in the graph below, 
An average improvement of 4,14% was experienced (up from 73,95% to 78,09%) and could be contributed to the maturity of the Management Agreement,  
which was into its second year as opposed to 2014/15 when the model was introduced.

Sales and Marketing

Sales Distribution by Channel

The maintenance of various distribution channels is essential in ensuring the availability of SANParks products and services to potential clients wherever they 
may be located worldwide. Online sales through SANParks’ website continue to grow, claiming a 40% share of revenue at the end of the 2015/16 financial 
year. The listing of Golden Gate Hotel and Chalets on Booking.com Expedia and other online inventory sales portals, has also ensured 365/24/7 availability 
of products to most potential clients. The sales through satellite offices continue to decline as more efficiency is introduced in the Central Reservations Call 
Centre. The enabling of more products e.g. day and overnight activities to be sold online, will improve future tourism revenue.
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Customer Satisfaction Index

2014/15 Actuals Annual Target 2015/16 Actuals

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar TYD-Avarage

79,8% 78,7% 79,9% 79,7% 80,0% 80,7% 80,5% 81,1% 81,6% 81,3% 81,8% 80,5%

81,7% 81,6% 82,2% 81,1% 81,8% 82,0% 82,2% 82,1% 82,3% 82,4%

81,4%

82,2% 82,2% 82,1%
82,0%

60,0%

65,0%

70,0%

75,0%

80,0%

85,0%

2,9% Groups and Conferences

SANParks Client Types Relative Contributions to Revenue from 
Accommodation, Camping, Activities and Conference Venues

8,6% Travel Trade-Other

1,2% Travel Trade-Wed

41,1% Public-Other

14,6%

31,5%

Travel Trade Satellite o�ce Web Reservations Call centre Front O�ce Specialised Reservations
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Upbeat Call Centre Performance

The call centre used to be the least performing channel, but the restructuring of the unit, the technology refresh and the review of contractual trading 
conditions with the satellite offices, have brought a complete turn-around. As a reflection of the turnaround, the Call Centre generated R118,4 million in 
revenue, which is a 34% growth year-on-year (YOY) and a  healthy 10% above what the satellite offices generated. This feat has not been achieved in more than 
five years. More revenue growth is expected from the Call Centre over the next few years as new ways of attracting business are introduced.

Consumer Promotions and Park Events

Product promotion directly to the consumers and hosting of events that attract participants and customers from all walks of life, contributed to filling available 
beds and exposing more people to the parks. Successful examples include the annual Marakele National Park and Skukuza half-marathons and the fifth Golden 
Gate Extreme Challenge which took place in October 2015. The Golden Gate Extreme challenge is a multi-day trail running event organised in collaboration 
with Wildlands Conservation Trust and SANParks Honorary Rangers. Since 2011, the event has raised over a hundred thousand rand annually for park specific 
conservation projects that include the bearded vulture conservation. Every year the event has succeeded in filling every available bed in the park thus 
improving tourism revenue and occupancies. The Clarens Craft Beer Festival has also become one of the busiest weekends of the year for Golden Gate 
Highlands National Park. Subsequent to the resounding success of the third Clarens Craft Beer Festival in 2013, the organisers decided to invite Golden Gate 
as one of the Gold partners to the event. Benefits of this collaboration are the creation of brand awareness and attraction of more visitors to the park. In the 
coming years, more focus is going to be paid on leveraging events to improve parks tourism fortunes.

Business to Business Promotions

Product distribution through organised travel and tour operators remains critical in introducing new customers, particularly international tourists to parks. The 
marketing team participated in the annual Tourism Indaba and WTM Africa,  and for the fifth year organised the annual three cities SANParks Trade Roadshow 
to Johannesburg, Durban and Cape Town. These trade events provide an invaluable platform to showcase SANParks’ products and services and to sign up new 
tour operators and corporates.

Collaboration with National Department of Tourism 

SANParks participates in several Social Tourism Forums initiated by the National Department of Tourism (NDT). Social Tourism is an initiative of NDT aimed 
to address the gaps identified in the Domestic Tourism Growth Strategy such as seasonality and uneven geographic spread. Through these initiatives, the 
department hopes to encourage a culture of travel for leisure amongst South Africans. The targeted groups for social tourism are youth, elderly, people living 
with disabilities, people with modest income and social/stokvel groups. The latter (stokvels) is targeted in particular as they have disposable income, which 
is rarely used for leisure travel purposes. Participants in Social Tourism Forums include South African Tourism provincial marketing authorities and agencies, 
associations, municipalities, accommodation establishments, transport companies, tour operators and other local attractions.

SANParks also participated in IBSA Workshop, a three-way partnership between South Africa, Brazil and India. In this partnership, South Africa is meant to 
champion Eco-tourism issues, Brazil champions Beach Tourism and India will champion Rural Tourism. During the workshop, SANParks presented the National 
Parks System covering key functional areas of Conservation, Tourism and Community Beneficiation.

Tourism Statistics

The following significant differences are relevant to the 2015/16 tourism performance figures, which will impact comparisons to the previous year.

•	 The Larus Houseboat at West Coast National Park was out of commission between May and December 2014. Since then, it has been operating under a 
concession agreement, and is not included in West Coast National Park’s occupancy figures.

•	 Huge sections of the Table Mountain National Park suffered considerable fire damage early in March 2015 preventing tourists’ access to these areas.

•	 The Langebos Huts in the Alexandria section of Addo Elephant National Park are included in the statistical reporting effective from April 2015.
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•	 Trailists participating in the Lonely Bull Backpack Trail in the Kruger National Park are included in the activity statistics of Mopani and not Shimuwini 
effective from April 2015.  

•	 Tented accommodation at Bontle Camp in Marakele National Park came into commission in July 2015. 

•	 The 2015/16 financial year had two Easter Weekends – one in the first quarter (April 2015) and the second in the fourth quarter (March 2016).

Guests to National Parks

For the period under review, total Guests to Parks increased by 6,1% from 5 578 532 to 5 917 741 persons through SANParks gates. For Kruger the number 
increased by 6,5% from 1 659 793 to 1 767 218 and for Parks the number increased by 5,9% from 3 918 739 to 4 150 523 persons. 

Black South African Guests

For the 12 month period, total Black guests increased by 9,5% from 506 273 to 554 565 comprising an increase of 9,2% from 465 689 to 508 744 in Day Visitors 
and an increase of 12,9% from 40 584 to 45 821 in Overnight Guests.

Black guests comprise 31,8% (previous year 32,1%) of Total South African Day Visitors and 8,7% (previous year 8,0%) of Total South African Overnight Guests.The 
total Black guests (day visitor and overnight) comprise 26,1% (previous year 25,9%) of Total South African Guests.

Note: Due to the way in which the South African demographic figures are collected and captured, SANParks is aware and accepts that there may be a small 
margin of error involved and that these figures may not be 100% accurate. This does not diminish the value of these measurements in indicating trends in Park 
visitation by South Africans. Please note that the Table Mountain and West Coast National Parks are excluded from reporting of this category, as demographics 
information is not captured there.

Accommodation Occupancy

Accommodation Unit Nights Sold increased by 3,5% to 571 362 in 2015/16. The average Unit Occupancy for the 12 month period was 73,4% (last year 72,1%) 
comprising 61,0% (last year 60,5%) for Parks Division and 80,5% (last year 78,7%) for Kruger Division.

Accommodation Bed Nights Sold increased by 2,9% to 1 354 639 in 2015/16. Bed Occupancy for the 12 month period across all national parks averaged 57,4% 
(last year 56,6%) comprising 47,7% (last year 47,3%) for Parks Division and 62,8% (last year 61,8%) for Kruger Division.

Camping

For the year under review, Campsites Occupancy (sites occupied as a margin of sites available) increased by 2,0 percentage points from 48,0% to 50,0%. In the 
case of Parks Division, Campsites Occupancy improved by 2,2 percentage points from 33,0% to 35,2%  while Kruger Division increased by 1,6 percentage points 
from 66,9% to 68,5%. Camping Site Nights Sold for the organisation as a whole improved by 3,7% to 263 558 while Camping Person Nights Sold is up by 4,2% 
to 733 251 person-nights recorded in the 2015/16 financial year.

Guided Activities

For the 12 months under review, the Activity statistics show an overall increase of 4,9% from 247 313 to 259 521 activity seats occupied across SANParks with 
Kruger showing an increase of 7,0% to 177 486 activity seats sold and Parks showing an increase of 0,6% to 82 035 activity seats sold. A total of 68,4% of all 
SANParks activities were performed in the Kruger National Park.
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SUMMARY OF VISITOR STATISTICS FOR THE 12 MONTHS ENDED MARCH 2016 FOR THE SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL PARKS
Accommodation (excl camping) Camping

PARK
Unit Nights 

Sold

Unit 

Occupancy

Bed Nights 

Sold

Bed 

Occupancy

Site Night 

Sold

Campsites 

Occupancy

Person Night 

Sold

Guests To 

Park

Total 

Activities

Addo 28 118 88,1 % 63 035 70,5 % 9 945 82,3 % 26 156 231 464 30 117

Agulhas 3 494 39,5 % 9 086 33.1 % Not Applicable 32 325 Not Applicable

Augrabies 9 093 42,1 % 19 357 38,9 % 5 027 27,5 % 14 677 69 894 1 481

Bontebok 2 494 86,7 % 6 397 36,9 % 2 548 22,5 % 7 287 19 553 0

Camdeboo 875 60,6 % 1 669 57,8 % 2 438 44,7 % 5 838 42 617 Not Applicable

Garden Route 32 110 61,1 % 75 139 50,2 % 26 029 21,8 % 77 879 442 799 14 947

Golden Gate 22 365 41,2 % 49 084 31,3 % 5 157 31,3 % 14 019 58 665 550

Karoo 10 470 75,6 % 25 776 51,3 % 6 503 68,3 % 16 414 40 548 1 445

Kgalagadi 31 624 89,5 % 72 575 69,4 % 22 188 75,1 % 64 242 44 211 5 854

Kruger 396 909 80,5 % 949 725 62,8 % 60 198 68,5 % 440 640 1 767 218 177 486

Marakele 3 947 58,7 % 9 129 42,5 % 5 865 44,5 % 15 767 24 475 1 624

Mapungubwe 5 678 49,4 % 12 661 45,5 % 2 148 58,7 % 5 871 39 259 20 790

Mokala 7 090 63,3 % 15 349 50,0 % 1 908 47,4 % 4 812 17 182 879

Mountain Zebra 6 766 81,7 % 17 762 47,3 % 4 584 55,7 % 11 472 26 853 2 273

Namaqua 902 49,3 % 1 998 30,4 % 3 408 20,6 % 10 472 21 228 Not Applicable

Richtersveld 2 100 32,1 % 4 590 28,7 % 4 233 20,7 % 13 913 6 989 88

Table Mountain 4 149 42,1 % 11 871 34,5 % Not Applicable 2 749 892 958

Tankwa Karoo 2 629 61,1 % 7 383 33,8 % 1 379 27,0 % 3 525 5 814 Not Applicable

West Coast 549 78,2 % 2 053 41.6 % Not Applicable 276 755 1 029

TOTAL 2015/16 571 362 73,4% 1 354 639 57,4% 263 558 50,0% 733 251 5 917 741 259 521
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Tourism Standards

Customer Service

i. Customer Satisfaction Index

The overall Customer Satisfaction Index (CSI) score for the first quarter improved by 1,6 percentage points from 80,5% to 82,1% when compared to the same 
period in the previous financial year and 0,1% above the annual target of 82,0%. This is based on 50 765 Guest Feedback survey returns of 176 995 invites sent 
to overnight guest, which is a 28,7% return rate.

All SANParks service areas have shown an improvement in performance when compared to the same period last year. Reservations achieved the highest rating 
scoring of 88,6%. Shopping achieving the lowest rating scoring of 75,8%, having said that both Dining and Shopping have shown highest improvement with 
2,8% improvement when compared to the same period last year.

ii. Performance Area Chart

For the period under review all service area touch points have shown an improvement when compared to the same period last year. It must; however, be 
indicated that Shopping has achieved the lowest score achieving 75,8% with pricing being an area that require improvement. On the other hand Reservations 
has obtained the highest score achieving 88,6% with customer service being the strongest point; however, guest information is an area that requires 
improvement. 

iii. Site Trend Analysis

For the period under review, Marula Region in the Kruger National Park has shown the highest improvement, achieving +2,6 percentage points improvement 
(from 78,6% to 81,2%). It must also be highlighted that all areas have shown an improvement when compared to the same period last year excluding the 
Northern Region, which has dropped by 0,9 percentage points (from 78,4% to 77,5%). The Cape Region has shown the highest overall score achieving 85,1% 
and the Northern Region the lowest score achieving 77,5%. The drop in Northern Region’s performance is mainly attributed to Shopping Experience decline 
in performance by 2,3 percentage points (from 54,8% to 52,5%). The grocery and curio assortment areas require serious improvement having achieved 40,9% 
and 41,0% respectively.

iv. Guest Comments Sentiment Summary

To date, 12 760 comments were tagged 66% negative and 34% positive. The negative comments margin has decreased by three percentage points when 
compared to the same period last year (from 69% to 66%). It is important for the SANParks management to take these comments seriously and address the 
issues raised accordingly. By doing so, it will have positive impact on service delivery and eventually improve revenue and occupancy.

V. Overall Guest Comments Analysis

The following chart reflects that Accommodation needs serious management intervention to improve service delivery. Other areas showing significant 
negative comments include Management and Shopping. Reception has shown highest overall positive comments achieving 19% followed by Reservations 
at 15%.
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Overall Comments Summary Analysis for 12 Months Ended 31 March 2016
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Tourism Systems

SANParks celebrated the 11th anniversary of its Central Reservation & Property Management System (the customised version of RoomSeeker) in June 2015.

The system is used to manage all SANParks’ reservations, itineraries and activities related to the management of properties and related finances. The software 
solution has on average 555 active users with a database that takes care of 83 rest camps comprising 2 094 accommodation units with 6 478 beds in 75 rest 
camps and 1 482 campsites in 39 rest camps across 21 national parks with ease and efficiency.

During 2015/16, RoomSeeker supported the processing of payments worth over R314 313 656,06 made through SANParks Online Booking System. Transcations 
worth R1 122 404 182,07 were processed through SANParks Reservation Offices, External Reservation Offices and Front Offices in the parks. These payments 
include those in lieu of reservation deposits for accommodation, camping, activities, conservation fees, wild card sales and the purchasing of fuel and other 
goods at parks.

The amount invested during 2015/16 in system enhancements to improve the quality and security of the solution and to improve the customer experience 
was R1 240 495,74 , which included the following:

•	 Bringing Online Reservations Payments into the ‘3D Secure’ compliant environment.

•	 Interfacing with MyGate payment gateway for online purchasing and as a result also converted to a new platform i.e. Bic ISO with SANParks Bankers.

•	 Implementing a web-based functionality to monitor completeness of processes between online systems enabling daily credit card reconciliations to 
pro-actively address anomalies.

•	 Introduce additional online functionality allowing web clients to:
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	- Book “Overnight activities” 

	- Book “Day Visits” to Kruger National Park in advance

•	 Adding Barcodes on RoomSeeker’s Gate Entry and Exit Permits for the new ‘Intensive Protective Zone project, which is still to be implemented. 

•	 Other changes involve cosmetic changes on reservation letters and other reports on development of Stored Procedures for reporting purposes, 
provision of additional data fields to provide for capturing of slip numbers printed from stand alone credit card devices to assist in daily reconciliation, 
and for refund purposes implementing pre-selected bank branch codes setups as opposed to manual insert of branch codes and thus eliminating 
incorrect data.

Universally Accessible Tourism in SANParks

In April 2015, SANParks in conjunction with Rolling Inspiration (a lifestyle publication for people living with mobility impairment) published a Comprehensive 
Guide to Universal Access in South African National Parks for guests with disabilities. The booklet outlines accessibility features and attractions on a park-by-park 
basis, gives useful information to people with disabilities to book and visit the parks. It was also made available in electronic format on the SANParks website 
and as a smart phone application. Other important promotional work was done through SANParks participation at the first Disability EXPO and Conference 
held in Cape Town (similar event has been held in Gauteng since 2005 at which SANParks has always been involved).

The Universal Access in Tourism Protocol was signed by the SANParks Chief Executive Officer and loaded onto the Policy Portal during June 2015 and now 
compliments the accompanying Standards Guidelines and Implementation Plan on the Tourism Standards Portal.

SANParks, in conjunction with the SANParks Honorary Rangers, continued to host school groups for learners with disabilities, with the 2015 focus on deaf school 
children. The challenges from a hospitality perspective in communication were highlighted by these encounters. Universal Access Audits were conducted in 
Kgalagadi Transfrontier, Marakele, Mountain Zebra and Kruger National Parks as part of the responsible tourism planning process.

Avi-Tourism

Tourism revolving around the desire to hear, observe, record and/or photograph birds is a significant part of the public’s reasons for visiting national parks. 
Much of it is ad-hoc, but it is often coordinated. Birding event weekends were hosted in several parks by SANParks and SANParks Honorary Rangers during 
2015/16 with Kruger National Park hosting such weekends for the 18th consecutive year, with nine camps being involved, some over multiple weekends. These 
events have important fund-raising significance, boost camp occupancies but also lead to collateral tourism benefit in the affected parks through extension 
of stays and use of amenities and participation in activities unrelated to the weekend events. Crucially, the birding events are always held in traditional 
trough periods outside school holidays. They also enable tourists to contribute to research through citizen-science and make their visits beneficial from a data 
collection perspective.

Birders are a passionate and information hungry group. Social media, websites and other communication links are also used by SANParks to broadcast the 
presence of rare birds in the parks. During the 2015/16 financial year, hundreds of postings about rare bird sightings were processed by SANParks Tourism and 
some could be traced to a noticeable spike in gate numbers over the period when rare species were in temporary residence in accessible locations within the 
parks.

Visitor Management and Interpretation and Tourism Research

A key element in the delivery of the 2022 Responsible Tourism Strategy is the enhanced focus on Tourism Research, Visitor Management and Interpretation.

Visitor Interpretation

During the year under review the following have been achieved:
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•	 Visitor Interpretation plans were written for Marakele, Tankwa Karoo National Parks and the Boulders Penguins Interpretation Site in Table Mountain 
National Park.

•	 The Albasini Ruins/Magashulu’s Kraal Interpretation Site in Kruger National Park underwent maintenance and Interpretation Display Centre was 
constructed.

•	 The history of the site was researched and display panels were created,  which will be erected in the next financial year. 

•	 Campfire safety signage was developed for Kruger National Park and SANParks’ Signage Guidelines were written and approved by Executive Committee.

•	 A R10-million donation of trophy animals was received from the estate of the late Mr Ronnie Meyeridricks. It is planned to develop a natural history 
museum in or adjacent to Kruger National Park to house the trophies.

•	 Progress was made on the story line of the Dinosaur Centre in Golden Gate Highlands National Park with some modifications required to the architecture.

•	 An oral history project was launched in West Coast National Park, which will be transferred into a book on the park and its environment.

•	 New signage for the areas adjacent to the Stevenson Hamilton Museum in Skukuza in Kruger National Park was developed. 

•	 An Interpretation workshop was held in the Garden Route National Park, which will see the development of an Interpretation Plan for the park in the 
New Year.  

•	 The Kruger Orientation Course was updated and rewritten.  

•	 SANParks assisted DEA to develop a film documentary to showcase the People and Parks’  successes in South Africa as part of the legacy projects for 
CITES COP 2016. 

•	 A successful International Tourist Guide conference was hosted by SANParks and the National Department of Tourism in Skukuza attended by 250 guides.  

•	 The final layout and design for the Letaba Elephant Hall was developed and approved. The panels will be printed in Australia and shipped to Kruger in 
February 2017.  This project is a joint project with the University of Sunshine Coast in Australia.

Visitor Management

A problem-animal communication plan was developed for Kruger National Park. Lectures on Visitor Management were presented at the University of North 
West to Honours students. The National Department of Tourism was assisted in developing regulations for Tourist Guides operating in South Africa. Visitor 
Management Guidelines and a Visitor Management Framework for all parks were developed and approved.

Tourism Research

In the year under review, Tourism Research strengthened its relationships with existing partners and expanded its network by inviting institutions and industry 
partners, with limited previous involvement with SANParks, to participate in tourism research. The past year has also seen the implementation of the Tourism 
Research Agenda for the period 2015 – 2018 gain momentum with the majority of projects executed addressing critical tourism development and tourism 
management objectives. A Tourism Research Protocol was developed and approved.

SANParks engaged the University of Pretoria to conduct an exploratory study measuring the impact of rhino-poaching on tourism from a tourist perspective. 
The project funded by the Global Environmental Facility under the United Nations Environment Programme and supported by the DEA and Ezemvelo KZN 
wildlife involved feedback from tourists from both Kruger National Park and Hluhluwe-iMfolozi Park.

SANParks further collaborated with various institutions in the execution of numerous academic studies, one of which developed and tested a customer 
satisfaction index for the South African accommodation sector.  Another study of note measured the impact of the reintroduction of iconic animals in national 
parks on tourists’ visitation patterns. Visitor surveys were conducted in Table Mountain National Park.
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Projects involving marketing analysis and exploration of possible activities were concluded by the North West University in the following parks: Camdeboo, 
Golden Gate Highlands, Karoo, Mountain Zebra, West Coast National Parks and northern region of Kruger National Park. 

An additional five internal projects evaluated tourists’ perspectives on key tourism developments and interpretation plans for parks such as Kruger and Tankwa 
Karoo National Parks.

Wild Card

The Wild Card Programme revenue increased sales by 13,6% with an annual turnover of R81 895 681 for the financial year; a first time over R80 million. The 
previous year Wild Card Membership sales were R72 119 681. 

Active membership increased by 2 648 from 83 264 memberships to 85 912. To date 185 056 new Wild Cards were created and issued, 24 885 in this financial 
year. Uncollected Wild Cards amounted to 3 426 and were returned by the SA Post Office, while 3 708 cards were re-mailed. The Wild Card Service Centre 
received 32 907 calls with an excellent abandonment rate of only 2% (below the 10% target). Email queries increased by 38% from 23 948 to 33 059 while 33% 
email queries were resolved.

The Wild Card Membership demography for the year was 16,73% Individual membership, 57,78% Couple membership and 25,49% Family membership. The All 
Parks and SANParks Clusters remained the most popular at 68,04% and 20,22%.

Gauteng still has the highest membership with 31% followed by 25% members in the Western Cape. International membership consists of 13,41% and SADC 
membership is 0,54%. 

The Main Membership Ages were as follows:18 to 24: 3,67%, 25 to 34: 10,08%, 35 to 50: 30%, 51 to 59: 20,28% and 35,39% above 60 years of age. The main Wild 
Card Membership gender diversification was 27,70% female and 72,05% male. Only 0,25% of members did not indicate their gender. The Wild Card Membership 
Ethnicity comprised of 31,65% (African/Black/Coloured/Indian/Asian and other); 41,09% white while 27,26% members choose not to disclose their ethnicity.

Yield Management

For the 2015/16 financial year total revenue from SANParks’ Tourism business increased by 14,4% to R1 229 815 million from R1 079 699 million in the previous 
year. This is 6,1% above budgeted total of R1 158 545 million. 

•	 Revenue from accommodation (including camping) increased by 12% to R632,295 million.

•	 Revenue from conservation fees (including Wild Card) increased by 14% to R402,625 million.

•	 Revenue from activities increased by 14,0% to R78,640 million.

•	 Revenue from retail activities increased by 9,9% to R41,296 million.

•	 Revenue from the concession operators increased by 24,3% to R66,016 million.

•	 Revenue from the retail and food & beverage operators increased by 14,8% to R37,232 million.

•	 Revenue from the sundry sources and cancellation fees increased by 14% to R25,880 million.

Annual tariff increases that took effect on 1 November 2015 for the tariff year to 31 October 2016, averaged 6,0% for guided activities, 7,4% for conference 
facilities, 8,5% for accommodation and camping and 8,4% for conservation.

Average tariff increases of 5,7% for guided activities, 7,8% for conference facilities, 8,4% for conservation fees and 7,7% for accommodation and camping will 
come into effect on 1 November 2016, for the tariff year to 31 October 2017.

Accommodation unit nights taken up by senior South Africans declined by 1,5% in 2015/16 to 87 472 (15,3% of total sales) compared to the previous year. 
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However, revisions implemented resulted in income in this category from this market segment increasing by 6,7% over the course of the year to R91,3 million. 
For the same period, camping bookings from senior South Africans increased by 2,3% to 74 695 site nights (28,3% of total sales) with a total value of R16,2 
million an increase of 12% over the previous year. The combined increase in value from senior citizen reservations for accommodation and camping comes to 
7,5% and totals R107,5 million for 2015/16 (compared to R51 million in 2009 before the revised senior citizen discounts were effected).

Several short-notice discounts offered on distressed inventory at selected destinations yielded growth of over R320 000 in income from accommodation 
and conservation fees for the participating camps. In addition to working with camp and sales management on improved inventory management and the 
preparation of monthly, quarterly, annual and ad-hoc management reporting and business intelligence, the Revenue & Yield office played an integral part in 
the administration of various fund-raising initiatives of the SANParks Honorary Rangers and assisted with the gathering of information for colleagues working 

to combat environmental crime.
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Honorary Rangers

The year 2015 was a busy and challenging for the SANParks Honorary Rangers (SHR) that saw a several great new initiatives and considerable dedication and 
effort by members. All across the country and in every park one can see the fingerprints of SHR involvement making a positive contribution to the well-being 
of the parks. Be it a dustbin at a day visitor site, a vehicle on poaching patrol or a birding event in one of the parks, the SHR are making a difference.

The relationship with SANParks on all levels remains positive and the shared vision and relationship of trust enables the two bodies to work hand in glove to 
achieve common goals. The regions are an important part of the functioning of the SHR, and it was exciting to see younger regions develop and grow. Knysna 
region was established during 2015 and inaugurated at the 2016 AGM.

Some of the significant achievements for 2015 include:

Measurable Outcomes

1. Membership

Membership remained healthy despite the economic and social challenges experienced. At the end of the 2015 year there were 1 213 full members and a 
further 290 supporter members and approved applicants, bringing total numbers to 1 503, which is down from 1 686 the previous year.

Though such a decline is undesirable, the contribution statistics show that the loss in numbers did not reflect a decline in overall contribution. Systems aimed 
at preventing people from being a member without making a real contribution to the SANParks cause are bearing fruit.

2. Human Development Index  members

The Human Development Index (HDI) membership also declined from 169 to 129 full members. HDI supporter members and applicants total a further 47. With 
only 12% of members coming from a HDI background, the transformation challenge is a substantial one, and each region has been tasked with growing the 
involvement of HDI members on a regional level.

3. Environmental Education

Duties in the area of environmental education grew from 20 623 hours to 20 679 hours and a heavy investment in Junior Honorary Rangers is targeted for the 
next financial year.

4. Total Contribution to SANParks

4.1  Financial contribution: Total funds raised through fundraising activities was R16,936 million (2015 - R12,644 million). The cost of raising these funds 
has also increased to almost R8,3 million rand (2015 - R5,7 million).  

Net funds raised therefore was just below R11 million (2015 - R7,3 million), which is a significant increase. Of the R11 million, R5,6 million was generated through 
the SANParks Parks Wish List system.

4.2  In Kind contributions: Although difficult to quantify, there were numerous noteworthy in-kind contributions made throughout 2015.

4.3   Volunteer contribution: The most important contribution is arguably members’ voluntary contribution of time and skills. During the 2015 year 
members spent 221 411 hours (2014 - 200 426) and drove 2 372 197 km (2014 - 2 168 890) in support of SANParks. 
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CORPORATE SERVICES REPORT

Significantly, the average contribution of hours spent working for SANParks increased to 147 hours during 2015 (2014 – 117). This is a testament to the 
dedication of the members. It is also a clear indication that members understand that they are here to serve the SANParks cause and not simply to call 
themselves Honorary Rangers.

4.4  Funds available: Cash funds available in the SHR account and which have not yet been spent on supporting SANParks continues to grow. This year 
it is up to R17,3 million (2014 – R13 million). It is not desirable for a service-oriented organisation to have large amounts of money in trust, which is not 
being used to make a difference.

There are opportunities to spend the funds via the wish list system and the regions have been encouraged to utilise this opportunity during the new financial 
year.

4.5  Total Contribution: In order to place a value on total contribution to SANParks and in line with previous reports, members’ hours are valued at R150 
per hour and kilometers travelled at R3,94 per km.

•	 Hours spent by members total at the value of R33 211 683 (2014 – R30 063 900).

•	 Members’ travel is valued at R9 346 377 (2014 – R8 046 582).

•	 The financial contribution to SANParks was R5 616 624 (2014 – R5 550 911).

•	 This brings the Total Contribution for 2015 up by 10,34% to R48 174 684 (2014 - R43 661 393).

The success achieved by the SANParks Honorary Rangers during 2015 was the result of the cooperation amongst many people. Without the public, business 
community, sponsors and donors,  it would have been difficult to deliver the support needed. The SHR acknowledge abovementioned partners in support of 
national parks.
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 Malachite Bird Hide in Garden Route National Park
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2.7 Corporate Services Report

Corporate Communications 

South African National Parks has been receiving acceptable media exposure in the reporting period with most of the issues rated as being neutral/positive. 
In essence, for the period under review, SANParks media reputation rating (positive/neutral) was 99%. This is better performance considering the situation in 
regular media reports about the on-going rhino-poaching incidents in the Kruger National Park, which continuously receive both national and international 
media coverage. SANParks continues to be a voice to be reckoned with as far as the sourcing of credible information is concerned,  particularly on conservation 
and tourism related issues. 

For the reporting period, SANParks had 6 914 media clips with an Advertising Value Equivalent (AVE) of R213 387 568.

The organisation’s reputation has improved quite substantially due to the pro-activeness of reporting issues, including arrests of suspected rhino poachers in 
the Kruger National Park and reporting on various operational issues such as mitigation of drought in national parks and other issues of interest. To keep track 
of SANParks media relations, media reputation and to evaluate the reach of message, the organisation engaged the services of a media monitoring company.

A five-year partnership with Caxton Media Group now in its fourth year for the production of a quarterly newspaper has been going from strength to strength. 
SANParks Times is produced every quarter. The publication started with a circulation of 90 000 copies and it has since grown to about 160 000 copies. The 
agreement with Caxton Group has seen SANParks enjoying additional coverage in other Caxton owned magazines and has since recorded huge publicity 
amounting to an equivalence of about R36,6 million.  

The SANParks website continues to reach new heights year after year in supporting revenue generation, information dissemination and growing the 
ambassadors for SANParks. For the reporting period, E-business generated R314 million, of which R290 million were through on-line reservation – a 12% 
increase over the previous year’s R280 million made in bookings. The website further attracted 6,5 million visitor sessions during the year, nearly 40 million 
page views, and 2,5 million unique to the site. The social media platforms continue to play a critical role in providing access to customers and stakeholders with 
information pertaining to, amongst others, tourism, conservation and key issues within SANParks.

The annual SA National Parks Week (SANPW) programme received extensive media coverage in this reporting period with features on all national parks on 
SABC 2 Morning Live and number of commercial, regional and community radio stations throughout the country for the duration of the focus week on 
national parks. 

The annual Kudu Awards was hosted successfully and has again received financial support from First National Bank (FNB) and Total SA. The organisation 
also hosted a number of key events in support of conservation of rhino. These included the World Ranger Day, the Presidential visit and launch of the Joint 
Operations Centre in Kruger National Park by the State President and visit by Prince Harry in support of anti-rhino-poaching work.

Government Relations and Stakeholder Engagements 

SANParks continues to play a pivotal role in various key national and provincial government initiatives through the Working Group 12 (formerly Environmental 
Affairs Government Communicators Forum). The affairs of the Working Group include planning and hosting of strategic environmental events, which include 
programmes such as:

•	 World Rhino Day

•	 International Rangers Day

•	 World Environment Day

•	 International Biodiversity Day 
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Media Relations and Management 

SANParks media activities and relations for the year focused on South African National Parks Management such as: 

•	 End of the old Board tenure, appointment of the new Board which coincided with the start of the new chief executive officer, chief operation officer 
and chief financial officer.

•	 The annual South African National Parks Week. 

•	 Rhino-poaching (Presidential Visit).

•	 The attack of a tourist guide by a leopard in Kruger National Park. 

•	 The escaped Karoo lion.

•	 The Table Mountain National Park fires.

•	 Fishing in Tsitsikamma Marine Protected Area.

•	 Wildlife poisoning in the Kruger National Park.

•	 Prince Harry’s trip to Kruger National Park.

•	 The Kudu Awards. 

•	 The drought situation in the Kruger National Park.

Media Relations Policy

The Media Relations Policy was revised in the previous financial year and tabled to ExCo, the Audit and Risk Committee and thereafter to the Board Meeting of 
24 March 2015. The Policy was approved at that meeting.

Strategic Interventions towards Proactive Media Engagement

SANParks continues to nurture relations with the media in a bid to create a lasting relationship of mutual respect and trust. SANParks issued 42 press releases 
during this financial year and engaged in a range of proactive media engagements to present comprehensive information and analysis on key issues through 
the media to the public.

These proactive media engagements included the following:

•	 Media tours to the Kruger National Park to provide exposure for the efforts that SANParks is making to fight the scourge of rhino-poaching and coverage 
for the Strategic Rhino Translocation Programme.

•	 A media tour to the Agulhas National Park for the launch of the Agulhas Rest Camp extension and profile the SANParks Infrastructure Programme.

•	 Media briefings on key issues including the Skukuza Conference Lodge development, the fires in Table Mountain National Park, and the war on poaching 
in the Kruger National Park.

•	 Hosting media at public events such as World Wildlife Day, World Ranger Day, World Rhino Day, commissioning of helicopter donated by the Howard G 
Buffett Foundation and launch of SANPW.

Social Media

The role of social media is increasingly becoming important as evidenced by the growth in public participation in the various social media platforms in which 
SANParks is engaging. For the 12 months from 1 April 2015 to the end of March 2016, the number of members of the SANParks Forum hosted on the SANParks 
website had grown by 5,91% from 27 831 to 29 476. The number of Facebook fans had grown by 13,0% from 123 008 at the beginning of the financial year to 
138 981 at the end of March 2016. Twitter followers grew by 30,0% in the same period from 52 205 to 67 308.
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Implementation of Brand Awareness Plan

The key branding events for SANParks, SANPW and the Kudu Awards were successfully staged during the year. Both events were extremely successful with the 
SANPW recording an AVE of R12 330 467.26 through media coverage.

The focus of media activities and relations for the second quarter was the SANPW, which was launched at Marakele National Pak on 13 September 2015. The 
launch was combined with the launch of the Bontle Tented Camp. The SABC Programme, Morning Live, broadcast the SANPW launch and featured SANParks 
in their broadcasts for the whole week.

Prior to the event, a comprehensive media plan for the campaign was created. This plan resulted in excellent publicity for SANParks including two successful 
partnerships during the week with RSG and Pretoria News. Both partnerships included a competition. As a result of the partnership between SANParks and the 
Independent Media Group (Pretoria News, The Star & Cape Times), SANParks received full page coverage on national parks and SANPW 2015.

Several radio stations such as Classic FM, Tshwane FM, Lotus FM, Ikwekwezi FM, Soweto Radio, Soweto TV, Metro FM, Eden FM, Bushbuckridge Radio and Algoa 
FM interviewed SANParks representatives during and leading up to SANPW.

SANParks held the 11th Annual Kudu Awards ceremony in partnership with First National Bank and Total SA at the CSIR on 16 October 2015, where both internal 
and external stakeholders were awarded with the coveted awards.

E-Business 

In the previous year, SANParks E-Business focused on expanding its products offering, speed and accuracy of information dissemination, legal compliance, and 
support on growing ambassadors for SANParks.

E-Commerce

E-Commerce generated over R314 million on the site R290 million, which was through online reservation - a 12% increase over the previous year’s R280 
million made in bookings. The number of reservation transactions made online increased by 4% from 80 640 to 83 446, of which many were attracted by 
online promotions. Likewise, the rand value of Wild Cards sold online increased by 20% from R20 million to R24 million. The Business-to-Business (B2B) module 
that serves Travel Trade partners has brought over a R4 million value of reservations. The main E-Commerce products launched were the selling of overnight 
activities, and pre-booked day visits. 3D-secure, which is in line with banking requirements was deployed in August 2015.

All accommodation is visually represented through still photography and approximately 75% is covered via 360-degree virtual reality images. Exciting new 
features on the site are displaying virtual itineraries for some parks, and video footage of activities offered in the parks. Google Maps are now embedded on the 
parks sections, which assist clients with planning their trips. The website content is continuously updated, enhanced or revamped to maintain the highest level 
of information integrity. The number of content updates made in the past year was over 660 and the number of announcements made was 332.

Approximately 32% of all SANParks clients now make their bookings online, as opposed to call centre, email, satellite offices, etc.

Website statistics and Demographics

The website had over 6,5 million visitor sessions during the year, over 40 million page views, and over 2,5 million unique visitors to the site. Out of the total 70% 
of the visitors are based in South Africa, with Germany, UK, and US leading the 30% international group. Continuous research of stakeholder needs assists in 
identifying areas that need further streamlining and enhancements. In the previous year, more than 3 000 email-messages were  received from clients, of which 
97% were positive versus 3% negative.

Website uptime was maintained at an acceptable 99,9% and online communication was further enhanced through Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and YouTube.



South African National Parks Annual Report 2015/16 79

Growing ambassadors for SANParks

As always over the years, it is commendable that the website community forum, formed in November 2004, is still growing, having a membership of 29 714 at 
the end of the financial year, an increase of 7% from the previously reported 27 783 members. The forum boasts 940 818 posts that hold a wealth of information 
for old and new park visitors. The forum community, is inherent to the SANParks website, is still growing despite the expansion of social media such as 
Facebook, Twitter, etc. A ranking system based on public voting takes forum members from one Kudu (Junior Virtual Ranger) through to five Kudus (Legendary 
Virtual Ranger). Within the 10 years of existence, the forums have seen only 14 Legendary Virtual Rangers, making this a most prestigious online status.

Most of the success of the forums is attributed to the volunteer service provided by the Forum Moderators, and the Virtual Honorary Rangers (VHRs). While the 
Moderators assist in observing the forum rules and mediate in conflict resolution, the VHRs focus on running projects, many of which are fundraising in nature. 
Their total direct and indirect contribution to SANParks is valued at R3,5 million per annum.

Online Initiatives

• The webcams located at various waterholes in the parks (Addo Elephant, Orpen, Satara and Nossob) are still some of the most popular attractions on the 
site. Three out of the four webcams are still streaming live video, making webcams number two on the list of most visited sites on SANParks.org after the 
Home page, and followed by online bookings, and the forums.

• The Annual Photographic Competition conducted by the online forum Moderators, once again produced breath-taking Digital Compact or Digital 
Single Lens Reflex (DSLR) photographs submitted by public in the categories Portraits, Landscapes, All Animals and Insects, Human activity in any 
SANParks, Plants, Black and White, and Birds. All winning images can be found on the forum site.

• The Annual Online Forum Awards accomplished by public votes, produced winners in the categories Angel, Avatar, Birder, Cammer, Musketeer, 
Newcomer, Quiz Whiz of the Year, and Best/Funniest Forum Name, Sighting (Birds), Sighting (Non Predator), Sighting (Predator), Sighting (Small creatures 
and/or insects). In addition there were awards for Travel Tale of the year for KNP, Travel Tale of the year for Other Parks, and Small Parks Promoter of the 
Year. All winners carry prestigious “badges” that define their distinguished status on the site. 

• Likewise, there are the still thrilling annual campaigns that invoke further interaction that relates to experiences in the national parks. An example of 
that is “Love is in the Air”, which marked Valentine’s Day celebrations with images of animals “in love”. All submissions and winning photos are available 
on the forums.

Information and Communications Technology Operations (ICT)

Governance of ICT

During the year under review, a key initiative that received further attention was reviewing the Governance of Information and Communications Technology in 
line with the principles of the control objectives of Information Technology Framework, version 5 (COBIT 5©) and according to the guidelines provided by the 
Department of Public Administration of South Africa (DPSA). This review has the benefits of ensuring that the governance of ICT is in line with organisational 
governance and the functioning of ICT is formally aligned with business requirements and strategy. A Corporate Governance of ICT Policy (CGICT) has been 
implemented. A key component of this initiative is to establish regular maturity assessments to identify areas of improvement. A further key component of 
Governance is to align ICT initiatives with business requirements and for that purpose, SANParks IT function has adopted a new strategy that will guide the 
operations for the next five years and assist SANParks to leverage technology as a strategic enabler.

IP Telephony

SANParks expanded its IP Telephony roll out by upgrading another five sites: Kamieskroon, Augrabies, Mount Pleasant, Kloofnek and Tokai to the newly 
adopted standard for Telephony in SANParks. In addition, least-cost routing was implemented between the Head Office and approved service provider leading 
to call cost savings of at least 55% over standard Telkom rates and also allowing for temporary upping of incoming call capacity during peak periods in the 
Reservations Contact Centre.
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Sharing of information

SANParks has performed an upgrade of its Enterprise Content Management System to the latest release of the software. The new look and feel as well as the 
implementation of Electronic Records Management improved Contract Management and focused communication to its employees. As part of this project, 
the SharePoint site has been upgraded to a secure site and is now accessible to validated users from outside the traditional SANParks network, greatly assisting 
employees that travel regularly to have access to essential information.

IT support operations

SANParks supported 1 610 (2015 – 1425) users during the year at 106 (2015 – 104) sites spread all over the country. During the year 9 750 (2015 – 10 290) 
incidents were logged and supported, achieving 98,65% (2015 – 98,78%) within pre-contracted Service Levels. A Total of 12 856 (2015 – 13 176) telephone calls 
were taken at the help desk during the year. Overall network uptime achieved was 99,16% (2015 – 98,91%) and server uptime realised was 98,63% (2015 – not 
measured) including any planned downtime.

ENTERPRISE APPLICATION DEVELOPMENT 

Governance

Since 2009, the organisation has continued to improve on process governance and enforcement of business rules. The deployment of the business process 
management suite (bpms) of applications has been a key driver in driving these efforts. The technology has assisted in standardising the execution patterns of 
key business processes, their visibility, efficiency and transparency.

Human Resources Processes

The new Human Resources Management System (HRMS) that was implemented in the previous year continued to contribute significantly to the management 
of employee related information in the organisation. The system improvements included the integration with the organisation’s BPMS of technology allowing for 
efficient and automated capturing of leave transactions. As a result, the management of leave improved providing for a reliable calculation of the organisation’s 
leave liability and assessments of leave patterns. A combined total of 50 628 leave-transactions equating to 174 541 leave days were processed through the 
integrated leave process during the year. The number of days taken for each of the different leave types throughout the year is represented below in both 
tabular and graphical form:

LEAVE TYPE TOTAL NUMBER OF DAYS TAKEN
Annual 98 006

Surplus 3 431

Contagious Deceases 94

Court Appearance 89

Family Leave 4 846

Forfeited 47

Maternity 13 928

Miscarriage 184

Natural Disaster 26

Occasional 18 489

Occupational Incident and Diseases 1 858

Special Leave 14

Sick Leave - Full Pay 30 845

Sport 9
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LEAVE TYPE TOTAL NUMBER OF DAYS TAKEN
Study and Examinations 2 322

Transfer 161

Unauthorised 103

Union 32

Unpaid 646

TOTAL 17 4541

% of Leave Types Taken

Surplus
Contagious Deceases
Court Appearance
Family Leave
Forfeited
Maternity
Miscarriage
Occasional
Occupational Incident
And Diseases
Special Leave
Sick Leave - Full Pay
Sport
Study And Examinations
Transfer
Unauthorised
Union
Unpaid

2% 1% 4%

6%

18%

24%

2%

40%

Finance processes

The finance department remains a key interest area for improving on governance. The travel and subsistence payment process continues to allow the 
organisation to improve on the governance of travel claims and related transactions. Over R40 million worth of claims have been completed through this 
process. The automation of the process has allowed the organisation to electronically track travel behaviours and enforce financial rules more efficiently. 
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SO
CIO-ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT REPORT

2.8 Socio-Economic Development Report

In December 2015, the SANParks ExCo took a decision to establish a Socio-Economic Development Division to give expression to the strategic decision of the 
Board to elevate this function to one of the three core pillars of the organisation along with Conservation and Tourism. The mandate of the Socio-Economic 
Development Division is to contribute towards the development of communities adjacent to national parks through the coordination and implementation of 
development programmes adjacent to the national parks.

This comes out of the recognition that national parks are strategically located to play a critical role as catalysts and drivers of local economic development, 
particularly in the rural areas of South Africa where the majority of the national parks are to be found.

Functions incorporated into the Socio-Economic Development Division on an interim basis, pending the completion of an organisational development (OD) 
exercise in the course of the 2016/17 financial year, include the following:

•	 Implementation of Social Legacy Programme (CSI)

•	 Economic Empowerment Programmes (Green and Blue Economy Projects)

•	 Environmental Education and Awareness

•	 Land Audit and Resolution of Land Claims

•	 Expanded Public Works Programmes

•	 Infrastructure Development Programme

Social legacy programme

The legacy programme aims to support and contribute to the achievement of government’s mandate towards social development. Through this programme,  
SANParks invests resources for the provision of much-needed facilities in communities living adjacent to national parks. An annual amount of 1% of tourism 
income (accommodation and activities) is set aside for this purpose.

The programme currently supports the provincial departments of education through the provision of facilities ranging from science laboratories and computer 
centres to libraries and information centres. Once these facilities are developed, they are handed over to relevant government departments for operationalisation. 

The following projects were successfully completed and handed over to respective Provincial Departments of Education in the 2015/16 financial year;

•	 A science laboratory at Calata High School near the Mountain Zebra National Park in the Eastern Cape. 

•	 A science laboratory at Tlakulani High School in the north of the Kruger National Park (KNP), Limpopo.

•	 A science laboratory at Sibusisiwe High School, south of the KNP in Mpumalanga.

•	 A kitchen facility at Takheleni Primary School, south of the KNP in Mpumalanga.

•	 A science laboratory at Groenvlei High School adjacent to Marakele National Park,  Limpopo.

•	 A science laboratory at Moriting wa Thuto Combined School adjacent to Golden Gate Highlands National Park in the Free State.

A total number of 79 temporary jobs were created during the provision of the facilities and about 800 learners per school will benefit from these investments.

Economic empowerment programme

The Economic Empowerment Programme contributes towards sustainable economic development of communities adjacent to national parks through access 
to business opportunities and other socio-economic development initiatives created through the national parks system.
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Wildlife Economy 

The wildlife economy programme facilitates the implementation of Green and Blue Economy projects in partnership with communities adjacent to national 
parks.

The following projects were initiated: 

Bevhula and Gidjana communities: The two communities are located adjacent to Kruger National Park on the north western boundary. They have land 
between them of about 1 800 ha which they desire to use for the establishment of a wildlife economy project. Formal applications and community resolutions 
were received from the two communities to this effect. Two Interim Cooperation Agreements were also signed between SANParks and the Traditional 
Councils of the two communities mapping out the process and responsibilities of parties involved towards the finalisation and signing of the final cooperation 
agreement. The implementation of a land rehabilitation project on the respective land funded by DEA has been completed. DEA has also approved an amount 
of R10 million towards the establishment of the initiative. SANParks will be the implementing agent on behalf of the Department.

Mdluli: The Mdluli community has land inside the Kruger National Park in the south, which is to be used for ecotourism initiatives. Due to litigation; however, 
in respect of developers within the area, the implementation of projects has been put on hold. Investigations are however, at the final stage and a process is 
underway to establish the optimal investor-community beneficiation model proposed for this project.

Mjejane: The Mjejane game reserve is situated next to the Kruger National Park linked to the park through a bridge which provides access to operators from 
the Mjejane Game Reserve. An interim agreement on right of access was signed between SANParks and the Mjejane Trust on condition that certain conditions 
stipulated by the court be met, including the verification of the Mjejane beneficiary list. These were however, not resolved and SANParks gave six months’ 
notice of termination of the Interim agreement up to the end of August 2016 in order to allow the Trust to deal with outstanding issues.

Nkambeni community: A wildlife economy project will be implemented on a piece of land fenced out of the Kruger National Park during the establishment 
of the railway line, which defines the new western boundary for the park. An amount of R10 million was approved by DEA for the development of the project, 
with SANParks taking on the responsibility of implementing the project with the community. An Interim Agreement has been drafted between SANParks 
and Nkambeni Traditional Council to this effect. The land identified for the implementation of the project was rehabilitated through funding received from 
Expanded Public Works Programme.

Richtersveld Contractual Agreement: A 30-year contractual park agreement was signed in 1990 between SANParks and the Richtersveld community for the 
management of the Richtersveld Transfrontier Park. Through this agreement, the community gets an annual lease payment from SANParks, to the Richtersveld 
Community Trust. Funds are used for various community development projects, including study bursaries and the transport of learners. The Richtersveld Joint 
Management Committee (RGBK) was established to ensure the implementation of the agreement and community development projects. The community 
has retained grazing rights for limited numbers of goats and sheep in 
the national park.

An  agreement was reached in a meeting of the RGBK in November 
2015 that the Contractual Agreement between SANParks and the 
Richtersveld community will be renewed for a further 30 years with 
SANParks as the management authority, and with an increase in 
the rental fees per hectare payable by SANParks to the Richtersveld 
Community Trust. 

Khomani San and Mier: (Kalahari Gemsbok National Park): 
A contractual park agreement exists due to a land claim by the 
Khomani San and Mier Communities for the management of parts of 
the Kalahari Gemsbok National Park. Job opportunities in this area are 
very few and the park serves as the main employer of the Khomani 
and Mier communities, resulting in 92% of the workforce coming 
from these communities. A Joint Management Board was established 
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in terms of the settlement agreement, which provides oversight for the implementation of the contractual park agreement and for community development 
projects in and around the park. 

The Khomani San community requested the donation of wildlife on the farm Erin, owned by this community. Plans are proceeding for this donation with the 
translocation of animals being scheduled for the winter of 2016. 

Blue Economy Projects  

Tsitsikamma Angling Community – Controlled Access to Tsitsikamma MPA

The process for the promulgation of regulations to allow limited and controlled fishing by members of the local Tsitsikamma community has been completed. 
The period for public comment on the draft regulations closed at the end of January 2016 and consideration was being given by DEA to the comments 
received prior to a decision being made by the Minister of Environmental Affairs.

SANParks has supported the intention to open certain areas of the coastline within the MPA for limited and controlled line fishing for subsistence and 
recreational purposes by the local community and is aiming at the implementation of this programme in the first half of the 2016/17 financial year, should the 
Minister decides to open these areas.

Land claims

Significant progress has been made in terms of trying to settle land claims in national parks. The relationship between the Commission on the Restitution of 
Land Rights (CRLR) and SANParks has continued to yield better results that will see future land claims being settled in a manner that will balance both the 
constitutional rights of conservation and restitution.

There are currently seven outstanding land claims in national parks, with five in the negotiation stage and two in the research stage. Considerable progress 
was made in the year under review on the settlement of the Kruger National Park land claim. In principle agreement was reached with six of the claimant 
communities on the Phase 1 settlement of this claim, which will comprise an amount of R110 000 per family in compensation for improvements on the land 
and a once off payment into a development fund in lieu of payment for the land value. In addition,  a beneficiation package is being developed by SANParks 
as part of the Phase 2 settlement, which will provide income flows and investment opportunities to claimants. 

The Phase 1 settlement of the Golden Gate Highlands National Park land claim was celebrated. A total number of 79 out of 115 verified families received an 
amount of R29 807 168 as financial compensation towards their land claim from the CRLR. Phase 2 will be settled as part of restoration of the claimed properties 
to the remaining 36 families.

Expanded Public Works Programme

Implementation of various programmes and projects of the Expanded Public Works Programme (EPWP) funded by DEA resulted in the creation of 6 364 Full 
Time Equivalent jobs in national parks, provincial nature reserves, other protected areas and some urban projects such as the Eco-Furniture Programme. 

Projects were approved as part of the DEA’s Environmental Programmes, i.e.:

•	 Natural Resource Management Programme (NRMP)

•	 Environmental Protection and Infrastructure Programme (EPIP)   

During the past year, the programme experienced some challenges and some projects did not start as planned or were closed down earlier due to budget 
constraints facing the DEA. Overall, the performance was good and over 1.4 million person days were achieved.
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Table 1: Overview of EPWP Programmes implemented in 2015/16

EPWP PROGRAMME DESCRIPTION IMPLEMENTATION STATUS

Working for the Coast
Cleaning of beaches, rehabilitation of coastal 

systems and maintenance of tourism infrastructure, 

including Blue Flag beaches.

The 2013/14 – 2015/16 projects were concluded in 

July 2015.

Planning was completed for the next three-year 

cycle 2015/16 – 2017/18.

Working for Wetlands Rehabilitation of wetland systems.
Project implementation started in October 2015 and 

was finalised on 31 March 2016.

Environmental Monitors
Support to conservation functions in parks, buffer 

zones, provincial nature reserves and private nature 

reserves.

2015/16 was the final implementation year for this 

three-year programme.

Funding was approved for a new three-year cycle 

until 2019.

Working for Water Clearing of invasive alien vegetation.
Alien vegetation clearing projects were implemented 

in all national parks

Working for Ecosystems: Rehabilitation 
and Bush Clearing

Soil erosion projects, bush encroachment control and 

Addo Spekboom project for carbon sequestration.

This programme was implemented in most National 

Parks, nature reserves of the Mpumalanga Tourism 

and Parks Agency (MTPA) and the Kruger to Canyons 

Biosphere.

Bush clearing was done in Marakele and Kruger 

National Parks.

Eco Furniture Programme
Manufacturing of school desks and furniture from 

alien vegetation.

Five factories and one wet mill were operational 

during the past year.

Greening & Open Spaces
Nurseries – propagation of plants for rehabilitation, 

food security for local communities. 

2015/16 was the final implementation year for this 

three-year project.

Nurseries will be maintained in future on the Natural 

Resource Management Programme.

Working on Fire and High 

Altitude Teams

Fire prevention and control in national parks, and 

removal of alien vegetation from inaccessible 

mountainous areas and cliffs.

Eight firefighting teams were employed in national 

parks, and the high altitude teams mainly worked in 

Table Mountain and Garden Route National Parks.

People & Parks
Infrastructure development and improving integrity 

of protected areas.

Implementation was started on the MTPA project in 

Bushbuckridge Nature Reserve. 

The planning was finalised for projects in the National 

Parks (Mokala, Ais/Richtersveld and Tsitsikamma).

National Department of Tourism Social 
Responsibility Programme 

Development of tourism infrastructure.
Planning for the Agulhas Southernmost Tip project 

was completed.
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Highlights of the EPWP programme included the following: 

•	 The Black Mamba teams of the Environmental Monitor programme received the Champions of the Earth 2015 Award from the United Nations 
Environment Programme.

•	 A study on the Social and Economic Impact of the Kruger to Canyon Environmental Monitor programme demonstrated that the Kruger to Canyon 
project had an incredibly positive outcome on participants, their families and their communities in terms of livelihoods and well-being, and through 
acting as conservation ambassadors within their communities. 

•	 143 000 school desks were successfully delivered to schools mainly in the Eastern Cape Province.

•	 Funding was approved to continue with the Working for the Coast and Environmental Monitor Programmes for the next three-years. 

•	 Planning was completed for the Southernmost Tip development in Agulhas National Park funded by the National Department of Tourism after a long 
design process.

•	 Construction of the staff houses in Bushbuckridge Nature Reserve, MTPA was completed.
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Social Deliverables

Participants were recruited from 380 communities or villages adjacent to national parks, creating employment, opportunities for SMMEs and direct investment 
in the local economies of some of the remotest areas in the country. Over the past year, 980 SMMEs were supported by the programme and R213 million paid 
to these small contractors performing the various planned activities. Youth made up 70% and women 56% of all jobs created, with the national Environmental 
Monitor Programme achieving 80% youth employment.

Table 2: Social Deliverables of EPWP Programmes

PROGRAMME NO OF PEOPLE PERSON DAYS FTES TRAINING SMMES
AMOUNT PAID 

TO SMMES 
(‘000)

EXPENDITURE 
(‘000)

Planned target 2015/16 9 219 1 685 326  7 328 95 543 501 R249,430 R596,500 

DEA Environmental Protection and Infrastructure Programme

Working for the Coast 583 29 790 130 3 893         41  4,950 8,030 

Environmental Monitors 1 660 333 759 1 451 1 660          -    -   62,540 

Lisbon Project 162 35 941 156 2 269         17 4,734 5,775 

Nurseries 127   19 554 85 1 154         14 3,187 6,350 

People & Parks 154 13 698 60 -           15 2,185 6,557 

Sub-Total  2 686 432 742 1 881 8 976         87 15,056 89,252 

DEA Natural Resource Management Programme

Working for Water  9 080 337 337 1 467 28 196       366 66,320    12,041 

Working for Ecosystems: 

Rehabilitation
4 792 246 051 1 070 12 311       239 49,230 68,910

Working for Ecosystems: Bush 

Clearing
427 22 020  96   849         18 4,910 6,910

Working for Wetlands 688 38 297 167 5 002         44 7,930 11,200 

Working for Ecosystems: 

Mpumalanga Tourism and Parks 

Agency

329 29 058 126 1 645         20 6,050 8,885

Kruger to Canyon Land Incentive 232   24 631    107 166         11 4,140 5,475

Bio-control & Alien Fish 544 13 496     59 1 195         19 2,560 5,621

Working for Ecosystems: Medupi 23 861      4 -            -     -   0,058 

Eco Furniture Programme 4 082 250 031  1 087  14 255       172 56,813 229,220 

Umoyou     123 1 501     7     477           4 0,253 0,629 

Sub-Total 20 320 963 283  4 188  64 096       893 198,206 448,949 

Fire & Forest Association 

Working on Fire 161 40 267 175  1 820          -   0,00             -   

High Altitude Teams 131 27 396 119 -            -   0,00             -   

Sub-Total 292 67 663 294 1 820         -   -              -   

TOTAL 23 298 1 463 688  6 364 74 892       980 R213,262 R538,201 
Percentage 252,72% 86,85% 86,85% 78,39% 195,61% 85,50% 90,23%
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Biodiversity Deliverables

The main activities of the EPWP projects were biodiversity management:

•	 Invasive alien vegetation clearing.

•	 Land rehabilitation including erosion and control of bush encroachment.

•	 Wetland rehabilitation. 

•	 Conservation management support through the Environmental Monitor Programme.  

The performance against the planned targets for the biodiversity deliverables are summarised in the table below. Planned deliverables were achieved and 
exceeded for most activities, except for beach clean-up where the new Working for the Coast projects did not start in September 2015 as planned.

Table 3: Biodiversity deliverables of the EPWP Programmes

DELIVERABLES PLANNED ACTUAL PERCENTAGE

Beach Clean up    
WftC Beach clean-up (km) 11 726 4 583 39%

Wetlands Rehabilitation    
Cubic meters 13 535 14 926 110%

No of wetlands rehabilitated 20 18 90%

Environmental Monitors    
EMs appointed 1 441          1 660 115%

Alien Vegetation Clearing    
Initial hectares 27 330 31 092 114%

Follow up hectares 196 444       221 947 113%

Working for Ecosystems: 
Rehabilitation    
Initial rehabilitation (ha) 5 200         13 301 256%

Follow up rehabilitation (ha) 12 394         19 149 155%

Working for Ecosystems: Bush 
Clearing    
Initial bush clearing           2 607          2 509 96%

Follow up bush clearing              792             840 106%

Total Rehabilitation (Alien vegetation, erosion & bush clearing)
Initial rehabilitation (ha) 35 137 46 902 133%

Follow up rehabilitation (ha) 209 630 241 936 115%

Eco Furniture Programme    
School desks (SDEs) 279 290 142 720 51%
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Infrastructure Development Programme 

The annual Infrastructure Investment allocation for 2015/16 was reduced to R268.3 million and expenditure of R225.7 million (84%) was achieved. The remainder 
of the funds in the programme are committed to contracts, and include a provision for the implementation of the Skukuza Safari Lodge project in Kruger 
National Park. The planning and design of this lodge was completed and the tender process scheduled for the new financial year.  

Implementation of projects to address the focus areas of the Infrastructure Development Programme continued, i.e.

•	 Upgrade and construction of staff accommodation.

•	 Upgrade and construction of tourism accommodation and facilities.

•	 Upgrade of roads.

•	 Upgrade and replacement of bulk services infrastructure.

Within the Parks Division, the construction of new staff accommodation units in Mapungubwe, Marakele, Mokala, Agulhas and Wilderness National Parks were 
completed. Roads in Addo Elephant, Karoo and Mountain Zebra and Mapungubwe National Parks were upgraded and resurfaced. New tourism units were 
completed in Kgalagadi Transfrontier Park, i.e. two family chalets were added, while additional units were added to the Wilderness camps at Urikaruus and 
Kieliekrankie. Work started on the re-design of Nossob Rest Camp in Kgalagadi and included the completion of 10 new chalets, 10 serviced campsites and 
replacement of the campsite ablution. The bulk services in the Cape Point section of Table Mountain National Park received much needed attention and an 
old asbestos water pipeline was replaced, while a new sewer plant was installed to deal with the increased numbers of visitors – this system was designed to 
recycle the water and thus reduce the demand from the municipal source.

In the Kruger National Park repairs of roads and bridges damaged by floods was a high priority, while the scheduled reseal and resurfacing of roads also received 
attention. The upgrade of restaurant facilities in Nxanatseni and Marula Regions were completed in support of the new operators appointed to manage these 
facilities. Tourism accommodation units were renovated in many of the rest camps of the park, and the planned projects for Mopani, Shingwedzi, Olifants, 
Pretoriuskop, Skukuza and Satara were completed. The staff accommodation upgrades is one of the most important infrastructure needs of Kruger and 
especially at the ranger stations where additional staff was appointed to address the rhino-poaching situation. Staff houses were constructed and upgraded at 
various ranger stations and camps in the park, and the projects for Mopani, Mooiplaas, Olifants and Satara completed. The re-design of the Theba facility into 
tourism units was completed providing overnight accommodation in the Pafuri area of the park.

The National Department of Tourism (NDT) approved funding for tourism infrastructure on the Tourism Destination programme, supporting exiting new 
initiatives such as the Phalaborwa Wild Activity Hub, new Shangoni Gate and the Tsitsikamma Big Tree. Two other projects are also funded by NDT, i.e. the 
Dinosaur Centre in Golden Gate Highlands National Park and the Southern Tip Icon at Agulhas National Park.

Capital Investment: (Capital investment, maintenance and asset management plan) 

Provide feedback on the plan

SANParks has a 5-Year Strategic Infrastructure Plan, which is funded through annual allocations of Infrastructure Investment funding from the Department 
of Environmental Affairs.  Business plans are developed for three-year cycles as per MTEF allocations and projects implemented accordingly.  Phase 3 of the 
Infrastructure Programme was implemented over the period 2013/14 to 2015/16 and addressed renovation, upgrade and construction of new infrastructure 
typically found in national parks, i.e. tourism accommodation, staff accommodation, roads, fences, bulk services and other support infrastructure such as offices 
and entrance gates.  The 5-Year Strategic Infrastructure Plan is updated on an annual basis through a prioritisation process to incorporate the various needs of 
the parks.

Infrastructure projects which had been completed during reporting period against plans – provide reasons for key variances. 
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Infrastructure Programme
2014/15 2015/16

Budget Annual 
expenditure

Over/ under Budget Annual Over/ under

Infrastructure Programme Phase 2 39 362 404 15 775 036 23 587 3681 23 587 368 5 018 176 18 569 192

Infrastructure Programme Phase 3 395 139 995 253 373 541 141 766 455 410 070 455 225 763 225 184 307 229

TOTAL 434 502 399 269 148 576 165 353 823 433 657 823 230 781 401 202 876 422

Notes:

a. Under expenditure on Infrastructure Programme Phase 2 for 2014/15 and 2015/16 was caused by appeal against the Environmental Impact 
Assessment for the proposed development in Nossob Rest Camp, Kgalagadi Transfrontier Park. This caused a delay of more than a year on the project.

b. Under expenditure in Infrastructure Programme Phase 3 for 2014/15 is related to implementation period of four months only in previous financial year 
due to a long business plan approval process.

c. All funds for Infrastructure Programme Phase 3 for 2015/16 are committed in contracts, except R75 million for first large project, Skukuza Safari Lodge.  
Poor performance by contractors had an impact on expenditure.

Infrastructure projects in progress

Implementation of projects in the Infrastructure Programme Phase 3 is almost completed with funds committed in contracts except the Skukuza Safari Lodge 
project. Projects in progress include the upgrade of roads in Marakele National Park, construction of new park management offices in Mapungubwe National 
Park, upgrade of chalets in Golden Gate Highlands National Park, construction of new chalets in Mountain Zebra National Park and Tankwa Karoo National Park, 
upgrade of roads, tourism accommodation and staff accommodation in Kruger National Park. 

Planning was completed for projects approved in Phase 4 (start date 1 April 2016) and tenders were issued for various construction projects. The category of 
projects approved for IP4 is presented in the table below:

CATEGORY KNP PARKS TOTAL Percentage
New Tourism      223 800 000     36 509 310  260 309 310 39%

Existing Tourism        67 741 200     56 871 118  124 612 318 19%

Roads        17 000 000     35 880 073    52 880 073 8%

Staff Accommodation        28 200 000     35 647 147    63 847 147 9%

Bulk Services        57 190 000     12 218 845    69 408 845 10%

Other          1 330 000     34 008 811    35 338 811 5%

Community      36 252 000    36 252 000 5%

Energy Efficiency          8 000 000       8 000 000 1%

Imp fees      21 453 496    21 453 496 3%

TOTAL      403 261 200  268 840 799  672 101 999 100%

Progress on maintenance 

A limited operational budget for maintenance of infrastructure in SANParks is one of the major challenges to maintain an infrastructure plant of R9 billion. In 
2015/16, R61 million was spent in the maintenance of infrastructure while industry norms require a budget of R242 million for planned and routine maintenance, 
i.e. an annual shortfall of at least R181 million or 75% per annum.
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Developments that will have a negative effect on expenditure

Budget cuts of Infrastructure investment of R270 million over the past three years impacted on the projects that could be implemented. Since planned 
projects had to be moved out, it impacted on the strategic plan and planned outputs.  Long procurement and contracting processes impacted on project 
implementation over the past two years, while contractor performance also added to low cash flow than planned.

Measures taken to ensure the asset register is kept up to date 

Assets are capitalised once practical completion certificates are issued for construction projects. Monthly reconciliations are done to ensure that assets are 
created upon completion of the projects.

Current state of capital assets (good, fair, bad)

The outcome of Pavement Management System Report on roads, is as follows:

•	 Unpaved roads – Fair to poor

•	 Paved roads – Fair to good in Kruger National Park and fair to poor in the other parks.

The roads infrastructure needs urgent capital investment within the next two to three years to prevent structural damage and increased costs.

With regards to building infrastructure, staff accommodation is in a poor state and tourism infrastructure fair. 

Major maintenance projects undertaken

The annual Infrastructure Investment allocations are critical to assist with the maintenance and upgrade of roads, buildings, bulk services and fences in national 
parks.  The annual maintenance backlog continues year on year. SANParks has consistently increased the baseline of the maintenance budget in the past three 
financial years, but the operational allocation does not allow a 20% increase needed year on year for a period of 10 years to achieve the required maintenance 
budget for planned and routine maintenance.  

OPERATIONS REPORT



OPERATIONS REPORT

Augrabies Falls National Park
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2.9 Operations Report

Section 1: Kruger National Park

This report is intended to give a synopsis of the kruger national park’s 2015/16 annual activities by highlighting certain achievements by the various departments 
of the park. The report is not exhaustive but an attempt to pick those salient activities for the report period to give a picture of the park’s achievement of the 
year. 

Kruger national park (knp) is experiencing one of the driest years in recorded history in some parts (although rains recently fell throughout the park, some parts 
in the south are even drier than during the 1991/2 drought). According to predictions, the el niño effect will continue into the winter months. This condition is 
expected to cause severe drought in knp with all the related consequences associated with such a large infrequent disturbance event (lide). 

The past few months have seen exceptionally dry and hot conditions throughout the knp and these are reflected in the veld conditions. Before the recent rains, 
many of the man-made dams in kruger have dried up and resident hippo populations have sought refuge in other small natural waterholes, putting pressure 
on those areas and emphasising the undesirability of dams in a national park like kruger. 

Ephemeral rivers generally still had scattered pools and these have started to dry up. This problem became severe in the tshokwane area, where the last 
remaining natural water bodies were occupied by large numbers of hippos. This caused the water to become polluted by significant quantities of hippo dung 
and in so doing making this water undrinkable for other animals. Mortalities amongst buffalo and hippo have started to occur and predators are benefiting 
significantly by lying at the few remaining waterholes waiting for prey. A program to cull these hippos was introduced. 

SANParks’ rhino management strategy dovetails and supports south africa’s four-pillared approach to persistence of black and white rhino populations. 
Compulsory interventions aim to protect rhinos using zonal approaches with technology-lead, intelligence-based and rhino guardian type options. 
Biological management interventions seek to use strategic removals and the creation of rhino strongholds. Long-term sustainability interventions are under 
the guidance of the ministerial committee of inquiry assessment process. Game changing interventions seek to integrate disrupting organised crime with 
creating opportunities of more equitable benefit sharing of ecosystem services with local stakeholders and neighbours. International and national cooperation 
underpins all four pillars. 

State of Tourism in the Park

The overall tourism performance of the knp was impressive in the financial year under review. It should be noted though that the financial year under review 
had two sets of easter holidays in one financial year. This had a positive impact in terms of visitor numbers to the park. 

Afsaal and tshokwane picnic sites received numerous complaints during the year. This will be addressed in the new financial year through outsourcing them 
to private operators to deliver an enhanced experience to visitors. Nkhulu picnic site will also receive attention in the coming year.

SANParks activities will be receiving a much needed overhaul in the next financial year with the objective of enhancing the offering and experience of game 
drives, day walks, wilderness trails and other activities. 

The private osvs are being administered by satsa as per the directive from the minister. SANParks entered into partnership with satsa to ensure self-regulatory 
and transformation is achieved. The knp plays a role in issuing permits, monitoring and keeping records of the fleet. All osvs are charged a vehicle fee upon 
entry.

Guest satisfaction index improved from 79,4% to 81,6% during the reporting period. The customer complaints have dropped when compared to the same 
period last year. Key focus areas that require intervention are management presence, maintenance of infrastructure and the correct stocking of equipment 
accommodation units. Complements have also increased, which is very encouraging.
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Challenges

•	 Baboons continue to pose a serious threat to guests and the knp is busy with an sop (working together with conservation services) to ensure visitor 
safety. It remains a challenge how the knp will monitor primates at the outsourced picnic spots. Currently the knp manage them with just in time (jit) 
employees who work during peak periods. 

•	 Theft in the bungalows has subsided. This was after the knp management engaged staff to offer reward for any information on perpetrators. 

•	 Gate security remains a challenge, and enhanced searching and the use of additional technology to monitor vehicle and visitors will be rolled out in the 
new financial year. It is recognised that it is important to provide a secure gate system challenge, becoming a negative experience from a tourism point 
of view.

•	 Visitor experience and the management of vehicles at sightings, particularly during peak periods, is a concern to knp management and specific 
interventions are being included in the revision of the knp visitor management plan. A key challenge that requires intervention is the use of certain 
sightings apps and other communication to alert visitors of sightings. This is causing visitors to speed to sighting locations and is resulting in animals 
being killed.

State of Conservation in the Park

Drought

The average KNP rainfall is currently below that of the 1991/92 drought, the most severe drought on record for the KNP. The average rainfall during December 
2015 was 16,7 mm versus the long-term average of 91,7 mm. If these conditions continue (and according to long-term forecasts, it will) it will probably cause 
significant declines in the bloated populations of elephant, buffalo and hippo.

The Mutale, Letaba and Sand rivers have stopped flowing before the rains in March 2016 got them flowing again. Most ephemeral rivers remain with a few 
isolated pools. Hippo and buffalo mortalities have been recorded in some places, and more mortalities are to be expected, especially considering that the 
biomass of large herbivores doubled in the past decade and populations of several large species are currently higher than ever before in the history of the KNP. 
Census results for some of the large herbivores are as follows:

•	 Elephant – 17 086

•	 Buffalo – 48 559

•	 Hippo – 7 182

Before the previous droughts in the 1990s, the buffalo population grew to over 30 000 in spite of them still being culled. During the 1990s drought, significant 
mortalities and predation reduced the population to about 14 000. Similarly, the hippo population in the KNP was 3 000 after the 1990s droughts and have 
increased to 7 182 hippos. 

An important lesson learnt from previous droughts is that mortalities were generally caused by lack of food and not so much by lack of water. The widespread 
manmade waterholes caused the widespread reduction of available food because animals could access all areas of KNP at that stage.

The drought presents an opportunity to learn quite a few important lessons about the KNP ecosystem that can aid in the management of Kruger and other 
parks in the future. The main lessons to be learnt are related to previous management adjustments, specifically closure of manmade water holes inside the park 
and management of rivers as part of the larger socio-economic landscape outside the park. 

A drought response plan (including securing water for tourists and and firefighting, herbivore removal, water-provision for animals, river management, water 
saving protocols, communication plans, dovetailing with neighbours, etc.) was drafted. 

In light of the current drought that KNP is experiencing, and in anticipation of the many questions and concerns from the public and other parties about water 
available for game, a survey of the KNP ephemeral rivers was undertaken. The main objective of this survey was to determine status and availability of drinking 
surface water in the ephemeral rivers for use by animals. The survey of the surface water in 11 rivers in the southern and central KNP indicates that adequate 
natural water resources are still available. 
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Problem animals

Problem baboons, elephants, hippos and monkeys have been reported frequently, most probably due to the general dry conditions in KNP. The highest impact 
was the increased problem of aggressive monkeys and baboons in several rest camps and at picnic sites, and elephants and hippos trampling fences to gain 
access to gardens and reed beds at sewerage works. A protocol was put together to deal with the issue and a research/management project will be initiated 
to test the use of the “landscapes of fear” theory with primates at picnic sites.

Rhino management

KNP was home to 414 (95% CI: 343-487) black and 8 968 (95% CI: 8 394-9 564) white rhino during 2013. Up to then, density and rainfall-dependent birth rates 
exceeded or matched natural and poaching deaths. Most of Kruger’s rhinos live south of the Olifant’s River. During 2014, the survey noted that 309 (95% CI: 
249-371) black and 8 289 (95% CI: 7 697 – 8 937) white rhinos live south of the Olifant’s River in KNP, suggesting that losses due to poaching, natural deaths and 
management removals may exceed birth rates. The survey for 2015 focused also on southern Kruger.

Biological management interventions, the cornerstone of successful rhino recovery, continue to form a key component of SANParks’ response. In the short to 
medium-term, strategic removals from areas of high poaching risk in KNP and high density, but low poaching allow offsets through reducing poaching risks 
and stimulating increased birth rates. 

SANParks checked the consequences for rhinos released in higher density areas within the Intensive Protection Zone of Kruger National Park. SANParks have 
followed the whereabouts of 18 collared animals with their associated calves (six) as a sample of the released animals. Localities were noted using triangulation 
from directions of VHF radio signals recorded from several koppies in the focal release area and direct observations and observations from a fixed-wing aircraft 
platform during 58 days of day-time rhino telemetry tracking. This resulted in 321 confirmations of VHF radio signals, 249 geographic fixes and 130 direct 
observations.

SANParks has noted several incidences where rhino calves are orphaned when the mothers are poached. These calves are rescued as part of SANParks’ 
biological management interventions. SANParks seeks to maximise survival of the injured and orphaned calves with the primary aim being the release of 
healthy, self-sustaining animals back into the wild.  

Elephant Management

SANParks and firefighting, herbivore landscapes rather than numbers of elephants to mitigate the effects that elephants may have on biodiversity, tourism and 
stakeholder conservation values associated with protected areas. This management philosophy imposes spatial variability of critical resources on elephants, 
which predicts reduction in population growth rates from the eras of intensive management to eras when restoration of ecological processes and less intensive 
management prevailed. The organisation collates aerial survey data since 1998 and conduct an aerial total count using a helicopter observation platform 
during 2015. A minimum of 17 086 elephants lived in Kruger National Park during 2015, changing at 4,2 %  (95% CI: 1,1% - 7,3%) per annum over the last 
generation of elephants, compared to 6,5% annual population growth noted during the intensive management era. This may come from reduced birth rates 
and increased mortality rates. Authorities should continue to evaluate the demographic responses of elephants to landscape scale interventions directed 
at restoring the limitation of spatial variance in resource distribution on elephant spatio-temporal dynamics and the consequences that may have for other 
conservation values.  

Ecosystem restoration: managing alien invasive plants and other ecosystem threats

A KNP Management Plan for Parthenium hysterophrous (Famine weed) was drafted to control this extremely aggressive invader in Kruger. 

Although previously found in the Komati River but not in the Crocodile River, the exotic red claw crayfish (Cherax quadricarinatus) was reported at the Van 
Graan Dam along the borders of the KNP during January 2016. SANParks, in collaboration with MTPA and SANBI, have initiated a research project to determine 
the extent of the distribution of the invasive crayfish in the Crocodile River and to compile a management plan to control its distribution. A management brief 
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and tabling of a Threshold of Potential Concern has been tabled at the KNP Conservation Management Committee.

Strategic adjustments were made in the way in which the clearing of invasive alien plants is done in KNP. The focus has shifted to the perennial rivers in the KNP, 
with one team on each river undertaking the clearing and mapping/monitoring of invasive alien plants. Increased focus to clear invasive alien plants outside 
the park on river systems that enter the KNP have been initiated. Twenty-six invasive alien plants have been prioritised (as per the CSIR and various workshop 
recommendations). Famine weed is getting special attention.

The Working for Ecosystems (Land Rehabilitation) Program has also been re-evaluated. Alternative methods such as the use of machinery with the assistance 
of people have been implemented. 

Integrated Land Use Zone Matters

An initial “stock-taking” of all areas open to KNP was done, with specific reference to their land use status, NEMPAA and NEMBA requirements and current 
agreements with KNP. Certain processes are being put in place to develop the necessary agreements. Further legal advice will need to be obtained in many 
cases. 

Land claims in the KNP were discussed with the Department of Rural Development and Land Reform (DRDLR) and the KNP Land Claim Commissioner. DRDLR 
and SANParks Corporate Social Investment facilitated Phase 1 packages, which were presented to land claimants on 15 February 2016. A detailed report in this 
regard was drafted.

Park Planning and management focal area

•	 The broader KNP integrated land use zone focuses on informing outcome-based priorities through the alignment and the implementation of the National 
Buffer Zone Strategy (Gazette Notice 102 of 2012), the SANParks Socio-economic Beneficiation Strategy, priorities within the National Development Plan, 
other major KNP programmes and existing core functions (as informed through the SANParks Organisational and KNP Core business). Central to these 
issues are better understanding the key KNP integrated land use zone priorities, reflecting on what is being done, and identifying supportive stakeholder 
relationships that are essential to attain the broader multi-stakeholder KNP outcomes.

•	 The implementation of the integrated land-use zone strategy is also a key envisaged outcome of the Global Environmental Facility Protected Area 
Programme.  

•	 The urgency remains to have agreements with areas in place that are open to the KNP. Hence, a report with regard to current arrangements with 
neighbouring areas open to KNP was prepared. Some areas under review include Makuya Nature Reserve, Letaba Ranch, the Associated Private Nature 
Reserves, Sabie Sand Wildtuin, Doreen, Rhoda, Sheila, Mjejane, Nkambeni and Mdluli.

•	 Draft Management Agreement guidelines were developed through stakeholder inputs, including DEA, MTPA, LEDET and private reserves to inform the 
principles and range of agreements possible for areas already open to KNP.

•	 A report was prepared and presented on the possible transfer of Letaba Ranch and Makuya to KNP. It was presented to DEA during the bi-lateral meeting.

•	 A METT assessment was conducted for the KNP. A final score of 69,9% was achieved for the past annual year, which is in line with the 70% as per Balance 
Scorecard.  Key measures and corrective actions were identified, which inform the KNP APP, and are aligned with the KPAs of relevant officials.  

Protected area, biodiversity, ecological and cultural focal area

•	 SANParks is part of a multi-partner program with Herding 4 Health, Conservation Africa, Buffelshoek Trust and Biodiversity Social Program Land Use 
Incentives to improve animal condition, rangeland health, and develop markets for animal products within the Foot and Mouth Disease zone of the 
Lowveld.

•	 The KNP is working with the Associated Private Nature Reserves (APNR) to review the KNP-APNR management agreement. Matters of consequence 
are: Ecological management; Security (The Greater Kruger Environmental Protection Foundation); Socio-economic (hunting agreement and pre-and 
post-hunting reports, community related matters); Development issues (“best practice”), Requirements (and formalisation thereof ) for new land parcels 
opposed to new entities when joining the current APNR entities; Declaration support – new areas (land parcels) vs entities to join, and formalisation of 
declaration status of existing entities/land parcels; capacity requirements/Implementation.

•	 Declaration status reports of various neighbouring reserves open to the KNP were done to provide guidelines for the declaration of these areas, 
assignment of management authorities, development of Management Plans and development of the necessary agreements.
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Promote and sustain local economies

•	 An integrated land claims report, with recommendations for different models, was developed for the KNP.  

Land use planning (Municipal, SDF)

A Mopani BioKNP plan (a sector plan that forms the framework to consolidate various environmental planning instruments to inform sustainable environmental 
planning and environmental compliance within the municipal Spatial Development Frameworks (SDFs) and land use planning (as per SPLUMA)) is in the 
process of being developed.  Collaboration for this is between KNP, the K2C and USAID RESILIM B.

Constituency building / co-operative governance

A detailed KNP-LEDET Implementation framework was compiled as means to prioritise joint areas of interest between LEDET and KNP. Several working groups 
were formed, i.e.: Socio-economic (including land claims), Biodiversity, Land use, Safety and security, and Legal services.  

A multi-partner DEA TOPS, DCA and Hunting meeting was held with stakeholders from LEDET, MTPA, Department of Public works and the Private reserves.  
Key challenges and aspects pertaining to Integrated land use planning, Elephant Management, necessary agreements pertaining to TOPS DCA species and 
hunting protocols for these integrated and open system to the KNP were discussed. A draft report was compiled for ExCo pertaining to challenges and 
guidelines to deal with the neighbouring areas open to KNP. Key amendments to the Elephant Norms and standards, future inputs into TOPS and amendments 
to NEMBAA were identified.  

The World Bank Consultants (Impacto LDA and EcoTone Freshwater Consultants) are managing the Environmental and Social Impact Assessment Study for 
the raising of the Corumana dam wall on the Sabie River from the current 111 meter above sea level (masl) to 117 masl. This is necessary to complete the full 
structure of the dam and increase the assurance of supply to the city of Maputo. Increasing the Full Supply Level of the reservoir’s originally intended capacity, 
will almost double the dam’s current storage of 720 million m³ to an estimated 1,240 million m³. The full impact of the back-water into the Sabie River Gorge 
inside the KNP are expected to only occur during 1:200-year flood events with a short extension west by approximately 250 m into the Gorge. Previously a 
much bigger impact was anticipated.

Rhino and Elephant Poaching in the Kruger National Park

Although the poaching of rhino in the KNP has continued relentlessly for the reporting period, there has been significant progress made in the persistent and 
unpredictable concept of counter-poaching operations carried out by rangers and the security alliance.

During the period April 2015 to March 2016, 767 rhino were recorded as poached. This number is a positive 16% reduction in poached rhino as compared to 
the 891 rhino recorded as poached during the 2014/15 financial year. This reduction has been particularly evident and rather significant in the last quarter, 
January to March 2016 where there has been at least a 35% reduction of rhino poached as compared to the same period January to March in 2015. It is rather 
interesting to note that this reduction in poaching incidents has come about in spite of the fact that poacher incursions have continued unabated and during 
some months, particularly during the third and last quarters of 2015/16, have shown a significant increase.
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Poacher Activities versus Rhino Poaching Incidents (2014/15 and 2015/16) 
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The incidents of elephant poaching, predominantly occurring in the northern regions of the KNP, has increased significantly from four animals recorded for 
the 2014/15 financial year to 35 animals during 2015/16. The low populations of rhino in the northern regions of the park are likely to be encouraging a shift 
to elephant poaching and exacerbating this threat.

During 2015, around 75 - 80% of the poaching activity in the park was originating from Mozambique with poaching groups made up predominantly of 
Mozambique nationals entering the park on foot. During this same period, approximately 20 - 25% of the incursions were originating from South African soil 
to the west of the park. Towards the latter part of the year this trend however, changed somewhat with Mozambique based groups shifting their operations 
from bases in Mozambique to villages in South Africa along the western boundary of the park. This new trend continued into the early part of 2016. With this 
trend from the west, the modus operandi of poachers has also shifted from not only infiltrating the park on foot but also using vehicles and the staff and tourist 
facilities to gain access. The “drive in” and “drop off” approach allows the poaching groups under tourist guise much greater mobility to infiltrate deep into the 
park and away from the more historical and traditional areas along the boundaries of the park. This trend places a great deal of pressure on the rangers and an 
emphasis on vigilance and enhanced security measures at entrance gates. During the latter part of the first quarter 2016 (Jan - March) there has been a further 
shift of poaching activity from the western areas of the park back to Mozambique. This resurgence is once again impacting Olifants, Letaba, Houtboushrand, 
Nwanetsi and Satara sections specifically.

The number of arrests inside the KNP, by Rangers during the 2015/16 year (202) has shown a marked increase of 13% over the number of arrests (178) during 
the 2014/15 financial year. The recovery of poacher firearms during anti-poaching operation in the KNP by rangers, has also shown a marked increase, 131 
firearms during 2015/16 and 119 during the 2014/15 financial year. This is an increase of 10%.

The poacher success rate, measured in the number of poacher incursions required to kill a rhino, has also shown a significant drop of around 17% during the 
year.

The anticipated “spike” in poaching activity, which historically occurs towards the end of the year (November and December), and again in the beginning of the 
new year (late January and February) was largely averted by a concerted and sustained security effort carried out in the park by the joint KNP, SAPS and SANDF 
security forces alliance to exercise and ensure control over access both to and from the park and movement inside the park.

Significant progress was made in the deployment of dogs as a force multiplier in tracking and detection. A canine training facility was completed, and is 
currently operational and providing an efficient training capability for both dogs and their handlers in support of both anti-poaching and security related 



South African National Parks Annual Report 2015/16100

operations in the park and more specifically in the Intensive Protection Zone (IPZ) and Joint Protection Zone (JPZ).

Although the Airbus helicopter fleet was dogged by maintenance problems experienced by the two older helicopters, the two Buffett Foundation donation 
helicopters continued to provide critical reaction air support to operations. The implementation and appointment of a contract fixed-wing aircraft pilot 
ensured optimum utilisation of the existing SANParks fixed wing aircraft in support of operations, which lead to improved operational efficiencies and reduced 
the pressure on the more expensive helicopter assets.

There has been a substantial effort, particularly during the last quarter of the report period where the SANParks Environmental Crime Investigation unit, 
in support of SAPS operations to “clear the park from the outside”, have been responsible for and successful in arresting 51 suspected rhino poachers and 
recovering 51 firearms. Of these arrests, four were believed to be Level-2 syndicate members and one was believed to be a Level-3 syndicate member. The 
remaining 46 were all Level-1 poachers.

There has been significant progress in formalising and implementing the alliance partnerships in support of a regional effort to combat the rhino-poaching 
threat and to support efforts in the IPZ and JPZ of the KNP. Game Reserves United (GRU), the Greater Kruger Environmental Protection Foundation (GKEPF), 
Mozambique Lebombo Concessions (MLC) and the Nkomati Interest Group continue to evolve and have become key role players in the regional rhino 
campaign.

Advanced technologies to support surveillance, early warning, detection and tracking of poachers and their activities in the park was initiated in the IPZ during 
the reporting period. The project implementation is however on-going with expected completion, along with a reaction capability, by the end of June 2016.

Socio-Economic Status

In trying to improve the state of heritage in the park during the year under review, the following projects were embarked on. It should be stated that the 
projects were undertaken in line with the transformation principle that seeks to improve the interpretation of the park in a more inclusive manner.

The Upgrade of Albasini Ruins

The project was planned and executed in phases. The project was co-funded by the Honorary Rangers East Rand branch.

Rock Art 

Following the work that was started some years back to audit all the rock-art paintings in the park, which amount to 160, a decision was taken to create a rock 
art trail, which aims at being one of the tourism products with an aim of enhancing the tourist experience. The trail has been developed and the first hand-over 
meeting to Tourism was held. The next step is for the Tourism department to develop the operation plan.

Mapping and Monitoring of Heritage sites

Heritage sites in the park were monitored and the necessary restoration and maintenance was done. An average of 30 sites was monitored in each quarter, 
especially those that are open for visitor access.

Mapping is a continued exercise and of interest is that under the year in review, a gravesite has been identified with more than 100 graves in the Pretoriuskop 
section. The necessary due diligence is being followed up in accordance to the SAHRA legislation and regulations in dealing with the newly found site.

Celebration of Environmental calendar days

The National Water Week 

This year was celebrated from 16 – 22 March throughout the country under the theme “Water has no substitute”. The National Water Week is an awareness 
raising week campaign by the Department of Water and Sanitation. It serves as a powerful campaign mechanism to continue to re-iterate the value of water, 
the need for sustainable management of this scarce resource and the role water plays in the society as a whole. 
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 The KNP was invited by the Inkomati-Usuthu Catchment Management Agency (IUCMA) along with other partners to participate in the Mpumalanga Province’s 
contribution to the National Water Week, which included a Career-Expo in Mbombela on 18 March 2015. Due to some schools in the province writing tests 
this was extended to 19 March 2015.

During the whole of National Water Week 600 learners from various schools in Mpumalanga were invited to participate in activities such as school competition, 
research paper presentations and career exhibition as a way of celebrating the National Water Week.

World Environment Day – Keep Kruger Clean Campaign

Kruger National Park in partnership with Total South Africa embarked on a Keep Kruger Clean (KKC) Campaign in celebration of the World Environment Day on 
5 June 2015. The aim of the KKC campaign is to educate and create awareness about the dangers of littering the environment. The theme for the 2015 World 
Environment Day Celebration was “Sustainable Consumption and Production” under the slogan One World, One Environment.

The KKC campaign also accommodated 200 school pupils who took part in the picking up of litter from various pick up points within Phalaborwa working 
towards Phalaborwa Gate. 

The guest profile for the KKC campaign included local traditional leaders, Park Forum members, church leaders and school principals from neighboring 
communities. In total an estimate of 450 guests attended the KKC event.

Arbor Day Lauch

Arbor Day was celebrated at Ndindane village on 2 September 2015 where over 420 Lala palm trees were handed to Ndindane Lala palm project. The area is 
about 25 hectors communal land, and this is linked to BSP projects.

In the same project, KNP also aim at propagating other species that are under threat such as Wurbagia. This project have created employment for over 35 
community members from Ndindane Village.

Grow Constituencies for the National Parks System

The purpose of this key performance area is to ensure that stakeholders are reached and capacitated in areas of environmental education, in particular 
conservation ethos to increase the understanding and create the necessary awareness. This is achieved through different sub programmes as stipulated below:

•	 School groups

•	 School journey programme

•	 Kids in Kruger Programme

•	 Community proups

•	 Kruger to Kasie

•	 Walk and Learn

•	 Kids in Parks Programme.

•	 Environmental education outreach programme

•	 Holiday programme

•	 Community education and awareness on environmental crime.
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Communications and Marketing Highlights

Launch of Operation Pyramid - 19 June 2015

The Department of Home Affairs launched Operation Pyramid at Nombolo Mdhluli Conference Centre on 19 June 2015. Operation Pyramid is a government 
project which is aimed at integrating South African border management for the interim until the Border Management Agency (BMA) is established in 2017. The 
BMA as a single entity will be responsible for securing land, air and maritime borderline, strengthening and enhancing national security. BMA will also enhance 
efficient facilitation of legitimate trade and travel and KNPal integration. The launch was officiated by the Minister of Home Affairs Mr Malusi Gigaba and other 
dignitaries. Kruger National Park played a vital role in assisting with the planning and implementation of the event in Skukuza, which was attended by about 
700 guests including 150 security personnel. 

Mandela Day Celebrations - 17 July 2015

The KNP Management and staff celebrated the Mandela International Day by dedicating their time to donating blankets knitted by staff members and trees to 
Siphephelakhona Community Centre at Nyongane a village just outside Phabeni Gate.

There was jubilation as the Managing Executive Mr Glenn Phillips handed over 56 blankets and planting 15 trees under the 2015 theme of  “Take action – inspire 
change and make every day a Mandela Day” and this was done so under knit a blanket and keep the nation warm.

Church Service against Rhino Poaching - 5 September 2015

Kruger National Park hosted its annual church service against rhino poaching, which was attended by 600 people representing different denominations. Due 
to rainy weather conditions on the day of the event, proceedings had to be moved from the Skukuza Soccer Stadium to Nombolo Mdhluli Conference Centre 
wherein 1 200 people were expected to attend the ceremony but the rain contributed to the decline in the number of delegates who attended. The event 
was graced by the presence of the Managing Executive, Mr Glenn Phillips, representatives from both Malamulele and Phalaborwa Pastors Fraternal and the 
melodies of the Voices of the Wild. 

Mopani Conference Centre - 15 September 2015

KNP Management hosted various Traditional Councils and forums bordering the northern part of the park in an effort to continuously create awareness on 
rhino poaching. The need to educate communities on anti-rhino poaching through the influence of tribal authorities as leaders within their communities 
was also the main focus. This initiative is also aimed at improving and strengthening relations between Kruger and Traditional Councils. During the meeting, a 
presentation on the impact and effects of rhino poaching was conducted by the KNP Ranger – Nxanatseni South. The meeting was attended by 165 delegates 
from the Traditional Councils and forum.

Tintswalo Hospital - 16 September 2015

KNP Management paid a visit to Tintswalo Hospital in the children’s ward at Acornhoek as a symbolic way of taking the park to the children, who due to ill 
health could not make it to the park during the SA National Parks Week. The hospital visit by management is also coordinated in support of the vision “A 
sustainable National Park System connecting society”. The event was attended by 55 people. The children received goodie bags and shared a slice of cake with 
management in a joyful manner.  

Oversight visit to KNP by the Joint Select Committees on Land and Mineral Resources and Communications and Public Enterprises - 7 – 10 
September 2015

Kruger National Park was host to delegates from Land and Mineral Resources and Communications and Public Enterprises who were on a sight visit to the KNP 
and to also host a two day workshop at Nombolo Mdhluli Conference Centre.
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Visit by Tintswalo Psychiatric Ward to the park - 13 October 2015

KNP was host to 59 psychiatric patients and care givers from Tintswalo Hospital. This initiative came about from the Tintswalo Hospital visit by KNP management 
during the SANPW activities in September 2015. The main focus was to allow the patients to experience the bush environment and to give them some time 
out of the hospital surroundings. The patients were treated to a game drive from Kruger Gate, a visit to the bomas and a walk about in the museum.

Visit by Chinese delegation to sign an MOU - 27 October2015

KNP was host to six delegates from China – the Sichuan Forestry Bureau who were on a study/fact finding mission on conservation and management of the 
park in general and to further sign an MOU between KNP and China. This trip follows a visit by the KNP General Manager: Conservation Management to China 
some time back.  

Presidential Visit to KNP - 1 November 2015

Kruger National Park was host to President Jacob Zuma who was accompanied by the Environmental Affairs Minister Ms Edna Molewa, the acting Premier of 
Mpumalanga Mr Vusi Shongwe, the acting Premier of Limpopo Mr Jerry Ndou, the CEO of SANParks Mr Fundisile Mketeni.

Section 2: Parks Division Report

Following an extended drought period during the third quarter, good rains were experienced in a number of parks in the Arid and Northern clusters bringing 
some relief to the severe drought conditions experienced. Follow-up rains will be essential to reduce the impacts of the prolonged dry spells and abnormally 
high temperatures recorded in the fourth quarter in these areas and across the country.

As part of Operation Phakisa, the intent to declare 23 new Marine Protected Areas (MPAs) was published for a 90-day commenting period. Amongst the 23 
are the Addo and Namaqua MPAs. It was further noted that SANParks is listed as the Management Authority of the Robben Island MPA. Discussions between 
SANParks and Oceans and Coast will be held to identify the associated costing and management implications.

Following the publishing of draft regulations for the management of the Tsitsikamma Marine Protected Area, in November 2015, an interim pilot phase was 
approved by the DEA Minister for controlled access from 15 December 2015. A High Court order was issued in January 2016 to SANParks to discontinue the 
pilot phase of the controlled access within the Tsitsikamma MPA. Comments on the said regulations were sent to DEA.

Rhino protection in the six rhino parks remains a high priority. This pro-active approach to mitigating the treat of poaching has been very successful. Staff from 
these parks visited KNP to gain first-hand experience of dealing with and combatting rhino-poaching.

The number of guest to parks showed a variation throughout the year and an unexpected decline was experienced due to new visa requirements, fluctuation 
of the rand and tourists not travelling due to the Ebola virus concerns.

During June - August 2015, State of Area Integrity Assessments were conducted over 18 parks. A number of changes were introduced to the 2015 assessment 
for the Parks Division. These changes included a risk factor against the measured criteria and a weighting of the assessment categories.

Marine Protected Areas

•	 The year-to-date expenditure for the SANParks Marine function is currently 12% underspent. The expenditure lines, which mainly contribute towards 
this, include under-expenditure on maintenance, depreciation and operating costs. The capturing of all expenditure does not reflect on the fourth 
quarter budget. 
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Rhino Protection Plan

•	 Since the implementation of the rhino protection plan, the division has only suffered the loss of one rhino, which was poached in Mapungubwe 18 
months ago. These successes can be directly attributed to dedicated work of the park rangers and other staff.   

•	 Parks Division manages about 2% of SANParks population rhinos (>250 white rhinos & >235 black rhinos) in six widely dispersed parks.

PARK YEAR RHINO SPECIES METHOD CURRENT POPULATION

Marakele National Park
2015

2015

White rhino (C. s. simum)

Black rhino (D. b. minor)

Total Count

Mark-recapture

192

71 (63 – 78)

Mapungubwe National Park 2015 White rhino (C. s. simum) Registration 5

Mokala National Park
2015

2015

White rhino (C. s. simum)

Black rhino (D. b. bicornis)

Total Count

Registration

55

15

Addo Elephant National Park 2015 Black rhino (D. b. bicornis) Registration 120

Karoo National Park 2015 Black rhino (D. b. bicornis) Registration 18

Mountain Zebra National Park 2015 Black rhino (D. b. bicornis) Registration 10

Samara custodianship 2015 Black rhino (D. b. bicornis) Registration 5

Operation Phakisa: Unlocking the Economic Potential of South Africa’s Oceans

As part of this program, four sectors have been prioritised as potential new growth areas:

•	 Marine Transport and Manufacturing (Lab 1).

•	 Offshore oil and gas exploration (Lab 2).

•	 Aquaculture (Lab 3).

•	 Marine protection services and governance (Lab 4). 

SANParks is directly involved in initiatives of two of these Labs: Offshore oil and gas exploration and marine protection services and governance, and indirectly 
in aquaculture via projects on the ground.

Monthly meetings were attended: detailed discussions were held regarding the Technical Working Group. This includes the work plan for the rollout of pilot 
projects along the coastline, which will extend from the Orange River to Addo Elephant National Park (AENP) near Port Elizabeth. 

A number of ongoing law enforcement operations were conducted in coastal identified areas. Some of the operations remain ongoing. Namaqua, West Coast, 
Table Mountain and Addo Elephant National Parks have participated in operations and will continue to do so when the need is identified. 

As part of Operation Phakisa, the intent to declare 23 new Marine Protected Areas (MPAs) was published for a 90-day commenting period. Amongst the 23 
are the Addo and Namaqua MPAs. It was further noted that SANParks is listed as the Management Authority of the Robben Island MPA. Discussions between 
SANParks and Oceans and Coast will be held to identify the associated costing and management implications. 
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REGIONS: 
The Parks Division comprises 

19 National Parks and are 
divided into four Regions, 

namely the Northern 
Region, which consists of 

the Mapungubwe, Golden 
Gate Highlands and the 
Marakele National Parks; 

the Frontier Region, which 
consists of the Addo 

Elephant, Karoo, Mountain 
Zebra and Camdeboo 

National Parks; the Arid 
Region, which includes the 
Kgalagadi Transfrontier; the 

Richtervseld Tranfrontier-, 
the Augrabies Waterfalls 

and the Namaqua National 
Parks; the Garden Route 

Region, which consists of 
the Tsitsikamma, Knysna and 
Wilderness Sections and the 
Cape Region, which consists 
of the Table Mountain; West 

Coast, Bontebok, Agulhas and 
Tankwa National Parks. 
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Northern Region (Mapungubwe; Marakele and Golden Gate Highlands National Parks) 

State of Tourism

The Mapungubwe Heritage Legacy Indaba coordinated by Dr Motshekga Mathole, attended by the Deputy Minister of Arts and Culture, Rejoice Mabudafhasi, 
was held in the Park on 5 June 2015.

The Polokwane Show took place from 27 – 30 May 2015. KNP afforded the region an opportunity to join them to showcase what Mapungubwe had on offer 
and about 700 people visited the stand.

New tented units at the Bontle Camp in Marakele National Park opened for reservations in July 2015.

A heritage digitisation workshop was collaborated between Mapungubwe Cultural Landscape and Makapans Valley World Heritage Site with an extension of 
stakeholder’s participation from National Department of Arts and Culture, and University of Venda in the first quarter.

Two shorthaired German Shepard dogs were donated to Mapungubwe National Park by the Honorary Rangers. These dogs (a sniffer and a tracker dog) will 
assist the park in combatting wildlife crime and more importantly to strengthen the efforts towards rhino conservation. Two Field Rangers are in the process 
of receiving dog handler training.

During full moon on 26 February 2016, intelligence was received at 03:15 of five suspects moving towards the park. Rangers and a tracker dog unit were 
deployed and came across five suspects running in different directions. Tracking continued and at about 09:30 one suspect was apprehended and taken into 
custody by the SAPS. Later another two suspects were found. One surrendered and the other tried to run away. He was ordered to stop and warning shots 
were fired. He was hit by a bullet in his right thigh. The SAPS who assisted in the chase at that time took over the scene.

Unfortunately, the suspect passed away before emergency services arrived at the scene. The other suspect was taken into the SAPS custody. Two cases were 
opened including one of murder.

A meeting was held between SANParks and the Marakele Park (Pty) Ltd. Key outcomes of this meeting include confirmation of the restructured composition 
of the Joint Management Committee (JMC) and the Joint Operations Committee (JOC) and the commitment to meet bi-annually.

The QwaQwa nursery CSI project was officially handed over in early January 2016.
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Frontier Region (Addo Elephant, Karoo, Mountain Zebra and Camdeboo National Parks) 

Karoo National Park received a 2015 Certificate of Excellence from the international travel site, TripAdvisor. TripAdvisor is the world’s largest travel site, enabling 
travellers to plan and experience the perfect trip. It offers trusted advice from real travellers and a wide variety of travel choices and planning features with 
seamless links to booking tools.

The Karoo National Park hosted three international journalists from France who will be writing several articles in a wide range of internationally recognised 
magazines. They stayed in the park for two days and visited all the park attractions. The journalists also participated in activities including guided hikes and 
game drives.

Cape Nature and Eastern Cape Conservation (DEDEA) confirmed their support to SANParks of the intention to sell Cape Mountain zebra from Mountain Zebra 
National Park (MZNP), if a number of conditions are met, including genetic testing of animals, recording and marking of animals and sale to owners where no 
plains or Hartmann’s zebra are kept.

In MZNP, in the month of August and September, 46 jackals were culled over two nights as part of the implementation of the springbok/jackal management 
project.

The proposal for a land swap between SANParks and the Camdeboo Municipality was first tabled five years ago and the Camdeboo Municipality accepted the 
offer, on condition that SANParks purchased alternative land, which was duly acquired. See the map below. The alternate land was purchased by SANParks; the 
Camdeboo Municipality rescinded the decision due to one objection, from the Eyethu Farmers Association.Customer Satisfaction Index
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The area to the north marked in red, Erf 1814 or commonly referred to as Camp 39, is 517 hectares in size. Its inclusion into Camdeboo National Park will resolve 
a multitude of management challenges such as fence line maintenance, river crossings and increased biodiversity management.

In addition to the above, a mining application was made in the area known as Camp 39. Meetings were held with legal representatives to formalise an 
objection against this application. A submission was made to the consultant regarding the lack of consultation with interested and affected parties.

Sylvester the lion made his first escape from Karoo National Park in the beginning of June 2015. After an extensive search of 24 days, the lion was captured on 
the afternoon of the 29 June, re-collared and placed in the lion boma. An estimated number of 26 sheep and a kudu bull were killed by the lion on private 
landowners’ property. The lion escaped for the second time on 28 March 2016 – after his first walkabout of three weeks in June last year. He was recaptured on 
31 March 2016 by a team of rangers and trackers from the park. The lion was darted from the air by a SANParks Veterinarian in a mountainous area and needed 
to be transported down in a stretcher, on foot, for 3 km to the nearest awaiting vehicle. The lion is currently in the park’s boma.

AENP hosted 18 black SMMEs from Motherwell to discuss the possibility of creating job opportunities for the area.

In August 2015, Prince Henry of Wales came to AENP on a private visit. His primary interest was the protection of rhino and the methods deployed to safeguard 
these threatened species.
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Cape Region (Table Mountain, West Coast, Bontebok, Agulhas and Tankwa Karoo National Parks) 

The Cape Region experienced a 17% decline in visitor numbers and people participating in activities to the region over the first half of the financial year, which 
had a significant impact on conservation fees revenue realised. The decline in guests to parks was a result of a drop in visitor numbers to Table Mountain 
National Park (TMNP) and other visitor attractions in the Cape Town Metro. The exact reason for the decline could not be determined for Table Mountain 
National Park as reliable visitor data was absent. Major changes in foreign travel regulations did however play a role and the fact that certain key activity sites 
were closed during this period due to the March 2015 fires.

The region experienced a bumper summer season over the second half of the year, which wiped out the deficit in visitor numbers and revenue by the end of 
the financial year. Measures are being put in place to improve on the visitor data collection.

In the first quarter, the Cape Region provided a display at the Budget Vote Speech by the Minister of Environmental Affairs. The rangers had the opportunity to 
brief the Minister and Deputy Minister about their daily duties and challenges.

Shark Bay Donation Agreement: SANParks had several meetings with the Saldanha Bay Municipality and Dormell properties to finalise a donation agreement 
and to give input to the Shark Bay homeowners association’s constitution. Comments from the West Coast National Park were sent to the SANParks Legal 
Services for input. A costing exercise was also undertaken to determine the cost of managing the donated land.

The management of Bontebok National Park has engaged the local municipality with a proposal to lease a small piece of land adjacent to the park entrance. 
The purpose of this is to ensure a green belt between the park and a developing industrial area.

In Agulhas National Park, coastal driving continues to be the problem and anglers breach barriers at Rietfontein. The reason for the closure is to curb illegal 
activities on the coast. The closure of the jeep track and other illegal access routes to the coast in Agulhas is being opposed by historical users and the parties 
are in discussion to come to an amicable solution.

Land Matters

Encroachments by the Rastafarian community at Ocean View in TMNP are still unresolved and removal of illegal shacks by rangers has become life threatening. 
There have been several threats made towards staff. After a recent fire in Ocean View, employees are working with the City of Cape Town (CoCT ) Housing to 
try and permanently move the displaced families that lost their dwellings during the fire and prevent others moving in.

Six illegal structures were identified to be on the TMNP land in Ocean View and removed by SAPS and CoCT Anti-land Invasion Unit (ALIU).

On 26 January 2016, a joint operation between the CoCT Anti Land Invasion Unit and TMNP was held at the Peers Hill/Brigantine triangle area to remove illegal 
structures. The team consisted of the ALIU, park staff and 40 Expanded Public Works Programme general workers and contractors for litter removal. Seven 
structures were removed from the area.

Land invasions at Hangberg in the TMNP are not being resolved despite cooperative interventions by TMNP, City and Province. Court orders were obtained by 
authorities to stop the increase in this encroachment, but the residents are still violently opposing the Court Order. SANParks owns the land directly above the 
Hangberg settlement, and there is a process of expropriating the rest of the peak above that.
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TMNP fire management

A suspicion was raised that numerous recent fires were started deliberately in the South Peninsula. A Provincial Fire Task Team was established for investigating 
45 fires that had been reported as intentional/malicious. The Task Team is made up of representatives from CoCT Special Investigation Unit, City Fire and Rescue 
Services, SAPS, SAPS Dog Unit, TMNP and a forensic fire investigator.

The maintenance of the peninsula firebreak network continued during this period and the effectiveness of well-maintained firebreaks played an integral role 
in protecting the urban edge.

Bontebok National Park in partnership with the Community Action Partnership (CAP), Swellendam Tourism Economic Empowerment Program (STEEP) and the 
Cape Town Cycling Tour Trust (CPCTT ) donated 10 mountain bikes to Bontebok Primary School. This particular group of learners participate monthly in the 
Park’s Environmental Education Program.
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Arid Region (Kgalagadi Transfrontier, Richtersveld Transfrontier, Augrabies Waterfalls and Namaqua National Parks) 

The drought in the Namaqua area was broken with 91mm of rain measured for June 2015. A good, but late flower season was experienced.

In Namaqua, very little rain fell in August, which did not bode well for the veld condition as the summer season approached. The poor veld condition resulted 
in significant ostrich mortalities and a planned ostrich capture exercise was cancelled.

Rains in February 2016 led to a substantial visible improvement in the veld conditions and greenness in the Kgalagadi.

Extreme weather conditions in mid-February damaged roofs at the Kalahari-tented camp and left the park with several uprooted trees.

During a Joint Management Board Meeting held in June 2015, the Khomani San Administrator informed SANParks that the Bushman Council would appoint a 
consultant to help with the decision-making regarding the Auob lodge proposals received.

A Richtersveld Community Management Committee (RGBK) meeting was held on 10 November 2015. It was agreed at this meeting that the renewal of the 
contractual park agreement should go ahead and submission in this regard was made to the SANParks Executive Committee meeting in December.



South African National Parks Annual Report 2015/16112

Garden Route National Park (Tsitsikamma, Knysna and Wilderness Sections) 

“TsitsiCarnival”: As an intervention to attract local and black visitors into the Tsitsikamma Section of Garden Route National Park (GRNP), the Tsitsikamma staff 
hosted a carnival on 14 November 2015. Sponsorship from local businesses funded the event. Local youth groups presented various dance and musical 
performances. The theme was “creating a sense of hope by connecting society.” The event recorded 774 visitors.

The “Tsitsikamma Refurbishment Project” is at an advanced stage. The construction site for the gate and admin building has been handed over and work has 
commenced by the contractor.

Tsitsikamma Zip-line: Following the successful conclusion of a legal case, the activity had been put out on tender. Only one bid was received, which went 
through the relevant adjudication process. Ratification to award the tender is being awaited and is due to be awarded in April 2016.

The Knysna-based water activities tender has been concluded and is due to be awarded in April 2016.

The Minister of Environmental Affairs gave approval in terms of Section 50 of the Protected Areas Act for the interim implementation of controlled line fishing 
in 20% of the Tsitsikamma MPA, and an agreement was entered into between the Tsitsikamma community and SANParks in this regard on 27 November 2015. 
This interim implementation of line fishing in the MPA was however, challenged by a group known as ‘Friends of Tsitsikamma’ and an urgent interdict was 
applied for. A High Court order was issued in January 2016 to SANParks to discontinue the pilot phase of the controlled access within the Tsitsikamma MPA. 
Comments on the said regulations were sent to the DEA.

An exciting siting of the elusive Knysna Elephant occurred during February 2016 in the Knysna Section.

The Working for Water programme experienced a setback this past year and did not reach all their targets. High turnover of cluster and project managers 
resulted in a backlog and funds had to be reallocated to other regions. A new approach to the management of alien clearing by Working for Water teams was 
decided. Project Managers will be placed with section rangers to foster close working relationships and planning between the two functions.

GRNP Timber Harvesting: An intervention via Anglo American and the Jobs Fund has resulted in the establishment of a task team, which has six months to 
develop a turn-around strategy. 

PA
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3. Part C: Corporate Governance
3.1 Corporate Governance Report

SANParks is a Schedule 3A Public Entity, and therefore fully adheres to the rules and regulations as set out in the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) 1 
of 1999 and applicable Treasury Regulations. In addition to this SANParks subscribes and is committed to comply, where applicable, with the principles and 
standards of integrity and accountability as contained in the recommendations of the King III Report on Corporate Governance.

Board of South African National Parks

The Board of SANParks is established by the Minister of Environmental Affairs by notice in the Government Gazette for the control, management and preservation 
of national parks and protection of public interest therein. The current Board was appointed from 1 April 2015 for the three-years ending 31 March 2018.

EXECUTIVE NON-EXECUTIVE APPOINTMENT DATE TERMINATION DATE

Ms J Yawitch (Chairperson) Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Ms K Njobe Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Mr ET Khumalo Non-Executive 1 April 2015 9 November 2015
Dr CG Olver Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Ms F Futwa Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Ms BD Ferguson Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Mr M India Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Mr L Zita Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Dr M Matlou Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Mr MT Mokono Non-Executive 1 April 2015 23 March 2016
Dr N Mzilikazi Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Ms T Semane Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Ms H Schoeman Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Mr F Mketeni (CEO) Executive 1 April 2015 N/A

Audit and Risk Committee 

The Committee assists the Board through critically evaluating the Board’s financial control measures, accounting practices, information systems and audit 
procedures. It performs this function continuously by way of close liaison with the executive management and with the Board’s internal and external auditors. 
The Audit and Risk Committee must consists of at least four non-executive Board members and the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). Nominated representatives 
of the AGSA and DEA attend by standing invitation. The Committee may involve other members of management or external specialists in meetings for specific 
purposes. The authority and mandate of the Audit and Risk Committee, its duties and functions, its composition and its operations have been approved by the 
Board in the form of a detailed charter.

Risk Management

SANParks Board is accountable for the process of risk management, which is reviewed regularly for effectiveness. Appropriate risk and control policies are 
established and communicated throughout SANParks. The Board retains control through the final review of key risk matters affecting the organisation. 

Risk management in SANParks is an on-going process, focused on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of significant risks across 
all operations. This has been in place for the year under review and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements.

Management is involved in a continuous process of improving procedures to ensure effective mechanisms for identifying, managing and monitoring risks in 
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the following major broad risk management areas: business; fraud; safety, occupational health and environmental management and; operating and financial 
management.

Business risk management - The organisation has effective mechanisms in place for identifying and monitoring risks that impact on SANParks. The procedures 
for implementing the business risk management process include a focus on areas such as human capital assessment and development, technological 
development and business continuity.

Fraud risk management - The objective is to manage the fraud risk and to raise the level of fraud awareness among SANParks internal and external stakeholders. 
SANParks fraud prevention plan intends to reduce the risk of fraud and provide mitigating measures that will protect the interests of the organisation. The 
proactive approach consists of the responsibility for, prevention, detection, reporting, communication and reaction to fraud.

Safety, occupational health and environmental management - SANParks is committed to the promotion of environmental, health and safety principles and 
practices to create a safe and healthy environment for all and to meet the requirements of all safety legislation as a minimum standard. 

Financial risk management - Controls are designed to give assurance that assets are safeguarded and that liabilities and working capital are managed effectively. 
Organisational policies, procedures, structures and approval framework provide for segregation of duties and contain self-monitoring mechanisms. Compliance 
is measured through regular reporting against the business goals, internal audit checks and external audit verification.

Internal Control Systems

To meet its responsibility of providing reliable financial information, SANParks maintains financial and operational systems of internal control. These controls 
are designed to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are concluded in accordance with management’s delegated authority, that the assets are 
adequately protected against material loss of unauthorised acquisition, use or disposition, and that transactions are properly authorised and recorded. A three-
year rolling internal audit plan has been completed by the Internal Auditors, but is reviewed annually, to ensure that risks identified in their risk assessment are 
adequately covered in their audit plan.

The system includes a documented organisational structure and division of responsibility, established policies and procedures, including a code of ethics 
to foster a strong ethical and internal control environment, which is communicated throughout the organisation, and the careful selection, training and 
development of staff.

Grant Thornton was appointed effective 1 April 2015 to provide internal audit services. The appointment was subject to open tender. Internal auditors monitor 
the operation of the internal control system and report findings and recommendations to management and the Audit and Risk Committee. Corrective actions 
are taken to address control deficiencies and other opportunities for improving the systems, as they are identified. The Board, operating through the Audit and 
Risk Committee, provides oversight of the financial reporting process and internal control systems.

Audit and Risk Committee Members:

EXECUTIVE OR NON-EXECUTIVE 
MEMBER APPOINTMENT DATE TERMINATION DATE

Dr CG Olver (Chairperson) Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Ms F Futwa Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Mr L Zita Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Mr M Mokono Non-Executive 1 April 2015 23 March 2016
Ms T Semane Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Ms H Schoeman Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Mr F Mketeni (CEO) Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
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Conservation, Tourism and Socio-Economic Development Committee

The primary function of this Committee is to identify, acquire, develop and advise on the management of a system of national parks for South Africa. This 
Committee also monitors the application of both science and the ethics of conservation in SANParks and ensures that the Board is aware of international 
trends in biodiversity science and environmental management. The Committee further assists the Board in the formulation of policies especially with regard 
to reconciling conservation with human development needs by assessing and interpreting the significance of scientific and technological considerations.

The Committee must consist of at least four non-executive members of the Board. The Managing Executives of Conservation Services, Tourism and Marketing, 
Parks and Kruger Divisions are required at each meeting.  In addition, the Committee may co-opt ad-hoc members as and when required. The Committee, as a 
primary responsibility, will recommend the strategic plans of the Conservation Services and Tourism and Marketing Divisions prior to submission to the Board. 
This will ensure congruence to the strategic plan, communicate its activities to the Board and recommend to the Board any policy or financial requirements 
that may require the Board’s attention or approval. The Committee also monitors the performance of the Tourism and Marketing and Conservation Services 
Divisions and helps forge business and stakeholder linkages where possible. The Committee further ensures the maintenance of the balance between tourism 
developments against the core mandate of SANParks, which is conservation. 

Conservation, Tourism and Socio-Economic Development Committee Members:

EXECUTIVE OR 

NON-EXECUTIVE MEMBERS
APPOINTMENT DATE TERMINATION DATE

Ms K Njobe (Chairperson) Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Mr T Khumalo Non-Executive 1 April 2015 9 November 2015
Mr M India Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Mr L Zita Non-Executive 1 April 2012 N/A
Dr M Matlou Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Mr M Mokono Non-Executive 1 April 2015 23 March 2016
Dr N Mzilikazi Non-Executive 1 April 2015 N/A
Mr F Mketeni (CEO) Executive 1 April 2015 N/A

Human Capital Management Committee

The Committee provides strategic advice to the Board and management on matters of Human Capital Management. The Committee formulates and reviews 
Human Resource and Remuneration policies as and when appropriate. The Committee consists of at least five non-executive members. The Head of Human 
Capital Management is required to attend each meeting by invitation.

Human Capital Management Committee Members: 

EXECUTIVE OR NON-EXECUTIVE MEMBER APPOINTMENT DATE

Ms B Ferguson (Chairperson) Non-Executive 1 April 2015
Ms K Njobe Non-Executive 1 April 2015
Dr M Matlou Non-Executive 1 April 2015
Ms T Semane Non-Executive 1 April 2015
Ms H Schoeman Non-Executive 1 April 2015
Mr F Mketeni (CEO) Executive 1 April 2015
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Board and board sub-committee meetings held, and attendance by members are as follows:

BOARD 

CONSERVATION, 
TOURISM AND 

SOCIO-ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT 

COMMITTEE

AUDIT AND RISK 
COMMITTEE

HUMAN CAPITAL 
AND MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE
CHAIRPERSONS  

COMMITTEE

Total no. of meetings 6 4 6 5 2
Ms J Yawitch 6 - - - 2
Ms K Njobe 6 3 - 5 1
Mr T Khumalo 1 - - - -
Dr CG Olver 5 - 6 - 2
Ms F Futwa 4 - 6 - -
Ms B Ferguson 6 - - 5 2
Mr M India 5 4 - - -
Mr L Zita 6 4 6 - -
Dr M Matlou 5 4 1 4 -
Mr M Mokono 3 3 3 - -
Dr N Mzilikazi 4 2 - - -
Ms T Semane 6 - 3 2 -
Ms H Schoeman 3 - 4 5 -
Mr F Mketeni 6 3 6 5 -

3.2 Audit and Risk Committee Report

Introduction 

This report to the Board on how the Audit and Risk Committee has discharged its duties, has been prepared in accordance with good governance principles. 

Composition

The Audit and Risk Committee comprised six non-executive board members and one executive board member. 

Frequency and attendance of meetings

In addition to the committee members, the Head of Risk Management, Internal Auditors and the AGSA attend all committee meetings by invitation. During the 
year under review, the committee met six times. Attendance of meetings held during the year under review is presented on the corporate governance report.

Overview

In adherence to the terms of the PFMA and the King III Code of Governance Principles, the Board (as the Accounting Authority) has established an Audit and Risk 
Committee and defined its composition, purpose and duties in the Audit and Risk Committee Charter. The Audit and Risk Committee complies with all legal 
and regulatory requirements as necessary under South African legislation, and has elected to apply the corporate governance principles for audit committees 
as required by King III. The Board has approved the terms of reference for the Audit and Risk Committee and all responsibilities are set out in detail therein.

In fulfilling its duties, the Audit and Risk Committee has:

•	 approved the internal audit plan;

•	 received and considered reports from internal auditors;

•	 reviewed and discussed the audited Annual Financial Statements with the AGSA, the CEO and the CFO;

•	 reviewed the adjustments resulting from external audit queries and accepted the unadjusted audit differences as they were not material; and
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•	 reviewed the quality of the financial reporting and disclosures.

The Audit and Risk Committee recommended the adoption of the Annual Report to the Board. In this regard, the committee:

•	  considered all facts and risks that may impact on the integrity of the Annual Report; and

•	 reviewed and commented on the Financial Statements included in the Annual Report.

The Board subsequently approved the Annual Report, including the Financial Statements.

Following a review conducted during the year, and meeting the requirements of the terms of reference, the committee is satisfied that:

•	 SANParks internal financial controls are effective and no material weaknesses in financial control have been identified,

•	 the outsourced internal audit function performed their duties as per the terms of reference tabled in the Internal Audit Charter and addressed all 
components of the Internal Audit Plan,

•	 the external auditors of SANParks are independent,

•	 the finance function of SANParks is adequately skilled, resourced and experienced, and

•	 the CFO, Mr R Mahabeer, has the appropriate expertise and experience to meet the responsibilities of the position.

Internal Audit

SANParks has an outsourced Internal Audit function, being provided by the firm Grant Thornton. The Internal Audit function provides the Board with assurance 
on the key areas of SANParks systems of internal control and risk management. The Internal Audit Plan and the Internal Audit Charter was reviewed and approved 
by the Committee. Internal Audit provides assurance that SANParks operates in a responsibly governed manner by performing the following functions: 

•	 objectively assuring effectiveness of risk management and the internal control framework;

•	 analysing and assessing business processes and associated controls; and

•	 reporting audit findings and recommendations to management and the Audit and Risk Committee.

The Committee is of the opinion that SANParks system of internal financial controls is effective and provides reasonable assurance that the financial records 
may be relied on for the preparation of the Annual Financial Statements.

Annual Financial Statements

The Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 and concluded that it complies, in all material 
respects, with the requirements of GRAP. The Committee has reviewed the AGSA’s Management Letter and management’s response thereto and adjustments 
resulting from the audit and recommended the approval of the Annual Financial Statements to the Board.

Conclusion

The Committee is satisfied that it has considered and discharged its responsibilities in accordance with its mandate and terms of reference during the year 
under review.

Dr CG Olver

Chairperson

Pretoria

 31 July 2016
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Part D: Human Capital Management

The corporate human capital management programme for the 2015/16 has been aligned to SANParks’ strategic business requirements and the annual

performance plan. The programme covers both policy and strategy imperatives, which are spread across the following areas:

•	 Employee Benefits

•	 Staff Procurement (Recruitment)

•	 Labour Relations

•	 Human Capital and Organisational Development

•	 Employee Wellness and Occupational Health and Safety

•	 Policy Development and ManagementEmployee Benefits

Employee benefits serve to attract and retain talented employees in organisations. SANParks provides several value-adding benefits other than remuneration, 
as part of the retention programme. These include the following:

•	 Medical aid post-retirement benefits

•	 Study bursary scheme (for employees and their children)

•	 Hostel fee subsidy for employee’s children

•	 Comprehensive medical aid membership

•	 Membership of retirement and provident funds

•	 Funeral schemes

•	 Free holiday accommodation in national parks for employees

Extension of Benefits to Fixed-Term Contract Employees

The benefits that were previously reserved for permanent employees were extended to fixed-term contract employees as per the Joint Collective Agreement 
signed between SANParks Management and Organised Labour. These included Annual leave, Occasional leave, Sick leave, 13th Cheque, Medical Aid Benefit, 
Retirement benefit, Long Service Awards, Housing Allowance and Boarding School subsidy for children of employees residing in the national parks. This 
development was in line with the dictates of the Labour Relations amendments that an employee employed on a fixed-term contract for more than three 
months must not be treated less favourably than an employee who is employed on a permanent basis performing the same or similar work, unless there is a 
justifiable reason for different treatment.

Staff Procurement (Recruitment)

During the reporting period, SANParks recognises that its employees are fundamental to its success. It is against this backdrop that it therefore needs to be 
able to attract and retain staff of the highest calibre and a strategic, professional approach to recruitment is essential to do this. In this regard, the moratorium 
on appointments was lifted. Funded and unfunded vacancies were identified and black scientists were appointed. The narratives below shed more light on 
these aspects.

Lifting of moratorium on appointments

The moratorium on appointments, which was initially imposed as a cost-curtailment measure, was lifted on 23 November 2015. The lifting of the moratorium 
implied that funded vacancies could be filled in accordance with the Delegation Framework. If there was a need to fill such vacancies with individuals other 
than women or people living with disabilities, the Chief Executive Officer’s approval should be sought. Moreover, all the transfers of employees on Paterson 
Grade C and the requests to fill unfunded positions should be approved by the Chief Executive Officer.
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Funded and unfunded positions

During the period under review, 155 funded vacancies with the total financial 
implication of R49 193 273.05 and 95 unfunded vacancies with the financial 
implication of R23 251 268.15 were identified. To date, 107 have been filled. 
Moreover, funds will have to be put aside for the filling of the unfunded vacancies 
in the 2016/17 financial year.

The financial implications of the unfunded positions were worked out. The rationale 
was to make a submission to the Chief Financial Officer to make funds available in 
the 2016/17 financial year.

Appointment of black scientists

Historically, it has been a challenge to find suitably qualified black scientists. 
However, Conservation Services Division successfully appointed the black scientists 
during the period under review as follows:

•	 Scientist: Marine Biology (Rondevlei) – Coloured Male

•	 Scientist: Marine Planner (Port Elizabeth) – Indian Female

•	 Scientist: GIS Planner (Port Elizabeth) – Indian Female (in process of offer)

•	 Scientist: Social Science (Rondevlei) – Black Male

•	 Scientist: Social Science (Cape Research Centre) – Coloured Female

Organisational design

During the period under review, the Structural Adjustments Programme, which 
forms part of the Organisational Design Phase 1 was implemented. The Structural 
Adjustments Programme (SAP) seeks to examine the current Human Capital 
Management (HCM) issues and deliver proposals for the adjustments to SANParks 
Leadership.

The Structural Adjustments Programme has the following as key objectives

•	 To ensure compliance with the new Labour Relations amendments

•	 To ensure the filling of vacancies

•	 To standardise the Job Titles

•	 To correct the Job Grades

•	 To identify the factors that give rise to salary disparities

•	 To promote remuneration equity in the workplace

•	 To formalise the Establishment Tables and Organograms

The following milestones have been achieved:

•	 The Structural Adjustments Template was developed

•	 The Template was populated with relevant data

•	 The moratorium on appointments was lifted. Funded vacancies are being 
filled

Wellness in SANParks
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•	 The benefits that were previously reserved for permanent employees have been extended to fixed-term contract employees as per the Joint Collective 
Agreement signed in Groenkloof on 9 December 2015. These include, Annual leave, Occasional leave, Sick leave, 13th Cheque, Medical Aid Benefit, 
Retirement benefit, Long Service awards, Housing Allowance and Boarding School subsidy for children of employees residing in the national parks

•	 Inconsistent Job Titles and Job Grades were identified

•	 The Establishment Tables and Organograms were compared and analysed for the identification of funded and unfunded vacancies

•	 Fixed-term contracts for 254 employees who have worked for more than three months were identified

•	 Guidelines on how to apply the principle of equal remuneration practically for work of equal value are being considered

Labour Relations

Compliance with labour legislation

One of the strategic intents of the labour relations programme for the financial year under review was to ensure that employees in the bargaining unit are 
remunerated at a level that attracts, retains and motivates them to achieve SANParks’ strategic objectives. The year has been successful due to the positive 
results after salaries and conditions of service negotiations, extension of benefits to fixed-term contract employees and favourable awards from the commission 
for conciliation, mediation and arbitration. 

SANParks complied with applicable labour legislation, which resulted in good governance and labour peace for the organisation. Consequently, there were no 
disputes lodged against SANParks for failure to comply with any labour legislation during the period under review. 

Union Activities

Trade union membership in SANParks

The following recognised trade unions depicted in the table below played an active role within SANParks during the period under review:

TRADE UNION TOTAL MEMBERSHIP
Health and Other Services Personnel Trade Union of South Africa (HOSPERSA) 1 812
National Education, Health and Allied Workers Union (NEHAWU) 781
South African Commercial, Catering and Allied Workers Union (SACCAWU) 656

Trade Union Engagements (Consultations)

The Extension of Benefits to employees for temporary employees and fixed-term contracts were signed into effect on 9 December 2015 with HOSPERSA, 
NEHAWU and SACCAWU.  

A Joint Consultation Meeting regarding Integrity Test Project was held with HOSPERSA and NEHAWU on 1 February 2016.

The Joint Task Team meeting comprised of HOSPERSA, NEHAWU and SANParks was held on 1 February 2016 for discussing the Housing Allowance, Medical 
Aid and Pension Fund.

On 23 and 24 February 2016, HOSPERSA, SACCAWU and SANParks met to consult on the following policies:

•	 Recruitment and Selection Policy and Procedure

•	 Medical Scheme Protocol

•	 Retirement Fund Policy

•	 Leave Policy

•	 Overtime Standard Operation Procedure
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Salaries and Conditions of Service Negotiations

The 2015/16 salaries and conditions of service negotiations between the HOSPERSA; NEHAWU, SACCAWU and SANParks were concluded after four sessions

held during June and July 2015.

The signed Joint Salaries and Conditions of Employment Collective entailed the following:

•	 10% increase across the board for employees in the Bargaining Unit. However, all employees under the cost to company packages (Paterson C and

•	 Upper), salaries were adjusted by 6%. Housing Allowance of R1 340.00 per month for A Band employees and R2 076.00 per month for B Band employees

•	 who reside outside the Park.

•	 Danger Allowance of R349.92 per month for field rangers and R140.40 for employees who work at the Environmental Crime Division, Conservation

•	 Services, Technical Services and Tourism.

•	 Special Danger Allowance of R59.40 per night is payable to field rangers, lance corporals, corporals and security officers.

•	 Dog Handler Allowance of R216.00 per month is payable to qualifying employees.

•	 Sleep-out Allowance of R54.00 is payable to qualifying employees.

•	 Night shift Allowance of R59.40 is payable to qualifying employees.

•	 The 13th Cheque is payable to qualifying employees at the end of November each year.

Labour Peace

During the period under review, there were no disputes that resulted in industrial action. 

Discipline

Disciplinary action

Comparisons of disciplinary statistics for the past two financial years are displayed below:

Sanctions   2014/15 2015/16

•	 Warnings   297  345

•	 Dismissals   39  37

The number of warnings instituted during the period under review has increased compared to the previous financial year, whilst the number of dismissals has 
slightly decreased as depicted above.

Suspensions

There were 28 suspensions during the period under review. Of the total amount, 26 suspensions were attended to and two are still pending. 

Appeals 

There were 35 appeals during the period under review. Of the total amount, 21 appeals were attended to and 14 are still pending. 

Grievances

There were 86 grievances lodged during the period under review. Sixty grievances were resolved and 26 are still pending. The above indicates that 70% of the 
grievances were resolved during the period under review. 
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Management of labour litigation

Labour disputes were managed efficiently to ensure minimum liability for SANParks as per the statistics below:

•	 22 Cases were referred to the CCMA. 11 were settled under the auspies of the CCMA, three were closed, one condonation was denied and one was partly 
ruled in favour of applicant. 12 cases are currently pending.

•	 There were six Labour Court cases during the period under review, one was ruled in favour of SANParks and five cases are currently pending.

SANParks, is currently standing at 69% success rate on CCMA cases and the prospects of success are good for the pending CCMA and labour court cases.

Labour relations training
•	 The Labour Relations office conducted Employees’ Rights and Responsibilities Workshop for the employees in various Parks throughout the organisation 

and 443 employees were trained during the period under review.

•	 53 employees were trained on the Labour Law Amendments in the KNP.

•	 20 employees were trained on managing workplace discipline and incapacity in the workplace for Marula and Corporate Regions in the KNP.

Learning and development

The SANParks, in its endeavour to ensure that its workforce has the right skills, in the right positions has committed to invest at least 3% of its total payroll 
towards employees skills development, which is more than the 1% set by the National Skills Levy Act. For the 2015/16 financial year, SANParks in aligning its 
strategic plan and associated initiatives with government’s 12 outcomes articulated the following objectives for Learning and Development: 

A. Ensuring that at least 95% of its workforce meets minimum educational requirements, in order to execute their duties effectively. The target has been 
achieved through the implementation of the following interventions:

•	 Registering employees on learnerships in conservation (Feld Rangers) with the Southern African Wildlife College.

•	 Registering employees for Trade Skills Training with relevant TVETs.

•	 Register employees who qualify with institutions of higher learning to further their studies as per the job requirement.

•	 Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL) process to be implemented to assist employees with no formal qualifications who have extensive experience to 
acquire recognised qualifications.

B. 85% progress against implementation of skills development programme skills, and to date the organisation has achieved 88% against the set annual 
training plans:

•	 Environmental Management Investigation (EMI) training benefited 750 Field Rangers.

•	 103 employees were recipients of Employee Bursary Loans to further their education with institutions of higher learning. Eight were PHD candidates in 
conservation related studies and 25% are female candidates.

•	 Adult Basic Education and Training (ABET) level 1 and 2 project was implemented in the KNP, Marakele National Park and Golden Gate Highlands

National Park for 50 employees with the objective of developing foundation towards lifelong learning and development within the unskilled workforce. 
SANParks, in its endeavour to contribute to the National Skills Development Strategy, hosted 170 interns (63 in collaboration with SANBI Groen Sebenza project 
and 21 with South African College of Tourism). This programme strives to provide graduates with meaningful experiential learning to increase their chances 
of employability

Performance management 

Performance management for individuals and the organisation was given a strategic focus for the 2015/16 financial year. The focus was to inculcate further a 
culture of performance and productivity within the organisation. The following were embarked on based on set strategic initiatives or interventions:

•	 To review the performance management policy, processes and procedures.
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•	 To train employees on performance management.

•	 Have a change management process to inculcate a culture of performance.

During the financial year under review, the performance unit reviewed the performance management policy, which was approved by the SANParks executive 
Committee and the Board. Performance Management workshops were conducted on the changes for the benefit of employees in C - F Bands. The focus on 
training was more with managers and supervisors for them to understand the performance management systems and how to implement them. For effective 
implementation and culture change, leadership commitment and support is key and in this case SANParks leadership is committed and driving the process 
from the top.

Transformation Annual Report

For SANParks, transformation is a fundamental change process, which affects every aspect of our business, either directly or indirectly. The ultimate purpose of 
transformation is to address the systematic exclusion of the majority of South Africans from full participation in the economy, particularly black South Africans, 
people with disabilities and women.

Transformation is managed through the Human Capital Management Division (Transformation Unit) and the SANParks Central Committee, which review 
monthly and quarterly progress respectively, and by executive management teams and employee-elected transformation forums in each business unit. The 
transformation forums serve as consultation partners to management on transformation-related issues and generally have both management and employee 
representatives, including unions, and diverse race and gender representation.

Employment equity targets are set annually for the representation of black people, women and people with disabilities at all occupational levels.

The table below illustrates SANParks progress in respect of the drive around employment equity. 

OCCUP. 

LEVEL
MALE FEMALE

FOREIGN 

NATIONAL
TOTAL 

BLACK

TOTAL 

WHITE

TOTAL 

MALE

TOTAL 

FEMALE

TOTAL 

EMPLOYEES
 A  C  I  W  A  C  I  W  M  F

F
1 0 1 1 2 0 0 1 0 0 4 2 3 3

6
33% 0% 33% 33% 67% 0% 0% 33% 0% 0% 67% 33% 50% 50%

E
14 5 2 19 7 1 0 4 0 0 29 23 40 12

52
35% 13% 5% 48% 58% 8% 0% 33% 0% 0% 56% 44% 77% 23%

D
75 20 5 77 45 16 3 47 3 0 164 124 180 111

291
42% 11% 3% 43% 41% 14% 3% 42% 1% 0% 56% 43% 62% 38%

C
191 46 1 42 151 34 1 48 0 1 424 90 280 235

515
68% 16% 0% 15% 64% 14% 0% 20% 0% 0% 82% 17% 54% 46%

B
966 289 1 21 286 112 3 28 0 1 1 657 49 1 277 430

1 707
76% 23% 0% 2% 67% 26% 1% 7% 0% 0% 97% 3% 75% 25%

A
741 54 0 1 571 87 0 2 0 0 1 453 3 796 662

1 456
93% 7% 0% 0% 86% 13% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 55% 45%

TOTAL PERM 1 988 414 10 161 1 062 250 7 130 3 2 3 731 291 2 576 1 451 4 027
TOTAL TEMP 526 151 4 83 447 149 1 43 0 1 1 278 126 764 641 1 405
TOTAL 2 514 565 14 244 1 509 399 8 173 3 3 5 009 417 3 340 2 092 5 432

Note: A = Africans, C= Coloureds, I= Indians and W=Whites
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Organisational Development

The objective for the unit is to encourage excellent performance through organisational development and design engagements.

Job profiling and evaluation

SANParks has adopted a new Job Profiling System (SJPS). The system has brought with it key advantages and benefits. Amongst others, the system is costeffective 
since no external parties are involved in the entire job profiling and evaluation process.

Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) programme

SANParks’ priority areas for OHS in 2015/16 was the reduction of workplace incidents and ensuring that the workplace environment was made safer by 
reduction of injuries to improve worker safety which could lead to morale boosting. Legal compliance monitoring continued in line with the Occupational 
Health and Safety Act and the Compensation for Occupational Injuries and Diseases Act.

SANParks started moving away from the old concept of OHS management to a much more modern and sophisticated OHSAS 18001 management system in 
2015. The benefits of the OHSAS 18001 are that they are best practice based and globally recognised.

The occupational health and safety policy has since been reviewed to incorporate environmental management and quality. A Safety, Health, Environment and 
Quality (SHEQ) framework has been developed and formulated to accommodate and streamline the implementation of the organisational integrated Safety, 
Health, Environment and Quality (SHEQ) management system.

SANParks is rolling out the OHSAS 18001 management system by incorporating the Integrated Management System (IMS). The IMS concept of the Safety, 
Health, Environment and Quality (SHEQ) management system seeks to establish the integration of Safety, Health, Environment and Quality (Safety, Health, 
Environment and Quality (SHEQ)) system where OHS, environmental management and quality management are meant to merge to align to ISO international 
standards i.e. OHSAS 18001, ISO 14001 and ISO 9001 respectively.

The integration is bringing with it a lot of positive benefits for the organisation in terms of best practice and global exposure:

•	 SANParks has continued with planned structured inspections and targeted audits to monitor progress and identify shortfalls thus aiding continuous 
improvement to the current systems and programs.

•	 Provided employees with the capabilities, knowledge and resources necessary to instil personal ownership and motivation to achieve OHS excellence 
through training.

•	 Maintained a secure work environment to protect workers, contractors and the organisation’s assets from risks of injury, property loss or damage 
resulting from hostile acts.

•	 Analysis and monitoring of incident trends and legislative compliance monitoring across the organisation so that adequate advice and guidance is 
provided timeously.

Workplace incidents that were reported during the period under review:
•	 Fatal incidents reported = one employee was accidently shot by a colleague whilst on patrol when a buffalo charged at them and he got in the line of 

fire (fatal) incident 

•	 Disabling injuries = 43

•	 Man-days lost due to injury = 438

Actual  2014/15
Total Lost Time Accidents (LTA) 138
Total number of reported injury incidents 708
Work related deaths 1
Disabling Injuries (Over 3 Days off duty due to injury) 43
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Employee Wellness Programme

SANParks, as the caring organisation, prioritises safety and wellness of its employees. The programme is about promoting employee work-life balance, and in 
achieving that, a series of initiatives took place to ensure achievement of a healthy balance between emotional, physical, social and spiritual dimensions.

A myriad of education and awareness activities aimed at promoting healthy lifestyle took place during the year under review; this was done in collaboration 
with expert organisations, for example, cancer association for cancer awareness.

Psychosocial support/counselling services to employees and their family is outsourced to Metropolitan Health. There was a general slow start and 
underperformance by the Metropolitan contract and this affected the utilisation of personal support services. However, stringent contract and critical incident 
management strategies put in place led to marked improvement on service access and turnaround time, this is evident with the establishment of two onsite 
clinics in KNP (Mopani and Skukuza).

The year under review was plagued by family, relationships and money issues that happen to be interrelated. To remedy this, workshops were arranged across 
parks on financial management, and in some parks diversity and conflict management courses were recommended as a response plan to the Human Capital 
Management.

Policy development

Legislative compliance, including adherence to international treaties and agreements, regional protocols, national legislation and organisational policies and 
procedures, is critical to good corporate governance. It underpins the organisations integrity and accountability, supports its principles and mandate linking 
these directly to the day-to-day business of the organisation. Legislative compliance, also affords the organisation certain rights and protection.

SANParks has established a Policy Management and Compliance Committee with representation nominations from all divisions, including Human Capital

Management, to serve as policy coordinators, to fulfil policy governance requirements in line with the approved framework.In 2015, the Department of 
Environmental Affairs (DEA) initiated a process of ensuring that all human resources policies of State Owned Entities that fall under its control are reviewed, 
developed and aligned.

The four DEA SOEs are:

•	 iSimangaliso Wetland Park Authority (iSimangaliso)

•	 South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI)

•	 South African National Parks (SANParks)

•	 South African Weather Service (SAWS).
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The human capital policies were subsequently reviewed and/or developed during the 2015/2016 financial year:

•	 Leave Standard Operating Procedure

•	 Recruitment and Selection Policy and Procedure

•	 Disciplinary Policy and Procedures

•	 Job Evaluation Policy

•	 Performance Management Policy

•	 Skills Attraction and Retention Policy

•	 Pension / Provident Fund Policy

•	 Medical Aid Standard Operating Procedure

•	 Grievance Policy

•	 Employment Equity Policy

•	 Vehicle, Tool of Trade and Financing Policy

•	 Safety, Health, Environment and Quality Management Policy

•	 Integrated Wellness Policy

•	 Overtime Standard Operating Procedure

Staff supporting Red My Lips Campaign
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Human Resource Oversight Statistics

The public entity must provide the following key information on human resources:

•	 All the financial amounts must agree to the amounts disclosed in the annual financial statements.

•	 Where considered appropriate, provide reasons for variances.

REASONS FOR STAFF LEAVING:

Reason Number % of total no. of staff leaving

Death 22 10%

Resignation 106 50%

Dismissal 37 18%

Retirement 31 15%

Ill-health 11 5%

Expiry of contract 0 0%

Other - Absconded 4 2%

EMPLOYMENT CHANGES

Salary Band Employment at 
beginning period - 31 

March 2015

Appointments Terminations Employment at the end 
of period - March 2016

Top management - F 5 2 1 6

Senior Management - E 54 4 8 50

Professional qualified - D 308 7 23 292

Skilled - C 551 17 45 523

Semi-skilled - B 1 708 66 85 1 689

Unskilled - A 1 420 70 49 1 441

Total 4 046 166 211 4 001
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Employment and vacancies per job category: 

Programme/ 
activity/objective

2015/2016 2015/16 2015/16 2015/16

% of vacanciesNo. of employees 
(Warm Bodies)

Approved posts Filled posts Vacancies

Top Management - F 6 7 6 1 14,29

Senior Management - E 50 58 50 8 13,79

Professional Qualified D 292 315 292 23 7,30

Skilled - C 523 568 523 45 7,92

Semi-skilled - B 1 689 1 774 1 689 85 4,79

Unskilled - A 1 441 1 490 1 441 49 3,29

Total 4 001 4 001 4 001 211 5,01

Personnel cost by salary band

Level Personnel Expenditure % of personnel 
expenditure to total 

personnel costs

No. of employees Average personnel cost 
per employee

Top Management 10 573 083.29 1,28% 7 1 510 440.47

Senior Management 57 338 541.47 6,94% 57 1 005 939.32

Professional Qualified 183 649 959.51 22,23% 317 579 337.41

Skilled 147 265 017.69 17,83% 577 255 225.33

Semi-Skilled 258 246 753.48 31,27% 1 783 144 838.34

Unskilled 168 888 939.59 20,45% 1 495 112 969.19
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Performance awards

Programme/ activity/ objective Performance Rewards Personnel Expenditure % of performance rewards to 
total personnel costs

Top Management 391 313.22 10 573 083.29 3,70%

Senior Management 1 508 330.51 57 338 541.47 2,63%

Professional Qualified 4 871 751.00 183 649 959.51 2,65%

Skilled 3 315 631.48 147 265 017.69 2,25%

Semi-skilled and discretionary decision 

making (do not receive a performance 

bonus)

 258 246 753.48  

Unskilled (do not receive a performance 

bonus)

  168 888 939.59  

Temporary  Staff   135,810,394.91  

Other related personnel costs    

TOTAL 10 087 026.22 961 772 689.94 1,05%

Finances

Programme/ activity/ objective Performance Rewards Personnel Expenditure % of performance rewards to 
total personnel costs

Top management 391 313.22 10 392 498.80 3,77%

Senior management 1 508 330.51 54 186 281.32 2,78%

Professional qualified 4 871 751.00 167 387 651.25 2,91%

Skilled 3 315 631.48 134 340 253.98 2,47%

Semi-skilled and discretionary decision 

making (do not receive a performance 

bonus)

 242 900 637.80  

Unskilled (do not receive a performance 

bonus)

 160 790 977.97  

Temporary Staff  125 969 516.45  

Other related personnel costs    

TOTAL 10 087 026.21 895 967 817.57 1,13%
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Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on South African National Parks

Introduction

1. I have audited the financial statements of the South African National Parks set out on pages 134 to 213, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2016, the statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net assets, cash flow statement and 
statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts for the year then ended, as well as the notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the financial statements

2. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with South African 
Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practise (SA Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act 
of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), and for such internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-general’s responsibility

3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. I conducted my audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements, and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessment, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion 

6. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the South African National Parks as 
at 31 March 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with SA Standard of GRAP and the 
requirements of the PFMA.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
7. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a 

responsibility to report findings on the reported performance information against predetermined objectives of selected objectives presented 
in the annual performance report, compliance with legislation and internal control. The objective of my tests was to identify reportable findings 
as described under each subheading but not to gather evidence to express assurance on these matters. Accordingly, I do not express an 
opinion or conclusion on these matters.

Predetermined objectives

8. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information of the following 



South African National Parks Annual Report 2015/16 135

South African National Parks

Auditor General’s Report on Annual Financial Statements
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 

selected objectives presented in the annual performance report of the public entity for the year ended 31 March 2016:

• Objective 1: Optimised economic contribution through tourism and associated activities on pages 25 to 31.

• Objective 2: Enhanced conservation and ecological integrity of National Parks system on pages 32 to 37.

• Objective 3: Optimised socio-economic beneficiation on pages 38 to 43.

9. I evaluated the usefulness of the reported performance information to determine whether it was presented in accordance with the National 
Treasury’s annual reporting principles and whether the reported performance was consistent with the planned objectives. I further performed 
tests to determine whether indicators and targets were well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable, time bound and relevant, as required by 
the National Treasury’s Framework for managing programme performance information (FMPPI).

10. I assessed the reliability of the reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete.

11. I did not identify any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information for any of the objectives 
selected as indicated in paragraph 8 above.

Additional matters

12. Although I identified no material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information for the selected objectives, 
I draw attention to the following matters:

Achievement of planned targets

13. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 25 to 50 for information on the achievement of the planned targets for the year.

Adjustment of material misstatements

14. I identified material misstatements in the annual performance report submitted for auditing. These material misstatements were on the 
reported performance information of Optimised Economic Contribution through Tourism and Associated Activities, Enhanced Conservation 
and Ecological Integrity of National Park System and Optimised Socio-Economic Beneficiation. As management subsequently corrected the 
misstatements, I did not identify any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information.

Unaudited supplementary information

15. The supplementary information set out on page 52 to 131 does not form part of the annual performance report and is presented as additional 
information. I have not audited these schedules and, accordingly, I do not report thereon.

Compliance with legislation

16. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the public entity had compiled with applicable legislation 
regarding financial matters, financial management and other related matters. I did not identify any instances 
of material non-compliance with specific matters in key legislation, as set out in the general notice issued 
in terms of the PAA.

Internal control

17. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, the annual performance 
report and compliance with legislation. I did not identify any significant deficiencies in internal control.

Pretoria | 29 July 2016
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2016 2015
Note(s) R ‘000 R ‘000

Assets 
Current Assets 
Inventories 2 30 755 33 958
Receivables from exchange transactions 3 36 682 39 404
Receivables from non-exchange transactions 4 19 562 1 000
Cash and cash equivalents 5 981 552 882 817

1 068 551 957 179
Non-Current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment 6 1 606 858 1 452 090
Intangible assets 7 36 155 34 591
Heritage assets 8 535 202 500 071
Receivables from exchange transactions 3 163 644 160 369

 2 343 859 2 147 121

Total Assets 3 412  410 3 104 300

Liabilities 
Current Liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 9 1 712 3 504
Finance lease obligation 10 4 123 3 287
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 11 253 138 219 287
Liabilities from non-exchange transactions 12 405 725 476 030
Provisions 13 46 365 37 968
Reservation deposits 14 276 656 249 703

 987 719 989 779

Non-Current Liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 9 - 1 712
Finance lease obligation 10 3 071 3 011
Employee benefit obligation 15 486 196 456 647
Provisions 13 163 644 160 369

 652 911 621 739

Total Liabilities 1 640 630 1 611 518

Net Assets  1 771 780 1 492 782

Accumulated surplus 1 771 780 1 492 782
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2016 2015
Note(s) R ‘000 R ‘000

Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions 
Tourism, Retail, Concession and Other 16 1 497 892 1 355 861
Sales - fauna and flora 17 48 791 31 368
Other operating income 18 37 134 26 324
Interest and royalties received 19 37 189 31 070
Total revenue from exchange transactions 1 621 006 1 444 623

Revenue from non-exchange transactions 
Transfer revenue
Government grants and other funding 20 1 265 772 1341 169
Donations 21 16 936 12 644
Total revenue from non-exchange transactions 1 282 708 1 353 813

Total revenue 2 903 714 2 798 436

Expenditure 
Employee related costs 22 (907 600) (871 215)
Depreciation and amortisation 23 (82 601) (71 380)
Finance costs 24 (1 191) (1 088)
Operating lease payments 28 (115 142) (112 974)
Repairs and maintenance 25 (80 618) (76 963)
Operating expenses 26 (1 434 360) (1 373 875)
Total expenditure (2 621 512) (2 507 495)

Operating surplus 282 202 290 941
Loss on disposal of assets 29 (3 204) (3 003)
Surplus for the year 278 998 287 938
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Accumulated 
surplus

R ‘000

Balance at 1 April 2014 1 352 598
Changes in net assets

Surplus for the year 287 938

Adjustments

Correction of errors (147 754)

Balance at 1 April 2015 1 492 782
Changes in net assets

Surplus for the year 278 998

Balance at 31 March 2016 1 771 780
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2016 2015
Note(s) R ‘000 R ‘000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts 
Cash receipts from exchange transactions 1 586 541 1 440 594
Cash receipts from non-exchange transactions 1 193 841 579 083
Interest income 37 189 31 070
 2 817 571 2 050 747

Payments 
Employee costs (878 051) (823 317)
Suppliers (1 553 249) (852 704)
Finance costs (363) (567)
Finance costs on current borrowings (828) (521)
 (2 432 491) (1 677 109)
Net cash flows from operating activities 32 385 080 373 638

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 6 (242 117) (289 041)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1 072 3 906
Purchase of other intangible assets 7 (3 394) (8 027)
Expenditure from conditional grants (284 535) (286 007)
Cash received from conditional grants 285 684 318 694
Purchases of heritage assets 8 (35 131) (16 634)
Net movement in concession assets - (3 792)
Net cash flows from investing activities (278 421) (280 901)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of other financial liabilities (3 504) (3 504)
Finance lease payments (4 420) (1 639)
Net cash flows from financing activities (7 924) (5 143)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 98 735 87 594
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 882 817 795 223
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5 981 552 882 817
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Budget on Accrual Basis Approved budget Adjustments Final Budget
Actual amounts on 

comparable basis

Difference between

final budget and actual
R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Statement of Financial Performance
Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions
Tourism, Retail, Concession and Other 1 434 401 - 1 434 401 1 497 892 63 491
Sales - fauna and flora 50 000 - 50 000 48 791 (1 209)
Other operating income  18 189 - 18 189 37 134 18 945
Interest and royalties received 18 564 - 18 564 37 189 18 625
Total revenue from exchange 
transactions 1 521 154 - 1 521 154 1 621 006 99 852

Revenue from non-exchange 
transactions

Transfer revenue

Government grants and other funding 519 280 - 519 280 1 265 772 746 492
Donations 5 687 - 5 687 16 936 11 249
Total revenue from non-exchange 
transactions 524 967 - 524 967 1 282 708 757 741

Total revenue 2 046 121 - 2 046 121 2 903 714 857 593

Expenditure
Employee related costs (903 417) - (903 417) (907 600) (4 183)
Depreciation and amortisation (97 983) - (97 983) (82 601) 15 382
Finance costs (1 500) - (1 500) (1 191) 309
Operating lease payments (116 926) - (116 926) (115 142) 1 784
Repairs and maintenance (79 913) - (79 913) (80 618) (705)
Operating expenses (615 803) - (615 803) (1 434 360) (818 557)
Total expenditure (1 815 542) - (1 815 542) (2 621 512) (805 970)

Operating surplus 230 579 - 230 579 282 202 51 623
Loss on disposal of assets - - - (3 204) (3 204)

Surplus for the year before 
extraordinary items 230 579 - 230 579 278 998 48 419

Actual Amount on Comparable Basis 
as Presented in the Budget and Actual 
Comparative Statement

230 579 - 230 579 278 998 48 419
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R’000

Reconciliation between actual and budget statement of financial performance

Variances on Budget

Surplus as per the statement of financial performance 278 998

Revenue from exchange transactions is more than budget due to increased unit occupancy. The increase in unit occupancy is influenced by the two long 

weekends experienced in March 2016. The two weeks public school holidays during March 2016 had a positive impact as evidenced by the increase in visitor 

numbers.

(99 852)

Revenue from non-exchange transactions variance is due to the following: (757 741)

•	 Infrastructure grant income is below budget as a result of less income realised than anticipated. Infrastructure grant income is realised in accordance 
with GRAP 23, which makes it challenging to accurately budget for the grant income that will qualify as revenue during the financial year.

86 624

•	 Special projects income is included in revenue from non-exchange transactions but is not budgeted for as it falls outside SANParks normal operations. (813 842)
•	 Donations received are in excess of the budget as they are influenced by individual donors. (11 249)
•	 Land grant income realised during the current financial year, which is a conditional grant that can only be realised once the conditions of the grant 

have been met.
(19 274)

Total expenditure variance results from the following: 805 970

•	 The main contributor to this negative variance is the special projects and infrastructure operational expenditure, which has been accounted for but 
not budgeted for. The reason for this is because these operating expenses fall outside of SANParks normal operating activities. When this expenditure 
is removed from normal operating activities, a saving in total expenditure is achieved.

841 954

•	    Saving on the normal operating expenses (35 984)

Loss on disposal of assets not budgeted for 3 204

Net surplus/(deficit) per approved budget 230 579



South African National Parks Annual Report 2015/16142

South African National Parks

Accounting Policies
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 

1. Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any 
interpretations and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board in accordance with Section 91(1) of the Public Finance Management Act (Act No 1 
of 1999).

The financial statements were prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and incorporated the historical cost conventions as the basis of measurement, 
except where specified otherwise.

In the absence of an issued and effective Standard of GRAP accounting policies for material transactions, events or conditions were developed in accordance 
with paragraphs 8, 10 and 11 of GRAP 3 as read with Directive 5.

Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses were not offset, except where offsetting is either required or permitted by a Standard of GRAP.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

1.1 Underlying concepts and comparative figures

The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis using accrual accounting.

Changes in accounting policies are accounted for in accordance with the transitional provisions in the standard. If no such guidance is given, they are applied 
retrospectively, unless it is impracticable to do so in which case they are applied prospectively.

1.2 Inventories

SANParks inventories include consumables, retail goods and fuel.

Inventories are initially measured at cost except where inventories are acquired through a non-exchange transaction, then their costs are their fair value as at 
the date of acquisition.

Subsequently inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost where they are held for:

•	 distribution at no charge or for a nominal charge; or

•	 consumption in the production process of goods to be distributed at no charge or for a nominal charge.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of operations less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary 
to make the sale, exchange or distribution.

Current replacement cost is the cost the SANParks incurs to acquire the asset on the reporting date.

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition.

The cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily interchangeable and goods or services produced and segregated for specific projects is assigned using 
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specific identification of the individual costs.

The cost of inventories is assigned using the first-in first-out (FIFO) formula. The same cost formula is used for all inventories having a similar nature and use to 
SANParks.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amounts of those inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised. 
If there is no related revenue, the expenses are recognised when the goods are distributed or related services are rendered. The amount of any write-down of 
inventories to net realisable value or current replacement cost and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss 
occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories arising from an increase in net realisable value or current replacement cost are recognised 
as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Inventories, which exclude fauna and flora are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and 
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 
of business adjusted for any selling expenses. Cost is determined by the first-in-first-out method. 

1.3 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual interest of another entity.

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus 
principal repayments plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the 
maturity amount and minus any reduction (directly or through the use of an allowance account) for impairment or uncollectibility.

A concessionary loan is a loan granted to or received by an entity on terms that are not market related.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

Derecognition is the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from an entity’s statement of financial position.

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:

•	 Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of 
prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to a party 
to the contract (sometimes called the ‘underlying’).

•	 It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other types of contracts that would be 
expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.

•	 It is settled at a future date.
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1.3 Financial instruments (Continued)

estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when it appropriates, a shorter period to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, an entity shall estimate cash flows considering all contractual 
terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, call and similar options) but shall not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees 
and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate (see the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from 
Exchange Transactions) transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. There is a presumption that the cash flows and the expected life of a group of 
similar financial instruments can be estimated reliably. However in those rare cases when it is not possible to estimate reliably the cash flows or the expected 
life of a financial instrument (or group of financial instruments), the entity shall use the contractual cash flows over the full contractual term of the financial 
instrument (or group of financial instruments).

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

A financial asset is:

•	 cash;

•	 a residual interest of another entity; or

•	 a contractual right to:

	- receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or

	- exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially favourable to the entity.

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified 
debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to:

•	 deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or

•	 exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the event of difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering 
cash or another financial asset.

Loan commitment is a firm commitment to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions.

Loans payable are financial liabilities other than short-term payables on normal credit terms.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises 
three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those 
arising from interest rate risk or currency risk,) whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors 
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affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.

A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when contractually due.

A residual interest is any contract that manifests an interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. A residual interest includes contributions 
from owners, which may be shown as:

•	 equity instruments or similar forms of unitised capital;

•	 a formal designation of a transfer of resources (or a class of such transfers) by the parties to the transaction as forming part of an entity’s net assets  
either before the contribution occurs or at the time of the contribution; or

•	 a formal agreement, in relation to the contribution, establishing or increasing an existing financial interest in the net assets of an entity.

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or financial liability. An incremental 
cost is one that would not have been incurred if the entity had not acquired issued or disposed of the financial instrument.

Financial instruments at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets or non-derivative financial liabilities that have fixed or determinable payments 
excluding those instruments that:

•	 the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; or

•	 are held for trading.

Financial instruments at cost are investments in residual interests that do not have a quoted market price in an active market, and whose fair value cannot be 
reliably measured.

Financial instruments at fair value comprise financial assets or financial liabilities that are:

•	 derivatives;

•	 combined instruments that are designated at fair value;

•	 instruments held for trading. A financial instrument is held for trading if:

	-  it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near-term; or

	-  on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent 
actual pattern of short term profit-taking;

	- non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are designated at fair value at initial recognition; and

	- financial instruments that do not meet the definition of financial instruments at amortised cost or financial instruments at cost.

Classification

The entity has the following types of financial assets (classes and category) as reflected on the face of the statement of financial position or in the notes thereto:

CLASS CATEGORY
Cash and cash equivalents Financial asset measured at fair value 
Receivables from exchange transactions Financial asset measured at amortised cost 
Receivables from non-exchange transactions Financial asset measured at cost 



South African National Parks Annual Report 2015/16146

South African National Parks

Accounting Policies
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 

1.3 Financial instruments (Continued)

SANParks has the following types of financial liabilities (classes and category) as reflected on the face of the statement of financial position or in the notes 
thereto:

CLASS CATEGORY
Post-retirement health benefit obligation Financial liability measured at fair value 
Long term borrowings Financial liability measured at amortised cost 
Long term liabilities from non-exchange liabilities Financial liability measured at cost 
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions Financial liability measured at cost 
Provisions Financial liability measured at cost 
Short term portion of long term liabilities Financial liability measured at amortised cost 
Reservation deposits held Financial liability measured at cost 
Liabilities from non-exchange transactions Financial liability measured at cost 

The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount, which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus principal 
repayments, plus or minus cumulative amortisation, using the effective interest method of any difference that the initial amount and the maturity amount and 
minus any reduction (directly or through the use of an account) for impairment or uncollectability.

The fair value of a financial asset or a financial liability is the amount the asset could be exchanged and the liability settled between knowledgeable willing 
parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Financial instruments at costs are financial assets and financial liabilities that do not have a quoted market, price in an active market and whose fair value 
cannot be reliably measured.

Initial recognition

SANParks recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position when SANParks becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument.

Initial measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

SANParks measures a financial asset and financial liability initially at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue 
of the financial asset or financial liability.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

SANParks measures all financial assets and financial liabilities after initial recognition using the following categories: 

•	 Financial instruments at fair value.

•	 Financial instruments at amortised cost.

•	 Financial instruments at cost.

All financial assets measured at amortised cost or costs are subject to an impairment review.
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Fair value measurement considerations

The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an active market. If the market for a financial instrument is not active, SANParks establishes fair value by 
using a valuation technique. The objective of using a valuation technique is to establish what the transaction price would have been on the measurement 
date in an arm’s length exchange motivated by normal operating considerations. Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions 
between knowledgeable, willing parties, if available reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same discounted cash 
flow analysis and option pricing models. If there is a valuation technique commonly used by market participants to price the instrument and that technique 
has been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates of prices obtained in actual market transactions the entity uses that technique. The chosen valuation 
technique makes maximum use of market inputs and relies as little as possible on entity-specific inputs. It incorporates all factors that market participants 
would consider in setting a price and is consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial instruments. Periodically, an entity calibrates 
the valuation technique and tests it for validity using prices from any observable current market transactions in the same instrument (i.e. without modification 
or repackaging) or based on any available observable market data.

The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g. a demand deposit) is not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted from the first 
date that the amount could be required to be paid.

Reclassification 

The entity does not reclassify a financial instrument while it is issued or held unless it is:

•	 combined instrument that is required to be measured at fair value; or

•	 an investment in a residual interest that meets the requirements for reclassification.

Where the entity cannot reliably measure the fair value of an embedded derivative that has been separated from a host contract that is a financial instrument 
at a subsequent reporting date, it measures the combined instrument at fair value. This requires a reclassification of the instrument from amortised cost or cost 
to fair value.

If fair value can no longer be measured reliably for an investment in a residual interest measured at fair value, the entity reclassifies the investment from fair 
value to cost. The carrying amount at the date that fair value is no longer available becomes the cost.

If a reliable measure becomes available for an investment in a residual interest for which a measure was previously not available, and the instrument would 
have been required to be measured at fair value, the entity reclassifies the instrument from cost to fair value.

Gains and losses

A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of a financial asset or financial liability measured at fair value is recognised in surplus or deficit.

For financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost or cost, a gain or loss is recognised in surplus or deficit when the financial asset or 
financial liability is derecognised or impaired, or through the amortisation process.

Impairment and uncollectibility of financial assets

SANParks assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.
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1.3 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets measured at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured 
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been 
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed directly or by adjusting an allowance account. The reversal does not result in a carrying 
amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is 
reversed. The amount of the reversal is recognised in surplus or deficit.

Financial assets measured at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an investment in a residual interest that is not measured at fair value because its 
fair value cannot be measured reliably, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are 
not reversed.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The entity derecognises financial assets using trade date accounting.

The entity derecognises a financial asset only when:

•	 the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, are settled or waived;

•	 the entity transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset; or

•	 the entity, despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, has transferred control of the asset to 
another party, and the other party has the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party, and is able to exercise that ability 
unilaterally and without needing to impose additional restrictions on the transfer. In this case, the entity;

	- derecognises the asset; and

	- recognises separately any rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer.

Financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the transferred asset are allocated between the rights or obligations retained and those transferred on the basis of their relative 
fair values at the transfer date. Newly created rights and obligations are measured at their fair values at that date. Any difference between the consideration 
received and the amounts recognised and derecognised is recognised in surplus or deficit in the period of the transfer.

If the entity transfers a financial asset in a transfer that qualifies for derecognition in its entirety and retains the right to service the financial asset for a fee, it 
recognise either a servicing asset or a servicing liability for that servicing contract. If the fee to be received is not expected to compensate the entity adequately 
for performing the servicing, a servicing liability for the servicing obligation is recognised at its fair value. If the fee to be received is expected to be more than 
adequate compensation for the servicing, a servicing asset is recognised for the servicing right at an amount determined on the basis of an allocation of the 
carrying amount of the larger financial asset.
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If, as a result of a transfer, a financial asset is derecognised in its entirety but the transfer results in the entity obtaining a new financial asset or assuming a new 
financial liability, or a servicing liability, the entity recognise the new financial asset, financial liability or servicing liability at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received is recognised in 
surplus or deficit.

If the transferred asset is part of a larger financial asset and the part transferred qualifies for derecognition in its entirety, the previous carrying amount of the 
larger financial asset is allocated between the part that continues to be recognised and the part that is derecognised based on the relative fair values of those  
parts on the date of the transfer. For this purpose, a retained servicing asset is treated as a part that continues to be recognised. The difference between the 
carrying amount allocated to the part derecognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part derecognised is recognised in surplus or deficit.

If a transfer does not result in derecognition because the entity has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred asset, the 
entity continue to recognise the transferred asset in its entirety and recognise a financial liability for the consideration received. In subsequent periods, the 
entity recognises any revenue on the transferred asset and any expense incurred on the financial liability. Neither the asset and the associated liability nor the 
revenue and the associated expenses are offset.

Financial liabilities

The entity removes a financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) from its statement of financial position when it is extinguished i.e. when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled, expires or waived.

An exchange between an existing borrower and lender of debt instruments with substantially different terms is accounted for as having extinguished the 
original financial liability and a new financial liability is recognised. Similarly, a substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial liability or a part of 
it is accounted for as having extinguished the original financial liability and having recognised a new financial liability.

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability (or part of a financial liability) extinguished or transferred to another party and the 
consideration paid including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed is recognised in surplus or deficit. Any liabilities that are waived, forgiven or 
assumed by another entity by way of a non-exchange transaction are accounted for in accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Non-exchange 
Transactions (Taxes and Transfers).

Presentation

Interest relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is recognised as revenue or expense in surplus or deficit.

Distributions relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is recognised as revenue or expense in surplus or deficit.

Losses and gains relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is recognised as revenue or expense in surplus or deficit.

A financial asset and a financial liability are only offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when the entity currently has a 
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

In accounting for a transfer of a financial asset that does not qualify for derecognition, the entity does not offset the transferred asset and the associated liability.
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1.4 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible items that:
•	 are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services for rental to others or for administrative purposes; and 

•	 are expected to be used during more than one reporting period.

Recognition

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if:

•	 it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity;  and 

•	 the cost or fair value of the item can be measured reliably.

Measurement at recognition

An item of property, plant and equipment that qualifies for recognition as an asset shall be measured at its cost.

Where an asset is acquired at no cost or for a nominal cost, its cost shall be measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Property, plant and equipment in the course of construction for production, rental or administrative purposes, or for purposes not yet determined, are carried 
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees, direct materials, labour and overhead expenses. Interest costs on borrowings to 
finance the construction of infrastructure are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the infrastructure for its intended 
use and form part of the cost of the asset.

Elements of cost

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises: 

•	 its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates; 

•	 any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management; and

•	 the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located, the obligation for which an entity 
incurs either when the item is acquired or as a consequence of having used the item during a particular period for purposes other than to produce 
inventories during that period.

Subsequent measurement

SANParks chose to use the cost model as its accounting policy and applies this policy to the entire class of property, plant and equipment. 

After initial recognition as an asset, an item of property, plant and equipment shall be carried at its cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

Depreciation amount and depreciation period

The depreciable amount of an asset has been allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life.

The residual value and the useful life of an asset has been reviewed at least annually and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) have 
been accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate in accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors.
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Where significant parts of an item have different useful lives or pattern in which future economic benefits are expected to be consumed, to the item itself, these 
parts are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. The methods of depreciation, useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually. 

ITEM AVERAGE USEFUL LIFE
Buildings and infrastructure Straight line over 20 to 50 years 
Vehicles, machinery and mechanical equipment Straight line over 5 to 8 years
Aircraft Straight line over 5 to 20 years as componentised
Furniture, office equipment and computer software Straight line over 3 to 10 years

Depreciation of these assets commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

The residual value, the useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at least at each reporting date. If the expectations differ from previous 
estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

Reviewing the useful life of an asset on an annual basis does not require the entity to amend the previous estimate unless expectations differ from the previous 
estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

Derecognition

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further economic benefits or service potential 
expected from the use or disposal of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit when the item is derecognised. The 
gain or loss arising from derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any 
and the carrying amount of the item.

Land is not depreciated.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter over the term of the 
relevant lease.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic recognition of the loss of the asset’s future 
economic benefits or service potential through depreciation.

SANParks assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that property, plant and equipment may be impaired. No such indication existed at 
the end of the current financial reporting period.
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1.5 Intangible assets

An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance.

An asset is identifiable if it either:

• is separable  i.e. is capable of being separated or divided from an entity and sold  transferred  licensed  rented or exchanged,  either individually or together 
with a related contract,  identifiable assets or liability,  regardless of whether the entity intends to do so; or

• arises from binding arrangements (including rights from contracts), regardless of whether those rights are transferable or separable from the entity or from 
other rights and obligations.

A binding arrangement describes an arrangement that confers similar rights and obligations on the parties to it as if it were in the form of a contract.

Recognition

An intangible asset is recognised when:

•	 it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and

•	 the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

The entity assesses the probability of expected future economic benefits or service potential using reasonable and supportable assumptions that represent 
management’s best estimate of the set of economic conditions that will exist over the useful life of the asset.

Initial measurement

An intangible asset is measured:

•	 initially at cost by SANParks, where an intangible asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction and its initial cost at the date of acquisition, is 
measured at its fair value as at that date.

Subsequent measurement

An intangible asset is measured:

•	 after initial recognition, an intangible asset is carried at its cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses; and

•	 amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis and the useful life varies between 3 and 10 years and is reviewed annually.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the 
asset is expected to generate net cash inflows or service potential. Amortisation is not provided for these intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment 
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis 
over their useful life.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator that the asset may be impaired. As a 
result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised over its useful life.

Impairment of Intangible Assets

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic recognition of the loss of the asset’s future 
economic benefits or service potential through depreciation.

SANParks assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that the computer software may be impaired. No such indication existed at the end 
of the current financial reporting period.
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1.6 Heritage assets

Heritage assets are assets, which have a cultural, environmental, historical, natural, scientific, technological, or artistic significance, and are held indefinitely for 
the benefit of present and future generations.

Classes of Heritage Assets include conservation areas such as national parks. This land is reflected as a heritage asset of SANParks. 

Characteristics often displayed by heritage assets include the following:

•	 Their value in cultural, environmental, educational and historical terms is unlikely to be fully reflected in monetary terms. 

•	 Ethical, legal and/or statutory obligations may impose prohibitions or severe stipulations on disposal by sale. 

•	 They are often irreplaceable. 

•	 Their value may increase over time even if their physical condition deteriorates. 

•	 They have an indefinite life and their value appreciates over time due to their cultural, environmental, educational, natural, scientific, technological, 
artistic or historical significance. 

•	 They are protected kept unencumbered, cared for and preserved.

Recognition

A heritage asset shall be recognised as an asset if, and only if:

•	 it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the asset will flow to the entity; and 

•	 the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

SANParks holds heritage assets through conservation areas in national parks that are regarded as heritage assets. SANParks does not recognise heritage assets, 
which on initial recognition, do not meet the recognition criteria of a heritage asset because they cannot be reliably measured. Relevant and useful information 
about them has been disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Initial measurement

A heritage asset that qualifies for recognition as an asset, shall be measured at its cost. When it is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, it will be 
measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

After recognition as an asset, a class of heritage assets is carried at its cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment

SANParks assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that it may be impaired. If any such indication exists, SANParks estimates the recoverable 
amount or the recoverable service amount of the heritage asset.

Transfers

Transfers from heritage assets are only made when the particular asset no longer meets the definition of a heritage asset.

Transfers to heritage assets are only made when the asset meets the definition of a heritage asset. The transfer will be made at the carrying value of the heritage 
asset.
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Derecognition

SANParks derecognises heritage assets on disposal, or when no future economic benefits or service potential are expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss arising from derecognition of a heritage asset is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying 
amount of the heritage asset. Such difference is recognised in surplus or deficit when the heritage asset is derecognised.

1.7 Impairment of cash-generating assets

Cash-generating assets are those assets held by SANParks with the primary objective of generating a commercial return. When an asset is deployed in a 
manner consistent with that adopted by SANParks, it generates a commercial return.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset over and above the systematic recognition of the loss of the asset’s future 
economic benefits or service potential through depreciation (amortisation).

The carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised in the statement of financial position after deducting any accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses thereon.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets held with the primary objective of generating a commercial return that generates cash 
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding finance costs and income tax expense.

Depreciation and/or amortisation is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable willing parties, less the 
costs of disposal.

Recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

Identification

When the carrying amount of a cash-generating asset exceeds its recoverable amount, it is impaired.

SANParks assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that a cash-generating asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, SANParks 
estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, SANParks also test a cash-generating intangible asset with an indefinite useful life or 
a cash-generating intangible asset not yet available for use for impairment annually by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This 
impairment test is performed at the same time every year. If an intangible asset was initially recognised during the current reporting period, that intangible 
asset was tested for impairment before the end of the current reporting period.

Value in use

The value in use of a cash-generating asset is the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from the continuing use of an asset 
and from its disposal at the end of its useful life.

When estimating the value in use of an asset, SANParks estimates the future cash inflows and outflows to be derived from continuing use of the asset and from 
its ultimate disposal and SANParks applies the appropriate discount rate to those future cash flows.

Basis for estimates of future cash flows

In measuring value in use SANParks:

•	 base cash flow projections on reasonable and supportable assumptions that represent management’s best estimate of the range of economic 
conditions that will exist over the remaining useful life of the asset. Greater weight is given to external evidence
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•	 base cash flow projections on the most recent approved financial budgets/forecasts but excludes any estimated future cash inflows or outflows 
expected to arise from future restructuring’s or from improving or enhancing the asset’s performance. Projections based on these budgets/forecasts 
covers a maximum period of five years, unless a longer period can be justified; and

•	 estimate cash flow projections beyond the period covered by the most recent budgets/forecasts by extrapolating the projections based on the 
budgets/forecasts using a steady or declining growth rate for subsequent years, unless an increasing rate can be justified. This growth rate does not 
exceed the long-term average growth rate for the products, industries, or country or countries in which the entity operates, or for the market in which 
the asset is used unless a higher rate can be justified.

Recognition and measurement (individual asset)

If the recoverable amount of a cash-generating asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
This reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater than the carrying amount of the cash-generating asset to which it relates, SANParks recognises 
a liability only to the extent that is a requirement in the Standard of GRAP.

After the recognition of an impairment loss the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the cash-generating asset is adjusted in future periods to allocate the 
cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any) on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Reversal of impairment loss

SANParks assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a cash-generating asset may 
no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable amount of that asset.

An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a cash-generating asset is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. The increase is a 
reversal of an impairment loss. The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating asset is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the cash-generating asset is adjusted in future periods to allocate 
the cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating unit is allocated to the cash-generating assets of the unit pro rata with the carrying amounts of those 
assets. These increases in carrying amounts are treated as reversals of impairment losses for individual assets. No part of the amount of such a reversal is 
Impairment of cash-generating assets 

allocated to a non-cash-generating asset contributing service potential to a cash-generating unit.

In allocating a reversal of impairment loss for a cash-generating unit, the carrying amount of an asset is not increased above the lower of:

•	 its recoverable amount (if determinable); and

•	 the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior periods.

The amount of the reversal of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit.
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1.8 Impairment of non-cash generating units

Cash-generating assets are those assets held by SANParks with the primary objective of generating a commercial return. When an asset is deployed in a 
manner consistent with that adopted by SANParks, it generates a commercial return. When an asset is deployed in a manner consistent with that adopted by 
a profit-orientated entity, it generates a commercial return. Non-cash-generating assets are assets other than cash-generating assets.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset over and above the systematic recognition of the loss of the asset’s future 
economic benefits or service potential through depreciation/amortisation.

The carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised in the statement of financial position after deducting any accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses thereon.

Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding finance costs and income tax expense.

Depreciation and/or amortisation is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, less the 
costs of disposal.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

At each reporting date, a review is carried out to determine whether there are any indications that any non-cash generating assets and non-cash generating 
units may be impaired. If such indications exist, the recoverable amounts of the affected assets are determined.

Where the recoverable amount of an asset or non-cash-generating unit is lower than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in surplus or deficit 
in respect of assets at historic cost and recognised in the revaluation reserve in respect of assets at revalued amounts.

Identification

When the carrying amount of a cash-generating asset exceeds its recoverable amount, it is impaired.

SANParks assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that a non-cash-generating asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, 
SANParks estimates the recoverable service amount of the asset.

Value in use

The value in use of a cash-generating asset is the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from the continuing use of an asset 
and from its disposal at the end of its useful life.

When estimating the value in use of an asset, SANParks estimates the future cash inflows and outflows to be derived from continuing use of the asset and from 
its ultimate disposal and SANParks applies the appropriate discount rate to those future cash flows.

Depreciated replacement cost approach

The present value of the remaining service potential of a non-cash-generating asset is determined as the depreciated replacement cost of the asset. The 
replacement cost of an asset is the cost to replace the asset’s gross service potential. This cost is depreciated to reflect the asset in its used condition. An 
asset may be replaced either through reproduction (replication) of the existing asset or through replacement of its gross service potential. The depreciated 
replacement cost is measured as the reproduction or replacement cost of the asset, whichever is lower less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis 
of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired service potential of the asset. 
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The replacement cost and reproduction cost of an asset is determined on an “optimised” basis. The rationale is that the SANParks would not replace or 
reproduce the asset with a like asset if the asset to be replaced or reproduced is an overdesigned or overcapacity asset. Overdesigned assets contain features, 
which are unnecessary for the goods or services the asset provides. 

Overcapacity assets are assets that have a greater capacity than is necessary to meet the demand for goods or services the asset provides. The determination 
of the replacement cost or reproduction cost of an asset on an optimised basis thus reflects the service potential required of the asset.

An impairment loss is recognised for a cash-generating unit if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit. The impairment 
is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the cash-generating assets of the unit on a pro rata basis, based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. 
These reductions in carrying amounts are treated as impairment losses on individual assets.

In allocating an impairment loss, the entity does not reduce the carrying amount of an asset below the highest of:

•	 its fair value less costs to sell (if determinable);

•	 its value in use (if determinable); and

•	 zero.

The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other cash-generating assets of the unit.

Recognition and measurement

SANParks assess at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a cash-generating asset may no 
longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable amount of that asset.

If the recoverable service amount of a non-cash-generating asset is less than its carrying amount the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable 
service amount. This reduction is an impairment loss. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit. 

Any impairment loss of a revalued non-cash-generating asset is treated as a revaluation decrease. When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater 
than the carrying amount of the non-cash-generating asset to which it relates, SANParks recognises a liability only to the extent that is a requirement in the 
Standards of GRAP. 

After the recognition of an impairment loss the depreciation/amortisation charge for the non-cash-generating asset is adjusted in future periods to allocate 
the non-cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

Any impairment loss of a revalued non-cash-generating asset is treated as a revaluation decrease. When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater 
than the carrying amount of the non-cash-generating asset to which it relates, SANParks recognises a liability only to the extent that is a requirement in the 
Standards of GRAP.

Redesignation

The redesignation of assets from a cash-generating asset to a non-cash-generating asset or from a non-cash-generating asset to a cash-generating asset only 
occur when there is clear evidence that such a redesignation is appropriate.
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1.9 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it 
does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

When a lease includes both land and buildings elements the entity assesses the classification of each element separately.

Finance leases as per the GRAP 13 refers to a contract that transfers the risk’s rewards rights and obligations incident to ownership, and is recorded as a 
purchase of equipment by means of long-term borrowings. All other leases are classified as operating leases.  

Finance leases - lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property or, if lower 
the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease 
obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the lease.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to each 
period during the lease term to produce a constant periodic rate on the remaining balance of the liability.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

A finance lease gives rise to a depreciation expense for depreciable assets and finance expense for each accounting period. The depreciation policy for 
depreciable-leased assets shall be consistent with that for depreciable assets that are owned, and the depreciation recognised shall be calculated in accordance 
with the Standard of GRAP on Property, Plant and Equipment and on Intangible Assets. If there is no reasonable certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership 
by the end of the lease term, the asset shall be fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

Operating leases - lessee

Assets acquired under leases where all the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term or another basis if more representative of the time pattern 
of the user’s benefit. The difference between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset 
or liability.

Where an operating lease is terminated before the lease expiry date, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an 
expense in the period in which the termination takes place.

1.10   Provisions and contingencies

A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount.

Recognition

Provisions are recognised when:
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•	 SANParks has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

•	 it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation; and

•	 a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date.

Where the effect of time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation.

The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement is recognised when, and 
only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if SANParks settles the obligation. The reimbursement is treated as a separate asset. The 
amount recognised for the reimbursement does not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed if it is no longer probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation.

Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of a provision increases in each period to reflect the passage of time. This increase is recognised as an interest 
expense.

A provision is used only for expenditures for which the provision was originally recognised.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating deficits.

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation (net of recoveries) under the contract is recognised and measured as a provision.

A constructive obligation to restructure arises only when an entity:

•	 has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring identifying at least:

	- the activity/operating unit or part of a activity/operating unit concerned;

	- the principal locations affected;

	- the location, function, and approximate number of employees who will be compensated for services being terminated;

	- the expenditures that will be undertaken; and 

	- when the plan will be implemented; and

•	 has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement that plan or announcing its main 
features to those affected by it.

A restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those that are both: 

•	 necessarily entailed by the restructuring; and

•	 not associated with the ongoing activities of SANParks.

No obligation arises as a consequence of the sale or transfer of an operation, until SANParks is committed to the sale or transfer, that is, there is a binding 
arrangement.
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1.10   Provisions and contingencies (Continued)

After their initial recognition contingent liabilities recognised in entity combinations that are recognised separately are subsequently measured at the higher 
of:

•	 the amount that would be recognised as a provision; and

•	 the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation.

A contingent asset is a possible asset, which arises from past events, and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one 
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity.

A contingent liability is:

•	 a possible obligation that arises from past events  and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity; or

•	 a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because;

	- it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation; or

	- the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 36.

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified 
debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

Loan commitment is a firm commitment to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions.

SANParks recognises a provision for financial guarantees and loan commitments when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits and service potential will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Determining whether an outflow of resources is probable in relation to financial guarantees requires judgement. Indications that an outflow of resources may 
be probable are:

•	 financial difficulty of the debtor;

•	 defaults or delinquencies in interest and capital repayments by the debtor;

•	 breaches of the terms of the debt instrument that result in it being payable earlier than the agreed term and the ability of the debtor to settle its 
obligation on the amended terms; and

•	 a decline in prevailing economic circumstances (e.g. high interest rates, inflation and unemployment) that impact on the ability of entities to repay 
their obligations.

Where a fee is received by SANParks for issuing a financial guarantee and/or where a fee is charged on loan commitments, it is considered in determining the 
best estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at reporting date. Where a fee is charged and SANParks considers that an outflow of economic 
resources is probable, SANParks recognises the obligation at the higher of:

•	 the amount determined using in the Standard of GRAP on Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and
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•	 the amount of the fee initially recognised less where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the Standard of GRAP on 
Revenue from Exchange Transactions.

1.11 Employee benefits

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by SANParks in exchange for service rendered by employees.

A qualifying insurance policy is an insurance policy issued by an insurer that is not a related party (as defined in the Standard of GRAP on Related Party 
Disclosures) of SANParks, if the proceeds of the policy can be used only to pay or fund employee benefits under a defined benefit plan and are not available to 
SANParks’ own creditors (even in liquidation) and cannot be paid to SANParks, unless either:

•	 the proceeds represent surplus assets that are not needed for the policy to meet all the related employee benefit obligations; or

•	 the proceeds are returned to SANParks to reimburse it for employee benefits already paid.

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as a result of either:

•	 SANParks decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal retirement date; or

•	 an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits.

Other long-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than post-employment benefits and termination benefits) that are not due to be settled 
within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service.

Vested employee benefits are employee benefits that are not conditional on future employment.

Composite social security programmes are established by legislation and operate as multi-employer plans to provide post-employment benefits and to 
provide benefits that are not consideration in exchange for service rendered by employees.

A constructive obligation is an obligation that derives from an entity’s actions where by an established pattern of past practice published policies or a 
sufficiently specific current statement, an entity has indicated to other parties that it will accept certain responsibilities and as a result, the entity has created a 
valid expectation on the part of those other parties that it will discharge those responsibilities.

Short-Term Employee Benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are due to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period 
in which the employees render the related service.

Short-term employee benefits include items such as:

•	 wages, salaries and social security contributions;

•	 short-term compensated absences (such as paid annual leave and paid sick leave) where the compensation for the absences is due to be settled 
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period in which the employees render the related employee service;

•	 bonus incentive and performance related payments payable within 12 months after the end of the reporting period in which the employees render 
the related service; and 

•	 non-monetary benefits (for example, medical care and free or subsidised goods or services such as housing, cars and cellphones) for current 
employees.
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1.11 Employee benefits (Continued)

When an employee has rendered service to the entity during a reporting period the entity recognise the undiscounted amount of short-term employee 
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service:

•	 as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any amount already paid. If the amount already paid exceeds the undiscounted amount of the 
benefits, SANParks recognise that excess as an asset (prepaid expense) to the extent that the prepayment will lead to, for example, a reduction in 
future payments or a cash refund; and

•	 as an expense, unless another Standard requires or permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their entitlement or, in the case 
of non-accumulating absences when the absence occurs. SANParks measures the expected cost of accumulating compensated absences as the additional 
amount that the entity expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date.

The entity recognise the expected cost of bonus incentive and performance related payments when SANParks has a present legal or constructive obligation 
to make such payments as a result of past events and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. A present obligation exists when the entity has no 
realistic alternative but to make the payments. 

Post-employment benefits

Post-employment benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) which are payable after the completion of employment.

Post-employment benefit plans are formal or informal arrangements under which SANParks provides post-employment benefits for one or more employees.

Post-employment benefits: Defined contribution plans

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will have 
no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee 
service in the current and prior periods.

When an employee has rendered service to the entity during a reporting period the entity recognises the contribution payable to a defined contribution plan 
in exchange for that service:

•	 as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any contribution already paid. If the contribution already paid exceeds the contribution due for service 
before the reporting, date the entity recognise that excess as an asset (prepaid expense) to the extent that the prepayment will lead to, for example, a 
reduction in future payments or a cash refund; and

•	 as an expense, unless another Standard requires or permits the inclusion of the contribution in the cost of an asset.

Where contributions to a defined contribution plan do not fall due wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period in which the employees 
render the related service, they are discounted. The rate used to discount reflects the time value of money. The currency and term of the financial instrument 
selected to reflect the time value of money is consistent with the currency and estimated term of the obligation.

Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans.

Actuarial gains and losses comprise of expense adjustments (other than non-transferable financial instruments issued by the reporting entity) that are held by 
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an entity (a fund) that is legally separate from the reporting entity, and exists solely to pay or fund employee benefits and are available to be used only to pay 
or fund employee benefits, are not available to the reporting entity’s own creditors (even in liquidation) and cannot be returned to the reporting entity, unless 
either:

•	 the remaining assets of the fund are sufficient to meet all the related employee benefit obligations of the plan or the reporting entity; or 

•	 the assets are returned to the reporting entity to reimburse it for employee benefits already paid.

Current service cost is the increase in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from employee service in the current period.

Interest cost is the increase during a period in the present value of a defined benefit obligation, which arises because the benefits are one period closer to 
settlement.

Past service cost is the change in the present value of the defined benefit obligation for employee service in prior periods resulting in the current period from 
the introduction of, or changes to, post-employment benefits or other long-term employee benefits. Past service cost may be either positive (when benefits 
are introduced or changed so that the present value of the defined benefit obligation increases) or negative (when existing benefits are changed so that the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation decreases). In measuring its defined benefit, liability the entity recognises past service cost as an expense in the 
reporting period in which the plan is amended.

Plan assets compromise assets held by a long-term employee benefit fund and qualifying insurance policies.

The present value of a defined benefit obligation is the present value without deducting any plan assets, of expected future payments required to settle the 
obligation resulting from employee service in the current and prior periods.

The return on plan assets is interest, dividends and other revenue derived from the plan assets, together with realised and unrealised gains and losses on the 
plan assets less any costs of administering the plan (other than those included in the actuarial assumptions used to measure the defined benefit obligation) 
and less any tax payable by the plan itself.

The entity accounts not only for its legal obligation under the formal terms of a defined benefit plan, but also for any constructive obligation that arises from 

the entity’s informal practices. Informal practices give rise to a constructive obligation where the entity has no realistic alternative but to pay the employee 
benefits. An example of a constructive obligation is where a change in the entity’s informal practices would cause unacceptable damage to its relationship 
with employees.

The amount recognised as a defined benefit liability is the net total of the following amounts:

•	 the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date; 

•	 minus the fair value at the reporting date of plan assets ( if any) out of which the obligations are to be settled directly; and

•	 plus any liability that may arise as a result of a minimum funding requirement.

The amount determined as a defined benefit liability may be negative (an asset). The entity measures the resulting asset at lower of:

•	 the amount determined above; and 

•	 the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. The present 
value of these economic benefits is determined using a discount rate, which reflects the time value of money.
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1.11 Employee Benefits (Continued)

Adjustments arising from the limit above are recognised in surplus or deficit.

The entity determines the present value of defined benefit obligations and the fair value of any plan assets with sufficient regularity such that the amounts 
recognised in the annual financial statements do not differ materially from the amounts that would be determined at the reporting date.

The entity recognises the net total of the following amounts in surplus or deficit, except to the extent that another Standard requires or permits their inclusion 
in the cost of an asset.

•	 Current service cost 

•	  Interest cost 

•	  The expected return on any reimbursement right 

•	  Actuarial gains and losses 

•	  Past service cost 

•	  The effect of any curtailments or settlements

•	  The effect of applying the limit on a defined benefit asset (negative defined benefit liability)

The entity uses the Projected Unit Credit Method to determine the present value of its defined benefit obligations and the related current service cost and , 
where applicable, past service cost. The Projected Unit Credit Method (sometimes known as the accrued benefit method pro-rated on service or as the benefit 
/years of service method) sees each period of service as giving rise to an additional unit of benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up 
the final obligation.

In determining the present value of its defined obligations and the related current service cost and, where applicable, past service cost an entity shall attribute 
benefit to periods of service under the plan’s benefit formula. However, if an employee’s service in later years will lead to a materially higher level of benefit than 
in earlier years, an entity shall attribute benefit on a straight line basis from:

•	 the date when service by the employee first leads to benefits under the plan (whether or not the benefits are conditional on further service), or until 

•	 the date when further service by the employee will lead to no material amount of further benefits under the plan other than from further salary 
increases.

Actuarial valuations are conducted on an annual basis by independent actuaries separately for each plan. The results of the valuation are updated for any 
material transactions and other material changes in circumstances (including changes in market prices and interest rates) up to the reporting date. 

The entity recognises gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan when the curtailment and settlement occurs. The gain or loss 
on curtailment or settlement comprises:

•	 any resulting change in the present value of the defined benefit obligation; and  

•	 any resulting change in the fair value of the plan assets.

Before determining the effect of a curtailment or settlement the entity re-measures the obligation (and the related plan asset, if any) using current actuarial 
assumptions (including current market interest rates and other current market prices).
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When it is virtually certain that another party will re-imburse some or all the expenditure required to settle a defined benefit obligation, the right to 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset. The asset is measured at fair value. In all other respects, the asset is treated in the same way as planned assets. 
In surplus or deficit, the expense relating to a defined benefit plan is presented as the net amount recognised for reimbursement.

The entity offsets an asset relating to one plan against the liability relating to another plan when the entity has a legally enforceable right to use a surplus in 
one plan to settle the obligations under the other plan and intends either to settle the obligations on a net basis, or to realise the surplus in one plan and settle 
its obligation under the other plan simultaneously.

Post-Employment Benefits: Defined Benefit Plans 

Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans.

Actuarial gains and losses comprise experience adjustments (the effects of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what has actually 
occurred) and the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions. In measuring its defined benefit liability SANParks recognise actuarial gains and losses in surplus 
or deficit in the reporting period in which they occur.

Assets held by a long-term employee benefit fund are assets (other than non-transferable financial instruments issued by the reporting SANParks) that are 
held by SANParks (a fund) that is legally separate from the reporting SANParks, and exists solely to pay or fund employee benefits and are available to be used 
only to pay or fund employee benefits, are not available to the reporting SANParks’ own creditors (even in liquidation) and cannot be returned to the reporting 
SANParks, unless either:

•	 the remaining assets of the fund are sufficient to meet all the related employee benefit obligations of the plan or SANParks; or 

•	 the assets are returned to SANParks to reimburse it for employee benefits already paid.

Current service cost is the increase in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from employee service in the current period.

Interest cost is the increase during a period in the present value of a defined benefit obligation, which arises because the benefits are one period closer to 
settlement.

Past service cost is the change in the present value of the defined benefit obligation for employee service in prior periods, resulting in the current period from 
the introduction of, or changes to, post-employment benefits or other long-term employee benefits. Past service cost may be either positive (when benefits 
are introduced or changed so that the present value of the defined benefit obligation increases) or negative (when existing benefits are changed so that the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation decreases). In measuring its defined benefit liability, the entity recognise past service cost as an expense in the 
reporting period in which the plan is amended.

Plan assets comprise assets held by a long-term employee benefit fund and qualifying insurance policies.

The present value of a defined benefit obligation is the present value, without deducting any plan assets of expected future payments required to settle the 
obligation resulting from employee service in the current and prior periods.

The return on plan assets is interest, dividends or similar distributions and other revenue derived from the plan assets together with realised and unrealised 
gains or losses on the plan assets, less any costs of administering the plan (other than those included in the actuarial assumptions used to measure the defined 
benefit obligation) and less any tax payable by the plan itself.
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1.11 Employee benefits (Continued)

The entity accounts not only for its legal obligation under the formal terms of a defined benefit plan, but also for any constructive obligation that arises 
from SANParks informal practices. Informal practices give rise to a constructive obligation where SANParks has no realistic alternative but to pay employee 
benefits. An example of a constructive obligation is where a change in SANParks informal practices would cause unacceptable damage to its relationship with 
employees.

The amount recognised as a defined benefit liability is the net total of the following amounts: 

•	 the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date;

•	 minus the fair value at the reporting date of plan assets (if any) out of which the obligations are to be settled directly;

•	 plus any liability that may arise as a result of a minimum funding requirement.

The amount determined as a defined benefit liability may be negative (an asset). SANParks measures the resulting asset at the lower of:

•	 the amount determined above; and

•	 the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. The present 
value of these economic benefits is determined using a discount rate which reflects the time value of money.

Any adjustments arising from the limit above is recognised in surplus or deficit.

SANParks determines the present value of defined benefit obligations and the fair value of any plan assets with sufficient regularity such that the amounts 
recognised in the annual financial statements do not differ materially from the amounts that would be determined at the reporting date.

SANParks recognises the net total of the following amounts in surplus or deficit except to the extent that another Standard requires or permits their inclusion 
in the cost of an asset:

•	 Current service cost

•	 Interest cost

•	 The expected return on any plan assets and on any reimbursement rights

•	 Actuarial gains and losses

•	 Past service cost

•	 The effect of any curtailments or settlements and

•	 The effect of applying the limit on a defined benefit asset (negative defined benefit liability)

SANParks uses the Projected Unit Credit Method to determine the present value of its defined benefit obligations and the related current service cost and 
where applicable past service cost. The Projected Unit Credit Method (sometimes known as the accrued benefit method pro-rated on service or as the benefit/
years of service method) sees each period of service as giving rise to an additional unit of benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up 
the final obligation.

In determining the present value of its defined benefit obligations and the related current service cost and, where applicable past service cost, SANParks shall 
attribute benefit to periods of service under the plan’s benefit formula. However, if an employee’s service in later years will lead to a materially higher level of 
benefit than in earlier years SANParks shall attribute benefit on a straight-line basis from:
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•	 the date when service by the employee first leads to benefits under the plan (whether or not the benefits are conditional on further service); until

•	 the date when further service by the employee will lead to no material amount of further benefits under the plan, other than from further salary 
increases.

Actuarial valuations are conducted on an annual basis by independent actuaries separately for each plan. The results of the valuation are updated for any 
material transactions and other material changes in circumstances (including changes in market prices and interest rates) up to the reporting date.

SANParks recognises gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan when the curtailment or settlement occurs. The gain or loss on 
a curtailment or settlement comprises:

•	 any resulting change in the present value of the defined benefit obligation; and

•	 any resulting change in the fair value of the plan assets.

Before determining the effect of a curtailment or settlement, SANParks re-measures the obligation (and the related plan assets, if any) using current actuarial 
assumptions (including current market interest rates and other current market prices).

When it is virtually certain that another party will reimburse some or all of the expenditure required to settle a defined benefit obligation the right to 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset. The asset is measured at fair value. In all other respects, the asset is treated in the same way as plan assets. In 
surplus or deficit, the expense relating to a defined benefit plan is not presented as the net of the amount recognised for a reimbursement.

SANParks offsets an asset relating to one plan against a liability relating to another plan when SANParks has a legally enforceable right to use a surplus in one 
plan to settle obligations under the other plan and intends either to settle the obligations on a net basis, or to realise the surplus in one plan and settle its 
obligation under the other plan simultaneously.

Actuarial assumptions

Actuarial assumptions are unbiased and mutually compatible. 

Financial assumptions are based on market expectations at the reporting date for the period over which the obligations are to be settled. 

The rates used to discount post-employment benefit obligations reflect the time value of money. The currency and term of the financial instrument selected 
to reflect the time value of money is consistent with the currency and estimated term of the post-employment benefit obligations.

Post-employment benefit obligations are measured on a basis that reflects:

•	 estimated future salary increases;

•	 the benefits set out in the terms of the plan (or resulting from any constructive obligation that goes beyond those terms) at the reporting date; and

•	 estimated future changes in the level of any state benefits that affect the benefits payable under a defined benefit plan, if, and only if, either:

•	 those changes were enacted before the reporting date; or

•	 past history or other reliable evidence indicates that those state benefits will change in some predictable manner for example in line with future 
changes in general price levels or general salary levels.

Assumptions about medical costs, take account of estimated future changes in the cost of medical services, resulting from both inflation and specific changes 
in medical costs.
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1.11 Employee benefits (Continued)

Other post retirement obligations

SANParks provides post-retirement health care benefits, housing subsidies and gratuities upon retirement to some retirees.

The entitlement to post-retirement health care benefits is based on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum 
service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment. Independent qualified actuaries carry out valuations of these 
obligations. 

The amount recognised as a liability for other long-term employee benefits is the net total of the following amounts:

•	 the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date;

•	 minus the fair value at the reporting date of plan assets (if any) out of which the obligations are to be settled directly.

SANParks shall recognise the net total of the following amounts as expense or revenue, except to the extent that another Standard requires or permits their 
inclusion in the cost of an asset:

•	 Current service cost

•	 Interest cost

•	 The expected return on any plan assets and on any reimbursement right recognised as an asset

•	 Actuarial gains and losses  which shall all be recognised immediately

•	 Past service cost  which shall all be recognised immediately and

•	 The effect of any curtailments or settlements

Termination benefits

SANParks recognises termination benefits as a liability and an expense when the entity is demonstrably committed to either:

•	 terminate the employment of an employee or group of employees before the normal retirement date; or

•	 provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made in order to encourage voluntary redundancy.

•	 SANParks is demonstrably committed to a termination when the SANParks has a detailed formal plan for the termination and is without realistic 
possibility of withdrawal. The detailed plan includes [as a minimum]:

•	 the location, function, and approximate number of employees whose services are to be terminated;

•	 the termination benefits for each job classification or function; and

•	 the time at which the plan will be implemented.

Implementation begins as soon as possible and the period of time to complete implementation is such that material changes to the plan are not likely.

Where termination benefits fall due more than 12 months after the reporting date, they are discounted using an appropriate discount rate. The rate used 
to discount the benefit reflects the time value of money. The currency and term of the financial instrument selected to reflect the time value of money is 
consistent with the currency and estimated term of the benefit.
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In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the measurement of termination benefits shall be based on the number of employees 
expected to accept the offer.

1.12  Service Concession Arrangements 
Service Concession Arrangements arise from the service concession agreements that SANParks has with different Public Private Partnerships (PPP). These 
arrangements give the operator the right to build and operate an infrastructure asset within the national park. The operator also has to pay SANParks a 
concession fee as agreed upon in the specific PPP agreement. These transactions give rise to assets (infrastructure and other movable assets), liabilities and 
revenues that are accounted for in the manner outlined below: 

Assets

Recognition

The grantor shall recognise an asset provided by the operator and an upgrade to an existing asset of the grant or as a service concession asset if: 

•	 the grantor controls or regulates what services the operator must provide with the asset, to whom it must provide them and at what price;

•	 the grantor controls through ownership, beneficial entitlement or otherwise any significant residual interest in the asset at the end of the term of the 
arrangement.

Initial Measurement

The grantor shall initially measure a new service concession asset that meets the concession asset recognition criteria, at its fair value.

Where an existing asset meets the conditions of a concession asset, the grantor shall reclassify the asset as a concession asset. The reclassified service concession 
asset shall be initially measured and accounted for, in accordance with the Standards of GRAP on Investment Property, (GRAP 16) Property Plant and Equipment 
(GRAP 17), Intangible Assets (GRAP 31), or Heritage Assets (GRAP 103), as appropriate.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition or reclassification, service concession assets shall be initially measured and accounted for (in all respects), in accordance with the 
Standards of GRAP on Investment Property (GRAP 16), Property, Plant and Equipment (GRAP 17), Intangible Assets (GRAP 31), or Heritage Assets (GRAP 103), 
as appropriate.

Liability

Recognition

Where the grantor recognises a service concession asset, the grantor shall also recognise a liability. The grantor shall not recognise a liability where an existing 
asset of the grantor is reclassified as a service concession asset, except in circumstances where additional consideration is provided by the operator.

Initial Measurement

Where the grantor has an unconditional obligation to pay cash or another financial asset to the operator for the construction, development, acquisition, or 
upgrade of a service concession asset, the grantor shall account for the liability recognised as a financial liability.

The liability arising from concession asset recognition shall be initially measured at the same amount as the service concession asset, adjusted by the amount 
of any other consideration (e.g. cash) from the grantor to the operator or from the operator to the grantor.
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1.12  Service Concession Arrangements (Continued)

Subsequent Measurement

The Financial Liability Model

Subsequent to initial measurement, the Standard of GRAP on Financial Instruments (GRAP 104) applies to the financial liability recognised above.

The grantor shall allocate the payments to the operator and account for them according to their substance as a reduction in the liability recognised, a finance 
charge, and charges for services provided by the operator.

The finance charges and charges for services provided by the operator in a service concession arrangement shall be accounted for as expenses.

Where the asset and service components of a service concession arrangement are separately identifiable, the service components of payments from the 
grantor to the operator shall be allocated by reference to the relative fair values of the service concession asset and the services. Where the asset and service 
components are not separately identifiable, the service component of payments from the grantor to the operator is determined using estimation techniques.

Grant of a Right to the Operator Model

Where the grantor does not have an unconditional obligation to pay cash or another financial asset to the operator for the construction, development, 
acquisition, or upgrade of a service concession asset, and grants the operator the right to earn revenue from third-party users or another revenue-generating 
asset, the grantor shall account for the liability, as the unearned portion of the revenue arising from the exchange of assets between the grantor and the 
operator.

The grantor shall recognise revenue and reduce the liability recognised, according to the substance of the services concession arrangement.

Other Liabilities

The grantor shall account for other liabilities, contingent liabilities, and contingent assets arising from a service concession arrangement in accordance with 
the Standard of GRAP on Provisions, Contingent Assets (GRAP 19) and Financial Instruments (GRAP 104).

Other Revenues

 The grantor shall account for revenues from a service concession arrangement, other than those specified under Grant of a right to the operator model in 
accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Exchange Transactions (GRAP 9). 

Derecognition

Service Concession Arrangements are derecognised on disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic 
benefits or service potential are expected from its disposal.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of service concession arrangements is the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in surplus or deficit in the period of retirement or disposal.

Compensation from third parties for service concession arrangements that was impaired, lost or given up is recognised in surplus or deficit when the 
compensation becomes receivable.
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1.13   Revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows result in an increase in net assets, other 
than increases relating to contributions from owners.

Applying the Probability Test on Initial Recognition of Revenue

This Interpretation of the Standards of GRAP provides guidance on how an entity applies the probability test on initial recognition of revenue where credit 
is extended for the settlement of an exchange or non-exchange revenue transaction and uncertainty exists about the entity’s ability to collect such revenue 
based on past history or because discretion about collectability is exercised subsequently.

This interpretation of Standards of GRAP is applicable to SANParks based on experience where less than 100% of the revenue where credit is extended for the 
settlement of an exchange or non-exchange revenue transaction is expected.

SANParks recognises the full amount of exchange and non-exchange revenue based on the terms of the arrangement with each debtor, notwithstanding its 
knowledge based on experience.

Consideration is given to whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred when making the impairment assessment for 
subsequent measurement of the receivables at the reporting date.

SANParks derives revenue from exchange and non-exchange transactions. An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives assets or services, or has 
liabilities extinguished and directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in exchange. 
Examples of exchange transactions include:

•	 The rendering of services, revenue from tourism, retail, and concession fees;

•	 the sale of goods and services, the sales of fauna and flora; and

•	 interest from investment income.

Rendering of services

Where the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the transaction is recognised by 
reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following 
conditions are satisfied:

•	 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

•	 it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to entity;

•	 the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and

•	 the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably revenue is recognised only to the extent of the expenses 
recognised that are recoverable.

•	 Accommodation income is accrued on a daily basis.
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1.13   Revenue from exchange transactions (Continued)

•	 Conservation levies are recognised on a daily basis and other tourist related activities are recognised upon commencement of the activity.

•	 Wild Card sales are amortised over the validity period of the Wild Card.

Sale of goods 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:

•	 entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

•	 entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

•	 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

•	 it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to entity; and

•	 the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Sales are recognised upon delivery of the products and customer acceptance.

Interest and royalties received

Revenue arising from the use by others of SANParks assets yielding interest is recognised when:

•	 it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and 

•	 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest rate method on a time proportion basis.

Royalties are recognised as they are earned in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.

Measurement of revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume rebates.

At the time of initial recognition, it is inappropriate to assume that the collectability of amounts owing to SANParks by individual recipients of goods or services 
will not occur because SANParks has an obligation to collect all revenue.

Exchange transactions

The following is included in revenue from exchange transactions:

•	 Tourism, retail, concession and other.

Concession income

Income from concessions granted to operators to build, operate and transfer lodges, and from rental of facilities to operators is recognised as it accrues over 
the period of the agreement. 
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Management fees

Management fees for managing special projects are recognised on a monthly basis, based on the services performed.

Rent received

Rent received is accrued on a daily basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.

1.14  Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential received and receivable by an entity, which represents an increase in net assets, 
other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset is required to be 
consumed by the recipient as specified or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor.

Control of an asset arise when the entity can use or otherwise benefit from the asset in pursuit of its objectives and can exclude or otherwise regulate the 
access of others to that benefit.

Fines are economic benefits or service potential received or receivable by entities, as determined by a court or other law enforcement body, as a consequence 
of the breach of laws or regulations.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, entity either receives value from another 
entity without directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, or gives value to another entity without directly receiving approximately equal value in 
exchange.

Restrictions on transferred assets are stipulations that limit or direct the purposes for which a transferred asset may be used, but do not specify that future 
economic benefits or service potential is required to be returned to the transferor if not deployed as specified.

Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws or regulation, or a binding arrangement imposed upon the use of a transferred asset by entities external to 
entity.

Transfers are inflows of future economic benefits or service potential from non-exchange transactions, other than taxes.

As SANParks satisfies a present obligation recognised as a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset, 
it reduces the carrying amount of the liability recognised and recognise an amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to the extent that a liability is also recognised 
in respect of the same inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset, 
it reduces the carrying amount of the liability recognised and recognises an amount of revenue equal to that reduction.
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1.14  Revenue from non-exchange transactions (Continued)

Measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the amount of the increase in net assets recognised by entity.

The following are the major classes of revenue from non-exchange transactions, the basis on which the fair value of inflowing resources has been measured:

•	 Operational grants received: Revenue from operational grants received shall be measured at the amount of the increase in net assets which in this 
case will be the net proceeds received from DEA;

•	 Land infrastructure grant: Revenue from Land Infrastructure Grant shall be measured at the amount of the increase in net assets which in this case 
will be the net proceeds received from the DEA. If conditions are attached to the grant, a liability will be recognised and shall be the best estimate of 
the amount required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date. When a liability is subsequently reduced because a condition is satisfied, 
the amount of the reduction in the liability will be recognised as revenue;

•	 Donations received: Revenue from donations received shall be measured at the amount of the increase in net assets which in this case will be the 
net proceeds received from the various donors; and

•	 Special projects grant: Revenue from special projects grant shall be measured at the amount of the increase in net assets which in this case will be 
the net proceeds received from the DEA and other funders. If conditions are attached to the grant, a liability will be recognised and shall be the best 
estimate of the amount required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date. When a liability is subsequently reduced because a condition is 
satisfied, the amount of the reduction in the liability will be recognised as revenue.

Assets arising from non-exchange transactions

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction, other than services in kind, that meets the definition of an asset shall be recognised as an asset when, 
and only when:

•	 it is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential associated with the asset will flow to the entity; and

•	 the fair value of the asset can be measured reliably. SANParks recognises an asset in respect of taxes when the taxable event occurs and the asset 
recognition criteria are met.

Initial measurement

An asset acquired through a non-exchange transaction shall initially be measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

The assets arising from a non-exchange transaction are subsequently measured in terms of the respective standard that the asset relates to.

Liabilities arising from non-exchange transactions

Recognition

A present obligation arising from a non-exchange transaction that meets the definition of a liability shall be recognised as a liability when and only when:

•	 it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying future economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation; and

•	 a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Apart from Services in kind which are not recognised SANParks recognises an asset in 
respect of transfers when the transferred resources meet the definition of an asset and satisfy the criteria for recognition as an asset.

Initial measurement

The amount recognised as a liability shall be the best estimate of the amount required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date.
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Subsequent measurement

The liabilities arising from a non-exchange transaction are subsequently measured in terms of the respective standard that the liability relates to.

Stipulations

Assets may be transferred with the expectation and/or understanding that they will be used in a particular way and, therefore, that the recipient entity will 
act or perform in a particular way. Where laws, regulations or binding arrangements with external parties impose terms on the use of transferred assets by 
the recipient, these terms are stipulations as defined in this Standard of GRAP. A key feature of stipulations as defined in this Standard, is that an entity cannot 
impose a stipulation on itself, whether directly or through an entity that it controls.

1.15   Revenue recognition

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows result in an increase in net assets other 
than increases relating to contributions from owners.

Applying the Probability Test on Initial Recognition of Revenue

This Interpretation of the Standards of GRAP provides guidance on how an entity applies the probability test on initial recognition of revenue where credit 
is extended for the settlement of an exchange or non-exchange revenue transaction and uncertainty exists about the entity’s ability to collect such revenue 
based on past history or because discretion about collectability is exercised subsequently.

This interpretation of Standards of GRAP is applicable to SANParks based on experience where less than 100% of the revenue where credit is extended for the 
settlement of an exchange or non-exchange revenue transaction, is expected. 

SANParks recognises the full amount of exchange and non-exchange revenue based on the terms of the arrangement with each debtor, notwithstanding its 
knowledge based on experience.

Consideration is given to whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred when making the impairment assessment for 
subsequent measurement of the receivables at the reporting date.

1.16   Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in contravention of or that is not in 
accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation including:

•	 this Act; or

•	 the State Tender Board Act 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968)  or any regulations made in terms of the Act; or

•	 any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government.

National Treasury practice note no. 4 of 2008/2009, which was issued in terms of sections 76(1) to 76(4) of the PFMA requires the following (effective from 1 
April 2008):

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial and which was condoned before year-end and/or before finalisation of the 
financial statements must also be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. In such an instance, no further action is also required with the 
exception of updating the note to the financial statements.
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1.16   Irregular expenditure (Continued)

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and for which condonement is being awaited at year-end must be 
recorded in the irregular expenditure register. No further action is required with the exception of updating the note to the financial statements.

Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous financial year and is only condoned in the following financial year,  the register and the disclosure 
note to the financial statements must be updated with the amount condoned.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was not condoned by the National Treasury or the relevant 
authority must be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. If liability for the irregular expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt 
account must be created if such a person is liable in law. Immediate steps must thereafter be taken to recover the amount from the person concerned. If 
recovery is not possible, the accounting officer or accounting authority may write off the amount as debt impairment and disclose such in the relevant note 
to the financial statements. The irregular expenditure register must also be updated accordingly. If the irregular expenditure has not been condoned and no 
person is liable in law the expenditure related thereto must remain against the relevant programme/expenditure item, be disclosed as such in the note to the 
financial statements and updated accordingly in the irregular expenditure register.

1.17  Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 
Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the correction of error in the year that the expenditure was 
incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the 
correction of error.

1.18  Commitments

Commitments represent goods/services that have been ordered, but no delivery has taken place at the reporting date. These amounts are not recognised in 
the statement of financial position as a liability or as expenditure in the statement of financial performance as the annual financial statements are prepared on 
the accrual basis and prior delivery no accrual can be recognised. These items are, however, disclosed as part of the disclosure notes. 

The commitments disclosed in the disclosure note are the aggregate amount of capital and current expenditure approved and contracted for at the reporting 
date, to the extent that the amount has not been recorded in the financial statements. 

Material contracts entered into after the reporting date but prior to the approval of the financial statements will be disclosed under subsequent events in the 
report of the Accounting Authority. Other commitments for which disclosure is necessary to achieve a fair presentation should be disclosed in a note if both 
the following criteria are met: 

•	 non-cancellable contracts or only cancellable at significant cost contracts; and

•	 contracts that related to something other than the routine, steady, state business of the entity were taken into consideration. 

In calculating commitments, the following was taken into account pertaining to tenders awarded: 

•	 the period of the tender awarded;

•	 amounts already paid pertaining to that tender/contract;

•	 amounts for which invoices have been received and which are therefore included in accruals should be deducted; commitments loaded on the 
procurement systems;
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•	 commitments not loaded on the procurement system.

A distinction was made between capital and current commitments and between approved and contracted commitments and approved but not yet contracted 
for commitments.

Approved and contracted commitments are where the expenditure has been approved and the contract has been awarded at the reporting date. 

Approved but not yet contracted commitments are where the expenditure has been approved and the contract is awaiting finalisation at the reporting date.

1.19 Taxation

Income Tax 

No provision has been made for taxation, as the entity is exempt from income tax in terms of Section 10 of the Income Tax Act 1962 (Act No. 58 of 1962).

Value Added Tax (VAT)

SANParks accounts for VAT on the invoice basis as stipulated in Section 15 of the VAT Act regulating that every vendor shall account for VAT on the invoice basis 
unless differently approved by the SARS.

1.20   Accounting policies, estimates and errors 

Change in accounting estimate

A change in accounting estimate is an adjustment of the carrying amount of an asset or a liability, or the amount of a period consumption of an asset, the 
results from the assessment of the present status, of and expected future benefits and obligations associated with assets and liabilities. Change in accounting 
estimate result from new information and new developments and are not correction of errors.

The effect of a change in accounting estimate shall be recognised prospectively by including it in surplus or deficit in:

•	 the period of the change  if the change affects that period only; or 

•	 the period of the change and future periods   if the change affects both.

To the extent that a change in an accounting estimate gives rise to changes in assets and liabilities, or relates to an item of net assets, it shall be recognised by 
adjusting the carrying amount of the related asset, liability or item of net assets in the period of the change.

Prior period errors

Prior period errors are omissions from, and misstatements in, the entity’s financial statements for one or more prior periods arising from a failure to use or 
misuse of reliable information that:

•	 was available when financial statements for that period were authorised for issue; and 

•	 could reasonably be expected to have been obtained and taken into account in the preparation and presentation of those financial statements.

A prior period error shall be corrected by retrospective restatement except to the extent that it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects 
or the cumulative effect of the error.

When it is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects of the error on comparative information for one or more prior periods presented, the entity 
shall restate the opening balances of the assets, liabilities and net assets for the earliest period for which retrospective restatement is practicable (which may 
be the current period).
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1.20   Accounting policies, estimates and errors (Continued)

When it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effect at the beginning of the current period the entity shall restate the comparative information to 
correct the error prospectively from the earliest date practicable.

Change in Accounting Policies

Accounting policies are the specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied by an entity in preparing and presenting financial statements.

An entity shall change an accounting policy only if the change:

•	 is required by a standard of GRAP; or 

•	  results in the financial statements providing reliable and more relevant information about the effects of the transactions, other events or conditions 
on the entity’s financial position, financial performance or cash flows.

A change in accounting policy shall be applied retrospectively, except to the extent that it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects or 
the cumulative effect of the change.

When is it impracticable to determine the period-specific effects of changing an accounting policy on comparative information of one or more prior periods 
presented, the entity shall apply the new accounting policy to the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities as at the beginning of the earliest period of 
which retrospective application is practicable, which may be the current period, and shall make a corresponding adjustment to the opening balance of each 
affected component of net assets for that period.

When it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effect at the beginning of the current period of applying a new accounting policy to all prior periods, the 
entity shall adjust the comparative information to apply the new accounting policy prospectively from the earliest date practicable.

1.21  Related parties

A related party is a person or an entity with the ability to control or jointly control the other party, or exercise significant influence over the other party, or vice 
versa, or an entity that is subject to common control, or joint control. As a minimum, the following are regarded as related parties of the reporting entity:

• A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the reporting entity if that person:

	- has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

	- has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

	- is a member of the management of the entity or its controlling entity.

• An entity is related to the reporting entity if any of the following conditions apply:

	-  the entity is a member of the same economic entity (which means that each controlling entity, controlled entity and fellow controlled entity is 
related to the others), a related party is a person or an entity with the ability to control or jointly control the other party, or exercise significant 
influence over the other party, or vice versa, or an entity that is subject to common control, or joint control;

	-  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of an economic entity of which the other 
entity is a member);

	- both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

	- one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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	-  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the entity or an entity related to the entity. If the reporting entity 
is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are related to the entity;

	- the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified above; and

	-  a person identified as a related party has significant influence over that entity or is a member of the management of that entity (or its controlling 
entity).

SANParks does not disclose the value of transactions with other public sector entities as the transactions were concluded within normal operating procedures 
and on terms that are no more or no less favourable than the terms it would use to conclude transactions with another entity or person.

1.22 Segment reporting

Consolidated Financial Statements (segment consolidation) provide an overview of assets, liabilities, revenues and costs of an entity. Public entities control 
significant public resources and provide a wide variety of goods and services in different geographic areas, with different socio-economic conditions. Segment 
reporting was thus introduced to enable users to have information about the different segments that make up the composite financial statements. The 
objective of segment reporting is therefore to provide information about the specific operational objectives and major activities of an entity and the resources 
devoted to and costs of these objectives and activities in the different socio-economic or geographical areas that the entity operates in.

A segment is an activity of an entity:

•	 that generates economic benefits or service potential (including economic benefits or service potential relating to transactions between activities of 
the same entity);

•	 whose results are regularly reviewed by management to make decisions about resources to be allocated to that activity and in assessing its 
performance; and 

•	 for which separate financial information is available.

SANParks shall therefore report separately, information about each segment that has been identified. SANParks shall disclose the geographical areas in which 
it operates, that are relevant for decision-making purposes as segments. 

Disclosure

An entity shall disclose information to enable users of its financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the activities in which it engages 
and the economic environments in which it operates. To give effect to that principle, an entity shall disclose the following:

•	 general information;

•	 information about reported segment surplus or deficit including specified revenues and expenses included in reported segment surplus or deficit,  
segment assets, segment liabilities and the basis of measurement; and

•	 reconciliations of the totals of segment revenues, reported segment surplus or deficit, segment assets, segment liabilities and other material segment 
items to corresponding entity amounts.

General Information

An entity shall disclose the following general information:

•	 factors used to identify the entity’s reportable segments including the basis of organisation;

•	 whether segments have been aggregated and the basis of the aggregation;

•	 types of goods and/or services delivered by each segment; and
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1.22 Segment reporting (Continued)

•	 Information about surplus or deficit assets and liabilities.

Information about surplus or deficit, assets and liabilities

An entity shall report a measure of assets and liabilities for each reportable segment if such an amount is regularly provided to management. An entity shall 
also disclose the following about each reportable segment if the specified amounts are included in the measure of segment surplus or deficit reviewed by 
management, or are otherwise regularly provided to management, even if not included in that measure of segment surplus or deficit:

•	 external revenue from non-exchange transactions;

•	 external revenue from exchange transactions;

•	 interest revenue;

•	 interest expense; and

•	 depreciation and amortisation.

Reconciliations

An entity shall provide reconciliations of all of the following:

•	 The total of the reportable segments’ revenues to the entity’s revenue.

•	 The total of the reportable segments’ measures of surplus or deficit to the entity’s surplus or deficit before discontinued operations.

•	 The total of the reportable segments’ assets to the entity’s assets.

•	 The total of the reportable segments’ liabilities to the entity’s liabilities.

•	 The total of the reportable segments’ amounts for every other material item of information disclosed to the corresponding amount for the entity.

Where the totals of such revenues, expenditures, surplus or deficits, segment assets and segment liabilities reported on the segments can be referenced to the 
exact amounts in the annual financial statements, performance of the above reconciliation will not be necessary.

1.23 New standards and interpretations

Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

The following standards of GRAP have been approved by the Minister and the effective date has been determined as the current financial year, are as follows:  

GRAP 18: Segment reporting - This standard of GRAP is applicable to SANParks and has been accounted for in the preparation of the Annual Financial Statements. 

 GRAP 105: Transfers of functions between entities under common control - This standard of GRAP is not applicable to SANParks. 

 GRAP 106: Transfers of functions between entities not under common control - This standard of GRAP is not applicable to SANParks. 

 GRAP 107: Mergers -This standard of GRAP is not applicable to SANParks. 

The following standards of GRAP have been approved, but for which the Minister of Finance has not determined the effective date. SANParks has not applied 
any of these standards. The impacts of these standards on SANParks when they do become effective are as follows:
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GRAP 108: Statutory Receivables– Unlikely to have an impact on SANParks.

GRAP 109: Accounting by Principals and Agents. Unlikely to have an impact on SANParks.

The following standards have been approved, but are not yet effective. These standards were used to formulate an accounting policy: 

GRAP 32: Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor - The potential impact is that concession assets may be recognised by SANParks once the standard 
becomes effective. 

GRAP 17: Service Concession Arrangements Where a Grantor Controls a Significant Residual Interest in an Asset - The potential impact is that concession assets 
may be recognised by SANParks once the standard becomes effective.
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2016 2015
R ‘000 R ‘000

2. Inventories

Raw materials 223 -
Consumable 16 979 18 636
Retail goods and fuel 13 553 15 322

30 755 33 958

3. Receivables from exchange transactions

Current assets
Trade receivables 29 007 15 406
Prepayments 297 1 746
Debtors control - other 10 353 20 405
Provision for doubtful debts (2 975) (1 874)
VAT receivable - 3 721

36 682 39 404

Trade debtors age analysis

Current (0-30 days) 15 383 8 490
31 - 60 days 3 767 3 224
61 - 90 days 1 839 1 286
91 - 120 days 1 009 408
Over 120 days 7 009 1 998

29 007 15 406

Reconciliation of provision for doubtful debts

Opening balance (1 874) (230)
Amount provided (1 101) (1 644)

(2 975) (1 874)

Non-current assets - Receivables from exchange transactions
Opening balance 160 369 156 577
Increase in provision 3 275 3 792

163 644 160 369
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2016 2015
R ‘000 R ‘000

4. Receivables from non-exchange transactions

Special projects receivables

Opening balance (1 000) 1 161
Opening balance - transfer from note 12 51 469 -
Special projects grants received (617 921) (11 350)
Interest received (9 001) -
Grant amount utilised 696 953 11 189

19 562 1 000

Working for Water
Opening balance (51 051) -
Grant income (585 471) -
Interest received (7 469) -
Grant amount utilised 662 437 -
 18 446 -

EPWP
Opening balance (418) -
Grant income  (31 450) -
Interest received (1 532) -
Grant amount utilised 34 516 -

 1 116 -

Other
Opening balance 1 000 1 161
Special projects grants received (1 000) (11 350)
Grant amount utilised - 11 189
 - 1 000

SANParks receives conditional grants from different funders. Normally SANParks contracts with the funder over the budget for which the special project the 
grant is funded. For projects whose lifespan exceeds one reporting period, SANParks will contract with the funder to receive the funds in stages. It so happens 
that sometimes SANParks will incur the expenditure for the projects and receive the funds/cash at a later stage. The closing balance for this account therefore 
represents cash receivable from the special projects for expenses incurred to date, which are within the allocated funds of the projects.
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2016 2015
R ‘000 R ‘000

5. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand 356 345
Bank balances 719 211 598 040
Short term investments 261 985 284 432
 981 552 882 817

Bank balances per institution 
First National Bank 719 199 597 850
Standard Bank 12 190

 719 211 598 040

Short term investments  
Notice Account: First National Bank 51 520 58 985
Notice Account: Investec Bank 106 390 99 634
Notice Account: ABSA Bank 91 854 82 293
Notice Account: Standard Bank 12 221 43 520

 261 985 284 432

First National Bank was appointed as bankers for SANParks by tender process and is used for all SANParks activities.

Standard Bank was appointed in accordance with the conditions of the Howard G Buffett Foundation Grant.

6. Property, plant and equipment

2016 2015

Cost / Valuation
R ‘000

Accumulated 
depreciation and 

accumulated 
impairment

R ‘000

Cost / Valuation
R ‘000

Cost / Valuation
R ‘000

Accumulated 
depreciation and 

accumulated 
impairment

R ‘000

Cost / Valuation
R ‘000

Buildings and infrastructure 1 538 787 (300 732) 1 238 055 1 328 956 (267 668) 1 061 288
Vehicles and mechanical 
equipment 178 797 (112 605) 66 192 159 497 (102 769) 56 728

Furniture and office equipment 185  509 (113 531) 71 978 156 413 (95 387) 61 026
Aircraft 103 605 (29 371) 74 234 103 189 (23 736) 79 453
Assets under construction 158 399 - 158 399 193 595 - 193 595

Total 2 165 097 (556 239) 1 608 858 1 941 650 (489 560) 1 452 090
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 31 March 2016

Opening balance
R ‘000

Additions
R ‘000

Disposals
R ‘000

Transfers
R ‘000

Depreciation
R ‘000

Total
R ‘000

Buildings and infrastructure 1 061 288 34 688 (710) 176 227 (33 437) 1 238 055
Vehicles and mechanical equipment 56 728 20 492 (1 801) 5 560 (14 787) 66 192
Furniture and office equipment 61 026 32 500 (1 914) 2 414 (22 048) 71 978
Aircraft 79 453 - - 416 (5 635) 74 234
Assets under construction 193 595 154 437 - (189 633) - 158 399

1 452 090 242 117 (4 425) 5 016 (75 907) 1 608 858 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 31 March 2015

Opening balance
R ‘000

Additions
R ‘000

Disposals
R ‘000

Transfers
R ‘000

Depreciation
R ‘000

Total
R ‘000

Buildings and infrastructure 984 909 5 376 (588) 100 801 (29 210) 1 061 288
Vehicles and mechanical equipment 50 527 28 620 (782) (8 530) (13 107) 56 728
Furniture and office equipment 48 535 34 987 (1 643) (148) (20 375) 61 026
Aircraft - 71 905 (104) 8 678 (1 026) 79 453
Assets under construction 164 871 129 525 - (100 801) - 193 595

1 248 842 270 083 (3 117) - (63 718) 1 452 090

Included in movable assets are assets that serve as security for long term borrowings and assets that are held under finance leases:

Assets as security for a notarial bond in favour of IDC as detailed in note 9

Cost 178 935 154 761
Accumulated depreciation (122 716) (108 588)

56 219 46 173

Assets that serve as security under finance leases as detailed in note 10
Cost 25 227 28 041
Accumulated depreciation (20 535) (22 613)

 4 692 5 428
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2016 2015
R ‘000 R ‘000

6. Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 31 March 2016

Vehicles: 
Cost 4 353 4 823
Accumulated depreciation (3 717) (4 496)

 636 327

Furniture, office equipment and computer software:
Cost  20 874 23 218
Accumulated depreciation (16 818) (18 117)

 4 056 5 101

The register containing details of land and buildings is available for inspection at the Head Office of SANParks. The Board is of the opinion that the market value 
of land and buildings substantially exceeds its book value.

SANParks assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that the property, plant and equipment may be impaired.

7. Intangible assets

2016 2015

Cost / 
Valuation

R ‘000

Accumulated 
amortisation 

and 
accumulated 

impairment
R ‘000

Carrying 
value
R ‘000

Cost / 
Valuation

R ‘000

Accumulated 
amortisation 

and 
accumulated 

impairment
R ‘000

Carrying 
value
R ‘000

Rights 20 200 - 20 200 20 200 - 20 200
Computer software 45 437 (29 482) 15 955 41 176 (26 785) 14 391

Total 65 637 (29 482) 36 155 61 376 (26 785) 34 591

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 31 March 2016

Opening 
balance

R ‘000

Additions
R ‘000

Disposals
R ‘000

Transfer 
received

R ‘000

Amortisation
R ‘000

Total
R ‘000

Rights 20 200 - - - - 20 200
Computer software 14 391 3 394 (150) 5 016 (6 696) 15 955

34 591 3 394 (150) 5 016 (6 696) 36 155
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Reconciliation of intangible assets - 31 March 2015

Opening balance
R ‘000

Additions
R ‘000

Disposals
R ‘000

Adjustments
R ‘000

Amortisation
R ‘000

Total
R ‘000

Rights 20 200 - - - - 20 200
Computer software 13 730 8 027 (20) 315 (7 661) 14 391

33 930 8 027 (20) 315 (7 661) 34 591

SANParks purchased rights over immovable property to graze and stock water. SANParks have full access to the purchased rights from signature date to infinity, 
thus making the rights an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life. As the right has an indefinite useful life, it has not been amortised. The useful life of the 
right has been reviewed for the reporting period under review to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life 
assessment for the rights. Furthermore, through an assessment conducted, it was noted that no conditions existed at year end that might be indicative that 
rights are impaired.

The computer software useful life used in the calculation of amortisation of software is between three-years and 10 years. SANParks assesses at each reporting 
date whether there is any indication that the computer software may be impaired, or that the useful life is still appropriate. No such indication existed at the 
end of the current financial reporting period.

8. Heritage assets

Items that qualify as Heritage Assets for which SANParks can determine the historical costs associated with these items, SANParks performed an asset count 
and allocated costs for each such item and these have been recognised on the Annual Financial Statements. The following items were identified:

2016 2015

Cost / Valuation
R ‘000

Accumulated 
impairment losses

R ‘000

Carrying value
R ‘000

Cost / Valuation
R ‘000

Accumulated 
impairment losses

R ‘000

Carrying value
R ‘000

Statues 552 - 552 552 - 552
Conservation land 534 650 - 534 650 499 519 - 499 519

Total 535 202 - 535 202 500 071 - 500 071
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8. Heritage assets (Continued) 
Reconciliation of heritage assets - 31 March 2016

Opening balance
R ‘000

Additions
R ‘000

Total
R ‘000

Statues 552 - 552
Conservation land 499 519 35 131 534 650
 500 071 35 131 535 202

Reconciliation of heritage assets - 31 March 2015

Opening balance
R ‘000

Additions
R ‘000

Total
R ‘000

Statues - 552 552
Conservation land 483 437 16 082 499 519
 483 437 16 634 500 071

Heritage assets which fair values cannot be reliably measured 

A significant value of SANParks Heritage assets were obtained through non-exchange transactions from various state-owned organisations. For Heritage 
assets obtained from non-exchange transations SANParks attempted to establish the value thereof using guidance from Directive 7 issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board. Due to the nature of SANParks activities, SANParks could not establish neither a fair value /deemed cost nor a replacement cost for its Heritage 
assets acquired from non-exchange transactions. For that reason, SANParks Heritage assets acquired from non-exchange transactions could not be recognised 
in the Annual Financial Statements. However, information pertaining to such assets has been disclosed below. 

 SANParks assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that the heritage assets may be impaired. No such indication existed at the end of 
the current financial reporting period.
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Names of National Parks Size in Hectares
Kruger National Park 1 962 362

Kalahari Gemsbok National Park 960 029

Addo Elephant National Park 163 297

Mountain Zebra National Park 27 900

Bontebok National Park 2 432

Golden Gate Highlands National Park 34 062

Augrabies Falls National Park 58 699

Groenkloof National Park 7

Karoo National Park 84 082

West Coast National Park 47 026

Tankwa Karoo National Park 138 570

Richtersveld National Park 162 445

Marakele National Park 60 865

Mapungubwe National Park 15 311

Table Mountain National Park 33 010

Agulhas National Park 20 415

Namaqua National Park 130 641

Camdeboo National Park 18 946

Mokala National Park 29 414

Garden Route National Park 137 796

Vaalbos National Park 4 575

4 091 884

Other Heritage Assets
Location

Table Mountain National Park Rhodes Memorial Monument

Table Mountain National Park Cecil John Rhodes

Table Mountain National Park Bronze Man on Horse

Table Mountain National Park Bronze Cast Lion x8

Kruger National Park Thulamela Dry Stone Walls

Kruger National Park Skukuza Museum

Kruger National Park Masorini Rock Art Sites

Kruger National Park Kruger Statue

Kruger National Park Kruger Rock Art

Kruger National Park Nombolo Mdluli Statue

Mapungubwe National Park Mapungubwe Collections

Groenkloof National Park Kudu Sculptures x2
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2016 2015
R ‘000 R ‘000

9. Other financial liabilities

Designated at fair value
IDC Loan 

The commercial development IDC long-term loan was entered into for development of new infrastructure to a total value of R35 million.  

The loan is repayable in 119 equal monthly instalments of R0,292 million, which commenced 1 October 2006 with a final instalment of 

R0,252 million on 1 August 2016. The loan bears interest at prime less 2,5%. At 31 March 2016 the interest rate was 7,75% (2015 -7,5%) 

subject to a minimum rate of 7,5%.

1 712 5 216

Long term portion: non-current liability - 1 712
Short term portion: current liabilities 1 712 3 504

10. Finance lease obligation

Minimum lease payments due
 - within one year 4 587 3 609
 - in second to fifth year inclusive 3 277 3 125
 - later than five years - -

7 864 6 734
less: future finance charges (670) (436)

Present value of minimum lease payments 7 194 6 298

Non-current liabilities 3 071 3 011
Current liabilities 4 123 3 287

 7 194 6 298

It is SANParks policy to lease IT equipment under finance leases. 

The average lease term was 3 - 5 years and the average effective borrowing rate was 9% (2015: 7%). 

Interest rates are linked to prime at the contract date. All leases have fixed repayments and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rent. 

The entity’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased assets. Refer to note 6.
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2016 2015
R ‘000 R ‘000

11. Trade and other payables from exchange transactions
Trade payables 135 425 107 937
Payments received in advanced 31 331 26 594
VAT payable 16 317 -
Other accrued expenses 62 711 77 895
Deposits received 245 212
Other payables 7 109 6 649
 253 138 219 287

Trade Payables Age Analysis 

Current (0 - 30 days) 119 465 97 327
31 - 60 days 108 (5)
61 - 90 days (2 914) 9 762
91 - 120 days 5 503 (9 193)
Over 120 days 13 263 10 046
 135 425 107 937

12. Liabilities from non-exchange transactions
Unspent conditional grants comprise:

Unspent conditional grants and receipts 
Infrastructure grant 269 775 200 499
Special projects 130 930 251 237
Land grant 5 020 24 294

 405 725 476 030

Movement during the year
Infrastructure opening balance  200 499 124 161
Infrastructure grants received during the year 257 946 284 240
Grant amount utilised during the year (199 244) (207 902)
Interest received during the year 10 574 -
Infrastructure closing balance 269 775 200 499

Land grant opening balance 24 294 25 170
Land grant received during the year 15 856 15 159
Land grant amount utilised during the year (35 130) (16 035)
Land grant closing balance 5 020 24 294

Special projects opening balance 251 237 221 804
Special projects opening balance transferred to note 4 (51 469) -
Special project grant received during the year 47 932 765 437
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2016 2015
R ‘000 R ‘000

12. Liabilities from non-exchange transactions (Continued)
Movement during the year (Continued)
Interest received 119 -
Special projects amount utilised during the year (116 889) (736 004)
Special projects closing balance 130 930 251 237

Special projects are detailed below:

(i) Nature Conservation Trust - HGBF 
Opening balance 43 713 54 440
Grant income  3 76 741
Grant amount utilised (41 730) (87 468)
 1 986 43 713

(ii) Working for Water 
Opening balance - 6 513
Grant income  - 497 349
Grant amount utilised - (452 811)
 - 51 051

(iii) Limpopo Transfrontier Park
Opening balance 897 295
Grant income 877 2 689
Grant amount utilised (1 248) (2 087)

526 897

(iv) Mellon Foundation
Opening balance 12 696 13 760
Grant income 700 705
Grant amount utilised (1 619) (1 769)

11 777 12 696

(v) Theta
Opening balance 14 345 13 308
Grant income 1 616 1 483
Grant amount utilised (2 571) (446)

13 390 14 345
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2016 2015
R ‘000 R ‘000

(vi) EPWP
Opening balance - 1 634
Grant income - 39 486
Grant amount utilised - (40 702)

- 418

(vii) Other 
Opening balance 128 117 131 854
Grant income 44 736 146 984
Interest received 119 -
Grant amount utilised (69 721) (150 721)

 103 251 128 117

13. Provisions
Reconciliation of provisions - 2016

Opening Balance
R’000

Incurred during the 
year

R’000

Total 
R’000

Concessionaires provision 160 369  3 275  163 644
Leave liability 37 968  8 397  46 365

 198 337  11 672  210 009

Reconciliation of provisions - 2015

Opening Balance
R’000

Incurred/(Utilised) 
during the year 

R’000

Total 
R’000

Concessionaires provision 156 577 3 792 160 369
Leave liability 39 427  (1 459) 37 968

 196 004 2 333 198 337

Non-current liabilities 163 644 160 369
Current liabilities 46 365 37 968

210 009 198 337

The lodge concessions entail allowing private operators to build and operate tourism facilities within the national parks on the basis of a defined period 
usually over a 20 year concession contract. Investors take over and upgrade specified existing lodge facilities or builds new ones. The contractual mechanism 
is a concession contract, which enables the private operator to use a defined area of land, plus any building that may already exist on that land over a specific 
time period in return for payment of concession fees. Against these rights of occupation and commercial use of facilities there is a set of obligations on the 
part of the concessionaire regarding financial terms, environmental management, social objectives, empowerment and other factors. Infringement of these 
requirements carries specified penalties, underpinned by performance bonds and finally termination of the contract. The assets will revert to SANParks at a 
consideration equal to the residual value of the asset at the date of transfer. The provision arose as a result of the liability payable at the termination date of the 
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concessionaire contract.

2016 2015
R ‘000 R ‘000

14. Reservation deposits

Opening balance 249 703 216 424
Current year deposits 287 158 287 873
Deposits utilised during the year (260 205) (254 594)
 276 656 249 703

15. Employee benefit obligation

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:
Carrying value 
Present value of the defined benefit obligation: wholly unfunded (456 647) (408 758)
Interest cost (39 763) (36 374)
Current service cost (8 129) (7 377)
Actual employer benefit payments 17 712 16 569
Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised during the year 631 (20 707)
 (486 196) (456 647)

Net expense recognised in the statement of financial performance

Current service cost 8 129 7 377
Interest cost 39 763 36 374
Actuarial (gains) losses (631) 20 707
 47 261 64 458
Key assumptions used
Assumptions used at the reporting date: 

Discount rates used 10,10% 9,00%
Medical cost trend rates 7,90% 7,80%
Net effect discount rate (0,45)% (0,50)%

Mortality pre-retirement
Male    SA 85 - 90 (light)
Female    SA 85 - 90 (light) down by three-years
Mortality post retirement
Male    PA90 male - rated down by one year
Female    PA90 female - rated down by one year

Sensitivity analysis

Effect of 1% increase and decrease in the health care cost inflation rate is as follows:



South African National Parks Annual Report 2015/16 195

South African National Parks

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2016

 
Valuation 

basis
R ‘000

1% increase
R ‘000

1% decrease
R ‘000

Employer’s accrued liability 486 196 559 088 426 066
Actuarial (gain) / loss (631) 72 262 (60 760)

2016 2015

R ‘000 R ‘000

16. Tourism, retail, concession and other

Retail activities
Shops and restaurant 60 578 64 427
Filling station sales 168 783 173 278
 229 361 237 705

Tourism
Accommodation 636 295 566 798
Drive Fees 47 784 40 593
Trail Fees 30 854 28 394
Other tourism related activities 25 880 22 749

740 813 658 534

Concession fees
Facilities Rental 37 232 32 419
Concession Fees Received 66 016 53 084

103 248 85 503

Conservation and entrance fees
Wild Card Income 61 653 55 137
Conservation Fees 334 104 290 428
Entrance Fees 6 868 6 528
 402 625 352 093

Other 
Rent Received 13 724 14 435
Services Rendered 8 121 7 591
 21 845 22 026
 1 497 892 1 355 861

17. Sales - fauna and flora

Sales - fauna and flora 48 791 31 368

The sale of fauna and flora is used for bio-diversity and related expenses to expand the national park system.
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2016 2015
R ‘000 R ‘000

18. Other operating income

Sales - non-retail 1 690 1 641
Fines 3 313 1 461
Course fees 1 260 1 298
Commission received 3 462 847
Water and electricity 8 406 7 111
Rebates received - 2 649
Location fee for filming right 2 614 1 747
Other income 16 389 9 570

37 134 26 324

19. Interest and royalties received

Interest revenue
Interest and royalties received 37 189 31 070

20. Government grants and other funding

Roads 11 671 19 277
Conservation 405 129 559 716
Land acquisition 35 130 16 034
Special projects income 813 842 746 142
 1 265 772 1 341 169

21. Donations

Donations 16 936 12 644

Non-specific donations form a minor part of the funding of conservation and people and conservation programs of SANParks. Due to the varying nature of 
such funding and the direct allocation thereof to identifiable projects, it is not deemed part of normal operations.

22. Employee related costs

Salaries and wages 692 025 660 263
Social contributions 92 476 86 079
Other salary related costs 75 428 60 415
Post-retirement benefits 47 671 64 458
 907 600 871 215

Included in employee related costs are related parties transactions pertaining to key management personnel remuneration as detailed in note 35.
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SANParks Pension Fund

Contributions by the employer and the employees are allocated to the SANParks Pension Fund. The fund is a defined contribution plan, which is controlled by 
the Pension Funds Act, 1956 and administered by a financial institution. During the year SANParks contributed an amount of R35,8 million for 2 096 employees 
(2015 - R34,1 million for 2 148 employees) to the retirement fund.

SACCAWU National Provident Fund

The fund is a defined contribution plan, which is controlled by the Pension Funds Act, 1956 and administered by a financial institution. Retirement benefits are 
based on the accumulated credits as contributed by both employer and employee. During the year SANParks contributed an amount of R20,6 million for 1 914 
employees (2015 - R19,2 million for 1 904 employees). 

2016 2015
R ‘000 R ‘000

23. Depreciation and amortisation

Furniture and office equipment 22 047 20 375
Buildings and infrastructure 33 437 29 210
Vehicle and mechanical equipment 14 788 13 108
Aircraft 5 635 1 026
Intangible assets - amortisation 6 694 7 661
 82 601 71 380

24. Finance costs

Finance leases 828 521
Current borrowings 363 567
 1 191 1 088

25. Repairs and maintenance

Property and buildings 57 554 55 767
Machinery and equipment 6 342 6 268
Office and computer equipment 652 541
Consumables utilised in maintenance programs 16 070 14 387
 80 618 76 963

26. Operating expenses

Assessment rates and municipal charges 53 016 46 648
Auditors remuneration (Note 27) 6 719 9 361
Bank charges 21 293 20 344
Consulting and professional fees 17 486 21 750
Consumables 47 344 50 393
Insurance 8 301 30 749
IT expenses 12 747 12 247
Motor vehicle expenses 20 525 16 021
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26. Operating expenses (Continued)
Promotions 13 710 11 893
Software expenses 7 260 6 933
Subsistence allowance 48 469 47 838
Telephone and fax 22 938 23 386
Other operating expenses 179 844 202 378
Special projects expenses 786 643 673 934
Cost of retail operations 188 065 200 000
 1 434 360 1 373 875

27. Auditors’ remuneration

Internal audit fees 1 282 3 627
External audit fees 5 437 5 734
 6 719 9 361

28. Operating lease payments 

Rent paid vehicles 103 175 101 075
Rent other 11 967 11 899
 115 142 112 974

29. Loss on disposal of assets

Loss on disposal of assets 3 204 3 003

30. Irregular expenditure
 
Opening balance 126 -
Condoned (126) -
Irregular expenditure incurred 1 734 126

Balance carried forward not condoned 1 734 126

During the year under review, services were procured from suppliers after the original contracts had expired. The deviations were not approved in accordance 
with SANParks’ Delegation Framework. 

Upon discovery of these deviations, SANParks embarked on an internal investigation in order to ascertain the full nature of the irregular expenditure. The results 
of the investigations are as follows:

•	 The irregular expenditure was not the result of fraudulent corrupt and/or criminal activities. 

•	 Value for money was derived from the services rendered as both contracts relate to services that are essential for SANParks operations.

2016 2015
R ‘000 R ‘000
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•	 The transactions, conditions and events have not resulted in SANParks suffering a financial loss. Therefore, the irregular expenditure is not recoverable 
from an employee.

•	 Due to the fact that no employee is liable for this transaction, no receivables were raised to account for this transaction. The expenditure incurred was 
thus left in the expense account and is included as part of operational expenses in the Statement of Financial Performance.

Subsequently, a process was initiated to regularise the irregular expenditure through SANParks’ SCM processes.

31. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Interest on overdue creditors 117 52
Penalties paid to SARS for the late payments - 3
Cash embezzlement in Golden Gate Highlands National Park - 1 583
Stock losses - 1 313
Cash losses in Tsitsikamma National Park 75 -
 192 2 951

Interest on overdue creditors relates to interest charged for late payments to suppliers. Subsequently, management has reviewed internal controls around 
payment terms for creditors. 

Cash collected by the security company in Tsitsikamma National Park (a part of the Garden Route National Park) was never accounted for by the bank as 
received. Forensic investigations are under way regarding this incident.

32. Cash generated from operations

Surplus 278 998 287 938

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 82 601 71 380
Loss on sale of assets 3 204 3 003
Finance costs 1 191 1 088
Movements in retirement benefit liabilities 29 549 47 889
Movements in provisions 11 672 2 333
Other non-cash items - (166 136)

Changes in working capital:

Inventories 3 203 2 562
Receivables from exchange transactions (2 722) (8 535)
Other receivables from non-exchange transactions (18 562) 161
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 33 853 (6 219)
Liabilities from non-exchange transactions (70 304) 104 895
Reservation deposits 26 953 33 279

385 080 373 638

2016 2015
R ‘000 R ‘000
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33. Risk management

Financial risk management

SANParks activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price 
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

SANParks overall risk management program focusses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on SANParks 
financial performance. Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the Accounting Authority. The Accounting Authority provides principles for 
overall risk management and policies covering specific areas such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and investment.

Liquidity risk

SANParks is exposed to liquidity risk as a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. SANParks manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review 
of future commitments and credit facilities.

Cash flow forecasts are prepared and borrowing facilities are monitored.

Maximum credit risk exposure

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors. SANParks only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing.

Cash deposits and cash equivalents: SANParks minimises its credit risk, which is the risk of loss due to the failure of the security issuer by using banks with an 
A1+ or A1 grading according to the Fitch IBCA and similar grading reports. These banks are registered in South Africa and approved by the National Treasury.

Trade debtors: Sales to retail customers are settled in cash or using major credit cards. No credit is allowed unless backed by tender or agreement whereby risk 
control assesses the credit worthiness of the customer, taking into account its financial position past experience and other factors.

The financial assets carried at cost exposes the entity to credit risk. The values of the maximum exposure to credit risk are as follows for each class of financial 
asset at cost.

2016 2015
R ‘000 R ‘000

Financial instrument 
Cash and cash equivalents 981 552 882 817
Receivables from exchange transactions 41 944 39 404

Concentration of Credit Risk

Potential concentrations of credit risk consist mainly of short-term cash, cash equivalent investments and trade debtors.

SANParks limits its counter party exposure from its money market investment operations by only dealing with well-established financial institutions of high 
quality standing. The credit exposure to any one counter party is managed by setting transaction/exposure limits, which are reviewed annually.
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Trade debtors comprise a large number of customers, dispersed across different industries and geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluations are performed 
on the financial condition of these debtors. Trade debtors are presented net of doubtful debts.

2016 2015
R ‘000 R ‘000

Concentration of credit risks Exposure 
R’000

Percentage 
of total 

exposure
Cash and cash equivalents 719 567 73%
Short term investments 261 985 27%
 981 552 100%

Capital Risk Management

SANParks objectives, when managing capital, are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide benefits for stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure.

The capital structure of SANParks consists of debt, which includes borrowings and cash and cash equivalents.

Interest rate risk

SANParks has no significant interest-bearing assets, SANParks income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest 
rates.

SANParks interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose SANParks to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings 
issued at fixed rates will expose the entity to fair value interest rate risk.

The table below analyses the entity’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the Statement of Financial Position 
date to the contractual maturity date together with the cash flow interest rate risk.

2016 

Within one year 
R’000

Later than one 
year and not 

later than five 
years 
R’000

Current interest 
rate

Gross finance lease obligation  4 587 3 277 8,5%

Borrowings  1 712 - Prime - 2,5%

Trade and other payables 254 811 -

Reservation deposits 276 656 -

Post-retirement health benefit obligation 486 196 -

Liabilities from non-exchange transactions 405 725 -
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33. Risk management (Continued)

2015 

Within one year 
R’000

Later than one 
year and not 

later than five 
years 
R’000

Current interest 
rate

Gross finance lease obligations  3 609 3 125 7%

Borrowings  3 504 1 712 Prime - 2,5%

Trade and other payables  219 287 -

Reservation deposits 249 703 -

Post-retirement health benefit obligation 456 647 -

Liabilities from non-exchange transactions 476 030 -

These amounts best represent maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period without taking into account any credit enhancements.

Interest Rate Risk sensitivity analysis 

The susceptibility of South African National Park’s financial performance to changes in interest rates can be illustrated as follows:

Effect of 1% change in the interest rate Current interest 
rate

Value 31 March 
2016 
R’000

Discounted value 
at current rate 

 

R’000

Discounted value 
at Current rate 

(+1%) 
 

R’000

Discounted value 
at Current rate 

(-1%) 
 

R’000
Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 12,25% 41 944 47 082 47 552 46 611
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 9,25% 254 811 278 381 281 165 275 597
Cash in current banking institution 6,6% 719 211 767 058 774 254 759 863
Call investment deposits 7,05% 261 985 280 455 283 075 277 835

The sensitivity analysis was based on the assumption that a 1% increase or decrease in the interest rate could occur.  The method used to prepare the sensitivity 
analysis was based on the discounted value of the respective cash flow for one year using the respective current interest rate in order to determine the effect 
of applicable market risk of a 1% increase or decrease in the interest rate.

Financial assets pledged as security

The following financial assets were pledged as security for liabilities

Description of financial asset Line item financial asset is 
included in

Value of the balance pledged as 
security - R’000

Details of the liability that it was 
pledged as security for

Mechanical and office equipment property,  plant and equipment 56 219
A notarial bond in favour of the 

IDC borrowing

Vehicles, furniture and office equipment and computer software
property, plant and equipment 

and intangible assets
4 692

Serves as security under finance 
leases
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34. Related Parties

Relationships

Controlling entity: DEA 

SANParks does not have control or significant influence over any other entity. SANParks is a statutory organisation governed by the National Environmental 
Management Protected Areas Act, no. 57 of 2003, and a national public entity as listed under Schedule 3A of the PFMA No. 1 of 1999 as amended.  

SANParks is not required to disclose the value of transactions with other public sector entities as the transactions were concluded within normal operating 
procedures and on terms that are no more or no less favourable than the terms it would use to conclude transactions with another entity or person.

Key Management Personnel Remuneration

2016

Emoluments
Uniform 

allowance
Bonuses and 

incentives
Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Mr F Mketeni - CEO 1 866 1 - 1 867
Mr R Mahabeer - CFO  1 771 1 - 1 772
Mr G Phillips - ME KNP 1 628 1 276 1 905
Ms w mkutshulwa - ME Corporate Services 1 575 1 71 1 647
Dr N Songelwa - ME Parks (Resigned 31 August 2015) 607 1 258 866
Ms L McCourt - COO (Appointed 01 June 2015) 1 273 2 - 1 275
 8 720 7 605 9 332
2015

Emoluments
Uniform 

allowance
Bonuses and 

incentives
Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Dr MD Mabunda - CEO (Resigned 31 March 2014) 14 - 52 66
Mr A Sibiya - ME KNP (Resigned 30 November 2014) 925 1 481 1 407
Dr DT Magome - ME Conservation Services (Resigned 28 February 2015) 1 631 1 568 2 200
Mr L Mavuso - ME Human Resources (Resigned 28 February 2015) 1 350 1 500 1 851
Mr G Phillips - ME Tourism 1 522 1 141 1 664
Ms w mkutshulwa - ME Corporate Services 1 613 1 - 1 614
Dr N Songelwa - ME Parks 1 472 1 129 1 602
Mr RT Mabilane - CFO (Resigned 30 April 2014) 156 1 - 157
Mr R Mahabeer - CFO (Appointed 1 Feb 2015) 296 1 - 297
Mr F Mketeni - CEO (Appointed 1 December 2014) 660 1 - 661
 9 639 9 1 871 11 519
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34. Related Parties (Continued)

Board Members and Attendance at Meetings,  Remuneration And Associated Costs
2016

Board 
meetings and 

workshops

Conservation 
and tourism 
committee 
meetings

Audit and risk 
committee 
meetings

Human capital 
management 

committee 
meetings

Remuneration 
R

Subsistence 
and travel 
allowance  

R
Ms J Yawitch 6 - - - 46 268 3 537
Ms K Njobe 6 3 - 5 71 358 -
Mr ET Khumalo (Resigned 09 November 2015) 1 - - - - -
Dr CG Olver 5 - 6 - 39 276 5 805
Ms F Futwa 4 - 6 - 45 372 4 073
Ms B Ferguson 6 - - 5 67 806 1 181
Mr M India 5 4 - - 31 356 1 417
Mr L Zita 6 4 6 - 67 380 646
Dr M Matlou 5 4 1 4 66 780 5 329
Mr M Mokono (Resigned 23 March 2016) 3 3 3 - 35 724 -
Dr N Mzilikazi 4 2 - - - -
Ms T Semane 6 - 3 2 51 972 4 499
Ms H Schoeman 3 - 4 5 - -

523 292 26 487
2015

Board 
meetings and 

workshops

Conservation 
and tourism 
committee 
meetings

Audit and risk 
committee 
meetings

HR and 
remuneration 

committee 
meetings

Remuneration 
R

Subsistence 
and travel 
allowance 

R
Mr KD Dlamini 12 - - - - -
Dr Z Lees 12 6 3 3 76 200 7 846
Mr S Mbanga 2 - - 2 1 524 354
Prof G Swan 13 6 1 - 60 960 3 260
Prof G Kerley 13 6 - - 60 960 32 044
Ms R Kalidass 6 - 3 - 21 168 23 989
Dr GC Dry 13 6 6 10 45 720 35 422
Ms B Kunene 9 - 5 - 7 620 1 148
Ms N Mteto 3 - 3 - 7 620 -
Ms L McCourt 8 - - 5 - -
CEOs 12 6 5 6 - -
CFOs 12 - 7 - - -

281 772 104 063

Dr. N Mzilikazi and Ms. H Schoeman are government employees, they are therefore not eligible to receive remuneration payable to members for attending 
meetings.
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2016 2015
R ‘000 R ‘000

35. Commitments 

Authorised capital expenditure 
Commitments in respect of capital expenditure
• Approved and contracted for 781 744 722 720
• Approved but not yet contracted for 1 645 525 679 28
Total capital commitments 2 427 269 1 402 006

•	 Commitments represent goods/services that have been ordered, but no delivery has taken place at 31 March 2016. These amounts are not recognised in 
the statement of financial position as a liability or as expenditure in the statement of financial performance, but are only disclosed in this note. Majority 
of SANParks capital commitments are funded by grants from the DEA. Approved and contracted for capital commitments pertain to existing contracts 
with external parties for the construction of SANParks infrastructure. Approved but not yet contracted for capital commitments, represent agreements 
for funding of specific capital projects between SANParks and the DEA. Other commitments are funded by SANParks operational grant, and pertain to 
operational orders that were not delivered as at 31 March 2016.

Commitments in respect of operational leases 
Already contracted for but not provided for 
• Within one year 36 016 60 019
• Between two and five years 52 141 30 162
 88 157 90 181

This committed expenditure relates to vehicles, buildings and equipment, and will be financed by funds internally generated.

36. Contingencies

Contingent liabilities 

Land Claims

The Department of Rural Development and Land Reform did not award any land rights or land managed by SANParks to any claimant person or communities 
in the current financial year. SANParks is still supportive of the process of appropriate redress for persons or communities who unjustly lost rights or ownership 
of land as a result of it being declared a national park. No significant financial obligations are placed on SANParks in consequence of this process. However, 
the co-management framework with successful claimant communities and the attendant beneficent scheme will exert financial strain on SANParks once the 
land has been restored to the claimants.

Municipal Property Rates

National Parks constitute rateable property in terms of the Local Government:  Municipal Property Rates Act, No. 6 of 2004 (the Rates Act) which came into 
effect on 2 July 2005. The Rates Act started applying to National Parks as from 2 July 2009.

SANParks made a submission to the Minister of Environmental Affairs in March 2011 whereby the Minister was requested to make a formal submission on 
behalf of SANParks to the Minister of Co-operative Governance and Traditional Affairs requesting:

• a total exemption of all National Parks from the application of the Property Rates Act; or
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36. Contingencies (Continued)

• to consider prescribing a National Rates framework that can be applied to all National Parks to bring about consistence to the application of the Rates Act 
by all municipalities to ensure that national parks afford the prescribed rates; and 

• in the interim all national parks that are rateable, be exempted from payment of Property Rates until such time that the Minister of Co-operative Governance 
and Traditional Affairs has made a decision in respect of the paragraphs above.

Contingent assets

SANParks incurred a cash loss at the Tsitsikamma National Park (a part of the Garden Route National Park) and has submitted an insurance claim for the loss of 
R75 000. The probability of receiving the insurance claim remains at 50%.

37. Public Private Partnership Programme - PPP Fee Income

Lodge Concession PPP Fees 

The lodge concessions entail allowing private operators to build and operate tourism facilities within the national parks on the basis of a defined period usually 
over a 20-year concession contract. Investors take over and upgrade specified existing lodge facilities or builds new ones. The contractual mechanism is a 
concession contract which enables the private operator to use a defined area of land plus any building that may already exist on that land over a specific time 
period in return for payment of concession fees.

Lodge Concession PPP Fees 

Against these rights of occupation and commercial use of facilities, there is a set of obligations on the part of the concessionaire regarding financial terms, 
environmental management, social objectives, empowerment and other factors. Infringement of these requirements carries specified penalties underpinned 
by performance bonds and finally termination of the contract with the assets reverting to SANParks.

The annual concession fee payable by the concessionaire to SANParks for any given concession year shall be the higher of a minimum rental as determined by 
the agreement for the concession year or a calculated annual concession fee based on the bid percentage of gross revenue for the concession year. 

At the end of the concession period, the concessionaires shall hand over the concession area, the camp, all concession assets and its rights or interest in the 
developments to SANParks free of charges, liens, claims or encumbrances of any kind whatsoever and free of any liabilities in good condition fair wear and tear 
excepted. The concessionaire shall not, other than as provided for in respect of the residual value, be entitled to payment of any compensation in connection 
therewith. 

Performance bonds were provided to SANParks by the concessionaires that are operative from the effective dates. The concessionaires will maintain valid 
performance bonds from the effective dates until 90 business days after the expiry or earlier termination of the concession contracts. The amounts to be 
guaranteed by the performance bonds shall be equal to R250 000 at effective date and increased every three years by CPI per Concession Area. 

The calculated annual concession fee is based on the bid percentage of actual gross revenue for that concession year. The specific obligations per concession 
are detailed in the schedule below:
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National Park - Concession Area Concession holder Commissioning date Termination date Percentage of Gross Revenue
Addo - Gorah Elephant Camp Hunter Hotels (Pty) Ltd 1 January 2001 31 December 2025 5% - 12.5%
Kruger - Mutlumuv Rhino Walking Safaris (Pty) Ltd 1 July 2002 30 June 2022 5% - 8%

Kruger Mpanamana Shishangeni Lodge (Pty) Ltd 1 January 2002 31 December 2021 10% - 20%

Kruger - Jakkalsbessie Jakkalsbessie Lodge (Pty) Ltd 1 January 2002 31 December 2021 10% - 15%
Kruger - Jock of the Bushveld Mitomeni River Lodge (Pty) Ltd 1 July 2001 30 June 2021 11.5% - 22%
Kruger - Lwakahle Lukimbi Safari Lodge (Pty) Ltd 1 November 2001 31 October 2021 5% - 25%
Kruger - Mluwati Imbali Safari Lodge (Pty) Ltd 1 January 2002 31 December 2021 10% - 25%
Kruger - Nwanetsi Singita Lebombo (Pty) Ltd 1 March 2002 31 December 2032 12.3%
Table Mountain - Roundhouse Roundhouse (Pty) Ltd 1 August 2002 31 July 2027 4% - 5%
Table Mountain - Koeël Bay Koeël Bay Hospitality (Pty) Ltd 1 January 2004 31 December 2023 3.5% - 10%
West Coast - Houseboats Kraalbaai Houseboats (Pty) Ltd 15 December 2014 31 May 2016 10% - 20%

Public Private Partnership Programme: Retail and Restaurant Facility Rental Income 

The concession contracts for retail and restaurant operations entail allowing private operators to operate SANParks’ existing facilities on the basis of a 
medium-term operating agreement. Investors manage and upgrade existing retail and restaurant facilities (it should be noted that as part of the most recent 
tender process SANParks undertook refurbishments to some facilities, which included upgrading to electricity, refrigeration, roofs, floors and tiling). The 
agreements enable the operators to use a defined area over a pre-determined term in return for payment of concession fees. Funding for the refurbishment 
of ageing infrastructure is for the Concessionaires account. Against the right of occupation and commercial use of facilities, there are set obligations on the 
part of the concessionaire regarding financial terms, environmental management, social objectives empowerment and other factors. Infringement of these 
requirements carries specified penalties including termination of the contract with the assets reverting to SANParks.

The monthly rental payable for the facilities by the private operator to SANParks for any given month shall be the higher of the fixed monthly rental as defined 
by the agreements escalating on an annual basis; or the rental based on actual gross revenue realised, expressed as a percentage of gross revenue.

The private operators have provided SANParks with Performance Bonds equivalent to three months fixed rental in the form of Performance Guarantees that 
secure the operators performance under the Operating Agreement on the basis set out in the Facilities Rental Agreement. 

The following schedule summarises the potential income receivable from the various operators for the various sites:

Retail and Restaurant Commissioning date Termination date
Annual Minimum 

rental 
(R)

Percentage of gross 
revenue

The Park Shop North (Tigers Eye KNP) 1 February 2013 31 January 2023 10 670 000 12%
The Park Shop South (Tigers Eye - Addo and Tsitsikamma) 1 February 2013 31 January 2023 1 402 000 12%

Jobojali cc t/a Salt and Pepper Restaurant (Karoo) 1 December 2013 30 November 2023 144 900 5%

Geelbek Restaurant 1 March 2013 28 February 2018 60 000 5%
Tindlovu JV cc 1 December 2012 30 November 2022 144 900 7,5%
Astrorail 145 cc (Augrabies - Shop and Restaurant 15 November 2012 14 November 2022 249 200 7%
Goedeten (Pty) Ltd - (Mugg and Bean - Lower Sabie) 1 March 2014 28 February 2024 415 722 7%
Tourvest Holdings (Pty) Ltd Cattle Baron Restaurant Skukuza 1 October 2014 30 September 2024 426 815 5%-8%
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37. Public Private Partnership Programme - PPP Fee Income (Continued)

Retail and Restaurant Commissioning date Termination date
Annual Minimum 

rental 
(R)

Percentage of gross 
revenue

Select Events and Venues cc 1 December 2013 30 November 2023 193 295 7%
Ringgold 470 (Pty) Ltd (Mugg and Bean - Letaba) 14 April 2014 13 April 2024 236 459 7%
Quay 4 Knysna 28 March 2008 27 March 2023 609 472 6%-10%
Tourvest Holdings (Pty) Ltd - Cattle Baron Restaurant Tsitsikamma 01 August 2013 31 July 2024 342 555 8%
Tourvest Holdings (Pty) Ltd Cattle Baron Restaurant Addo 1 April 2014 31 March 2024 283 047 8%
Ringgold 474 (Pty) Ltd (Mugg and Bean - Olifants) 3 April 2014 2 April 2024 202 460 7%
Ringgold 477 (Pty) Ltd (Mugg and Bean - Satara) 11 March 2014 10 March 2024 363 635 7%
Eysbos (Pty) Ltd - (Mugg and Bean - Pretoriuskop) 25 March 2014 24 March 2024 175 858 7%

Public Private Partnership Programme:  Retail and Restaurant Facility Rental Income 

Activities Contracting Party Commissioning Date Termination Date Percentage of gross 
revenue

Kruger National Park 
Skukuza Airport 

Management Co
1 June 2014 31 May 2024 10%

Cape Point Lease and TMACC Cape Point - Concor 1 May 1995 30 June 2021 10%
Table Mountain Aerial 

Company
26 November 2006 25 November 2025 12.5%

Rhodes Memorial 1 October 2010 30 September 2018 10%
Tsitsikamma Forest Income Adventures Out There 24 October 2013 24 October 2018 8%

Storms River Adventures 
Tree Top

1 April 2013 30 April 2016 R25pp

Tours and Woodcutter 
Trail Cadeau Hiking Trail

1 September 2011 30 September 2016 8%

Tsitsikamma Rest Camp Untouched Adventures 1 Jan 2015 31 December 2020 10%
Segway Bike Tours 1 December 2013 30 November 2018 6%

Farleigh Forest Goudveld Tea Garden 1 December 2013 30 November 2016 R21 600 p.a.
Wilderness Segways Segway Bike Tours 1 November 2015 31 March 2017 R42 000 p.a

Contractual Parks Contracting Party Commissioning Date Termination Date Percentage of gross 
revenue

Addo Nyati Section Riverbend Country Lodge 1 June 2004 31 May 2054 3.5%-7.5%
Marakele Marakele (Pty) Ltd 2 November 2000 1 December 2030 4%-8%
Addo Kuzuko Lodge 99 year lease 99 year lease 4%
West Coast National Par Duinepos Chalets 1 March 2009 1 March 2019 5%
Kgalagadi National Park Ixhaus Lodge 1 May 2007 30 April 2027 5%-10%
Tankwa Karoo National Park Gannaga / Tankwa Lodge 1 April 2010 Revised every 3 years 6%
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38. Prior period errors

Cash flow statement note

Nature: SANParks cash flow statement disclosure note 32 cash generated from operations was incorrectly calculated. The finance charges as disclosed on note 
32 are incomplete. Only the portion relating to finance lease finance charges was accounted for and the long-term loan finance charges were excluded. As 
a result of the error SANParks understated the finance charges and other non-cash items. Other non-cash items relate to fixed assets adjustment as detailed 
in the previous financial year. The error has been corrected and comparative amounts restated accordingly. The effects of the change in prior year’s Annual 
Financial Statements are as follows:  

2016 2015
R ‘000 R ‘000

Cash Flow Statement
Increase in finance charges - 567
Increase in other non-cash items - (567)
Effect on cash flow statement - -

Statement of Financial Position

Asset adjustment and corrections

Nature: During an extensive fixed asset review that was conducted, SANParks established that property, plant and equipment was overstated. the error was 
rectified and the effect of the correction in the prior year’s annual financial statement is as follows:

Decrease in property, plant and equipment - (147 754)

Decrease in retained earnings - 147 754

39. Biological assets 

Non-Financial information

SANParks main purpose is the conservation of a representative system of biodiversity, landscape, encompassing fauna, flora, geological structures and 
unique scenery within the national park under its management authority. SANParks can intervene in ecosystems responsibly and sustainably, but it focuses 
management on complementing natural processes (e.g. floods, fires, and disease outbreaks) under a minimum interference philosophy. SANParks does not 
manage for the reproduction of biodiversity, but for biodiversity representivity and complementarity that promote resilience and ensure ecosystem integrity. 
SANParks acquired the majority of biodiversity at no cost to SANParks.

SANParks major source of revenue comprise retail, tourism and concession with tourism (in the form of accommodation and conservation fees) being the most 
significant revenue source. SANParks management is involved in the biological transformation of fauna and flora primarily as a service to the public for the 
purpose of a recreational activity, rather than for sale. 

SANParks performs wildlife censuses from time-to-time on animals that can easily be counted from the air and for specific sections of national parks where 
after the results of such counts are extrapolated to estimate the total number of animals in the national park. SANParks is not able to measure accurately the 
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39. Biological assets (Continued)

quality and/or quantity of all their faunal and floral biological diversity within the national park. SANParks does not perform counts on small animals, insects, 
birds, marine and freshwater biodiversity. 

SANParks does not measure the quantities of biological assets, as they are not of a nature that can be easily counted and the Parks can’t keep up with births and 
deaths and migrations of wild life although the Parks undertake an annual game census. As the biological assets cannot be counted it is impossible to calculate 
gains and losses in biological assets during the year. 

This is a significant judgement by management.

40. Initial application of a new GRAP standard

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GRAP standards on a basis consistent with the prior year except for the following:

During the year under review, SANParks adopted GRAP 18: Segment Reporting, which became effective for public entities. Therefore, the current year is 
SANParks initial application of this standard. Upon review of SANParks environment, the available financial information allowed us to segment SANParks into 
three different categories namely: Corporate, Kruger and Parks.

The application of this standard does not have any financial impact on the figures recognised in the Annual Financial Statements, as the standard is only for 
disclosure purposes.

The standard has been applied retrospectively. Comparative amounts were disclosed as if this accounting policy had always been applied. The disclosure note 
will reflect a summary of the Statement of Financial Performance and Statement of Financial Position split, into the three SANParks segments as mentioned 
above.

41. Segment reporting

SANParks’ activities are very broad and are undertaken in a wide range of different geographical areas with different socio-economic characteristics. To enable 
efficient and effective delivery on the strategy, the Executive Management structure sub-divided SANParks into three categories namely; Kruger, Parks and 
Corporate. In establishing the segments to report on, management organised the financial information according to the three existing Executive Management 
existing structures.

Each of the three categories was identified to meet the definition of segments as it was noted that each

•	 generates economic benefits or service potential;

•	 whose results are regularly reviewed by management to make decisions about resources to be allocated to that activity and in assessing its 
performance; and 

•	 for which separate financial information is available. 

Management opted to combine Parks operations into a single segment as the Parks have similar economic characteristics and share a majority of the 
aggregation criteria stipulated below:

•	 the nature of the goods and/or services delivered is more or less similar;

•	 the type or class of customer or consumer to which goods and services are delivered are similar;
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•	 the methods used to distribute the goods or provide the services is almost identical; or 

•	 the nature of the regulatory environment that applies to the segment (NEMPAA).

The segments were structured such that the totals of revenues, reported segment surplus or deficit, segment assets, segment liabilities and other material 
segment items corresponds to figures recognised in the Annual Financial Statements. Therefore, a reconciliation of the segment figures to the Annual Financial 
Statements is not necessary. 

Segment Reporting Statement of Financial Performance as at 31 March 2016

Revenue from Exchange Transaction Corporate 
R’000 

Kruger 
R’000 

Parks 
R’000 

Total 
R’000 

Tourism, Retail, Concession and Other 78 227 879 469 540 196 1 497 892
Sales - fauna and flora 48 791 - - 48 791
Other operating income 14 788 18 553 3 794 37 134
Interest and royalties received 37 073 22 93 37 189
Total revenue from exchange transactions 178 879 898 044 544 083 1 621 006

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Transfer revenue 1 266 388 13 202 3 118 1 282 708

Total revenue 1 445 267 911 246 547 201 2 903 714

Expenditure 
Employee related costs (226 403) (395 551) (285 646) (907 600)
Depreciation and amortisation  (13 630) (28 485) (40 486) (82 601)
Finance costs (920) (109) (162) (1 191)
Operating lease (2 926) (66 497) (45 719) (115 142)
Repairs and maintenance (1 205) (33 279) (46 134) (80 618)
Operating expenses (973 726) (302 832) (157 802) (1 434 360)
Total expenditure (1 218 810) (826 753) (575 949) (2 621 512)

Operating surplus 226 458 84 493 (28 749) 282 202
Loss on disposal of assets (363) (1 543) (1 298) (3 204)
Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 226 095 82 950 (30 047) 278 998

Assets 
Current Assets

Corporate 
R’000 

Kruger 
R’000 

Parks 
R’000 

Total 
R’000 

Inventories 2 399 23 308 5 048 30 755
Receivables from exchange transactions 30 950 371 5 361 36 682
Receivables from non-exchange transactions 19 562 - - 19 562
Cash and cash equivalents 677 417 20 445 283 690 981 552
Total Current Assets 730 328 44 124 294 099 1 068 551

Non-Current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment 179 392 612 020 817 446 1 608 858
Intangible assets 8 072 51 28 032 36 155
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41. Segment reporting (Continued)
Corporate 

R’000 
Kruger 

R’000 
Parks 
R’000 

Total 
R’000 

Heritage assets 2 039 552 532 611 535 202
Receivables from exchange transactions 163 644 - - 163 644
Total Current Assets 353 147 612 623 1 378 089 2 343 859
Total Assets 1 083 475 656 747 1 672 189 3 412 410

Current Liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 1 712 - - 1 712
Finance lease obligation 4 123 - - 4 123
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 229 004 5 575 18 560 253 139
Liabilities from non-exchange transactions 3 435 350 (217 389) (2 812 236) 405 725
Provisions 46 365 - - 46 365
Reservation deposits 276 105 - 551 276 656
Total Current Liabilities 3 992 659 (211 814) (2 793 125) 987 720

Non-Current Liabilities 
Finance lease obligation 3 071 - - 3 071
Employee benefit obligation 486 196 - - 486 196
Provisions 163 644 - - 163 644
Total Non-Current Liabilities 652 911 - - 652 911
Total Liabilities 4 645 570 (211 814) (2 793 125) 1 640 831

Net Assets (3 562 095) 868 561 4 465 314 1 771 780
Accumulated Surplus/(Deficit) (3 562 095) 868 561 4 465 314 1 771 780

Revenue from Exchange Transaction
Tourism, Retail, Concession and Other 70 351 811 815 473 695 1 355 861
Sales - fauna and flora 31 368 - - 31 368
Other operating income 3 638 19 999 2 688 26 324
Interest and royalties received 30 971 48 50 31 070
Total revenue from exchange transactions 136 328 831 862 476 433 1 444 623

Revenue from non-exchange transactions 
Transfer revenue 1 271 710 79 731 2 372 1 353 813

Total revenue 1 408 038 911 593 478 805 2 798 436

Expenditure 
Employee related costs (235 473) (369 972) (265 770) (871 215)
Depreciation and amortisation (8 590) (29 786) (33 003) (71 380)

Corporate 
R’000 

Kruger 
R’000 

Parks 
R’000 

Total 
R’000 

Finance costs (552) (228) (308) (1 088)
Operating lease (4 251) (66 153) (42 570) (112 974)
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Corporate 
R’000 

Kruger 
R’000 

Parks 
R’000 

Total 
R’000 

Repairs and maintenance (1 250) (36 719) (38 995) (76 963)
Operating expenses (910 686) (308 251) (154 938) (1 373 875)
Total expenditure (1 160 802) (811 109) (535 584) (2 507 495)

Operating surplus/(deficit) 247 236 100 484 (56 779) 290 941
Loss on disposal of assets (266) (1 277) (1 460) (3 003)
Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 246 970 99 207 (58 239) 287 938

Assets 
Current Assets 
Inventories 2 510 26 536 4 912 33 958
Receivables from exchange transactions 37 434 1 809 161 39 404
Receivables from non-exchange transactions 1 000 - - 1 000
Cash and cash equivalents 575 065 9 574 298 178 882 817
Total Current Assets 616 009 37 919 303 251 957 179

Non-Current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment 216 772 501 003 734 315 1 452 090
Intangible assets 10 588 5 23 998 34 591
Heritage assets 2 039 552 497 480 500 071
Receivables from exchange transactions 160 369 - - 160 369
Total Current Assets 389 768 501 560 1 255 793 2 147 121
Total Assets 1 005 777  539 479 1 559 044 3 104 300

Current Liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 3 504 - - 3 504
Finance lease obligation 3 287 - - 3 287

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 193 809 8 624 16 854 219 287

Liabilities from non-exchange transactions 2 996 155 (167 763) (2 352 362) 476 030
Provisions 37 968 - - 37 968
Reservation deposits 248 543 - 1 160 249 703
Total Current Liabilities 3 483 266 (159 139) (2 334 348) 989 779

Non-Current Liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 1 712 - - 1 712
Finance lease obligation 3 011 - - 3 011
Employee benefit obligation 456 647 - - 456 647
Provisions 160 369 - - 160 369
Total Non-Current Liabilities 621 739 - - 621 739

Total Liabilities 4 105 005 (159 139) (2 334 348) 1 611 518

Net Assets (3 099 228) 698 618 3 893 392 1 492 782

Accumulated Surplus/(Deficit) (3 099 228) 698 618 3 893 392 1 492 782
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Contact details

Head Office

Tel: +27 (0)12 426 5000

Central Reservations

Tel: +27 (0)12 428 9111

Fax: +27 (0)12 343 0905

E-mail: reservations@sanparks.org

Travel Trade

Tel: +27 (0)12 426 5025

Fax: +27 (0)12 343 2006

E-mail: traveltrade@sanparks.org

Website: www.sanparks.org

You can find us on:  
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